MOTOR SYSTEM PLASTICITY INDUCED BY NON-INVASIVE STIMULI

KH M Riashad Foysal

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Medicine

February 2019

Supervisors

Prof Stuart N. Baker Dr Mark R Baker

Institute of Neuroscience Faculty of Medical Sciences Newcastle University Newcastle upon Tyne, UK



Abstract

Precisely timed paired stimulation protocols can change cortical and subcortical excitability.

In the first study, induction of plastic changes in the long-latency stretch reflex (LLSR) by pairing non-invasive stimuli was attempted, at timings predicted to cause spiketiming dependent plasticity (STDP) in the brainstem. LLSR in human elbow muscles depends on multiple pathways; one possible contributor is the reticulospinal tract. The stimuli used are known to activate reticulospinal pathways. In healthy human subjects, reflex responses in flexor muscles were recorded following extension perturbations at the elbow. Subjects were then fitted with a portable device which delivered auditory click stimuli, and electrical stimuli to biceps muscle. The LLSR was significantly enhanced or suppressed in the biceps muscle depending on the intervention protocol. No changes were observed in the unstimulated brachioradialis muscle. Although contributions from the spinal or cortical pathways cannot be excluded, the results were consistent with STDP in reticulospinal circuits.

In the second study, baseline TMS responses were recorded from two intrinsic hand muscles, flexor digitorum superficialis (FDS) and extensor digitorum communis (EDC). In the first phase, paired associative stimulation (PAS) was delivered by pairing motor point stimulation of FDS or EDC with TMS. Responses were then remeasured. Increases were greatest in the hand muscles, smaller in FDS, and non-significant in EDC. In the second phase, intermittent theta-burst rapid-rate TMS was applied instead of PAS. In this case, all muscles showed similar increases in TMS responses. This study showed that potential plasticity in motor cortical output has a gradient: hand muscles > flexors > extensors. However, this was only seen in a protocol which requires integration of sensory input (PAS), and not when plasticity was induced purely by cortical stimulation (rapid rate TMS).

In the third study, motor imagery was paired with TMS in healthy human subjects. They were asked to imagine wrist flexion or extension movement, while TMS was delivered to the motor cortex. Six different protocols were tested, but only flexor imagination with TMS and extensor imagination with TMS showed significant facilitation following the test. Flexor imagination with TMS increased motor evoked potential (MEP) in all four

muscles with maximum changes towards flexor, whereas extensor imagination with TMS increased MEP only in extensor.

Above changes in the cortical or subcortical excitability evoked by non-invasive stimulation protocols were consistent with long term potentiation and long-term depression mediated plastic changes.

Table of Contents

Abstract1					
Та	able of	f Contents:	.3		
Та	able of	f Figures	.5		
Ρι	ublicat	tions	.7		
A	cknow	/ledgment	.9		
1	Cha	anter I: Background	11		
•					
	1.1	General Introduction and Plasticity	11		
	1.2	Main Aims and Questions	14		
	1.2.1	1 Aims	14		
	1.2.2	2 Questions	15		
	1.3	Ways to influence plasticity in humans	26		
	1.3.3	1 Sensory Stimulation	26		
	1.3.2	2 Paired Associative Stimulation (PAS)	29		
	1.3.3	3 Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (rTMS)	31		
	1.3.4	4 Motor Imagery (MI)	32		
	1.4	Ways to Record Influence of Change in Plasticity	34		
	1.4.3	1 Long Latency Stretch Reflex	34		
	1.4.2	2 Motor Evoked Potentials (MEPs)	37		
	1.5	How these approaches may ultimately lead to patient benefit	38		
	1.5.2	1 Stroke, Spinal cord injury and disability	38		
	1.5.2 iniur	2 The possibility of utilizing plasticity to treat disability in the post-stroke and spinal cord	20		
2	Cha	anter II: Spike-Timing Dependent Plasticity in the Long Latency Stretch Pofley	,		
۲ Fc	one	ng Paired Stimulation from a Wearable Electronic Device	` 11		
	,				
	2.1	Introduction	11		
	2.2	Materials and Methods	13		
	2.2.2	1 Measurement of Stretch Reflex	13		
	2.2.2	2 Experimental Protocol	14		
	2.2.3	3 Analysis	17		
2.3 Results					
	2.4	Discussion	54		

	2.4.1		Pathways Contributing to the Long Latency Stretch Refle	ex54
2.4.2		2	Spike Timing Dependent Plasticity	55
3	Cha	apter	III: A Hierarchy of Plasticity in Human Hand ar	nd Forearm Muscles 59
3	.1	Intro	oduction	59
3	.2	Mat	erials and Methods	61
	3.2.	1	Subjects	61
3.2.2 3.2.3 3.2.4		2	Electromyographic (EMG) recording	62
		3	Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS)	62
		4	Electrical Stimulation at motor point:	63
3	.3	Expe	erimental procedures:	63
	3.3.	1	PAS Protocol	64
	3.3.	2	rTMS protocol	65
	3.3.	3	Data analysis	66
3	.4	Resu	ılts	66
3	.5	Disc	ussion	74
	3.5.1		Cortical stimulation paired with time adjusted motor po	int stimulation induces plasticity 74
	3.5.	2	The bias in plasticity mirrors changes during recovery af	ter corticospinal lesions 75
4	Cha	apter	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output	with Paired Motor Imagery
4 anc	Cha d Tra	apter Inscr	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation	with Paired Motor Imagery
4 and 4	Cha d Tra .1	apter Inscr	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation	with Paired Motor Imagery
4 and 4	Cha d Tra .1 .2	apter Inscr Intro Mat	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation oduction	with Paired Motor Imagery
4 anc 4 4	Cha d Tra .1 .2 4.2.	apter Inscr Intro Mat	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation oduction erials and Methods Subjects	with Paired Motor Imagery
4 and 4 4	Cha d Tra .1 .2 4.2. 4.2.	apter Inscr Intro Mat 1 2	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation oduction erials and Methods Subjects Electromyographic (EMG) recording	with Paired Motor Imagery
4 anc 4 4	Cha d Tra .1 .2 4.2. 4.2.	apter Inscr Intro Mat 1 2 3	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation oduction erials and Methods Subjects Electromyographic (EMG) recording Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS)	with Paired Motor Imagery
4 and 4 4	Cha d Tra .1 .2 4.2. 4.2. 4.2.	apter Inscr Intro Mat 1 2 3 4	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation oduction erials and Methods Subjects Electromyographic (EMG) recording Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) Experimental procedures	with Paired Motor Imagery
4 4 4	Cha d Tra .1 .2 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 4.2.	apter Inscr Intro Mat 1 2 3 4 5	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation oduction erials and Methods Subjects Electromyographic (EMG) recording Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) Experimental procedures Data analysis	with Paired Motor Imagery
4 4 4	Cha d Tra .1 .2 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 3	apter Inscr Intro Mat 1 2 3 4 5 Resu	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation oduction erials and Methods Subjects Electromyographic (EMG) recording Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) Experimental procedures Data analysis	with Paired Motor Imagery
4 4 4	Cha d Tra .1 .2 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 3 4.3.	apter Inscr Intro Mat 1 2 3 4 5 Resu 1	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation oduction erials and Methods Subjects Electromyographic (EMG) recording Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) Experimental procedures Data analysis Its Flexion imagination with simultaneous TMS increased M	with Paired Motor Imagery
4 4 4	Cha d Tra .1 .2 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 3 4.3. 4.3. mus	apter Inscr Intro Mat 1 2 3 4 5 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 8	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation oduction erials and Methods Subjects Electromyographic (EMG) recording Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) Experimental procedures Data analysis Its Flexion imagination with simultaneous TMS increased M Extension Imagination with simultaneous TMS increased P1	with Paired Motor Imagery 79 79 81 81 81 81 81 81 82 86 1EP amplitude
4 4 4	Cha 1 Tra .1 .2 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 3 4.3. 4.3. mus 4.3.	apter Inscr Intro Mat 1 2 3 4 5 Resu 1 2 scle 3	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation oduction erials and Methods Subjects Electromyographic (EMG) recording Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) Experimental procedures Data analysis Its Flexion imagination with simultaneous TMS increased N Extension Imagination with simultaneous TMS increased P1 Motor Imagery or TMS alone caused no consistent chan	with Paired Motor Imagery 79 79 81 81 81 81 81 82 82 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86 86
4 4 4	Cha 1 Tra .1 .2 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 3 4.3. 4.3. mus 4.3. 4.3.	apter Inscr Intro Mat 1 2 3 4 5 Resu 1 2 scle 3 Disc	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation oduction oduction erials and Methods Subjects Electromyographic (EMG) recording Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) Experimental procedures Data analysis Its Flexion imagination with simultaneous TMS increased N Extension Imagination with simultaneous TMS increased N 91 Motor Imagery or TMS alone caused no consistent chan	with Paired Motor Imagery
4 4 4	Cha 1 Tra .1 .2 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 4.2. 4.2	apter Inscr Intro Mat 1 2 3 4 5 Resu 1 2 scle 3 Disc 1	IV: Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output anial Magnetic Stimulation	with Paired Motor Imagery 79 79 81 81 81 81 81 82 82 86 IEP amplitude

Ref	References107						
5	Chapter	V: Conclusion	99				
	4.4.5	Motor imagery and rehabilitation:	.97				
	4.4.4	LTP/LDP mediated plasticity change:	.97				
	4.4.3	The site of Plastic changes	.96				

Figures and Table

Figure 1.1. Schematic representation of the descending tracts, their origin and termination
Figure 1.2. Reticular activation: forearm flexor receives reticulospinal input19
Figure 1.3. Convergent and overlapping20
Figure 1.4. Flexor-extensor bias25
Figure 1.5. Response evoked from PMRF reticular cell with click stimulation
Figure 1.6. rTMS increases MEP31
Figure 1.7. Motor imagery activates primary motor cortex32
Figure 1.8. Motor imagery increases MEP33
Figure 1.9. The components of a stretch reflex
Figure 1.10. Activation of reticular cells in macaque
Figure 2.1. Schematic diagram showing experimental setup and wearable device stimulus conditions45
Figure 2.2. Example result in a single subject48
Figure 2.3. Group results in the biceps muscle50
Figure 2.4. Group results in the brachioradialis muscle53
Figure 3.1. Schematic diagram showing experimental setup and protocols65
Figure 3.2. Example result in single subject after testing with PAS and intermittent rTMS protocols68
Figure 3.3. Individual and group results in four muscles71
Figure 3.4. Scatter plots illustrating changes in muscles with relation to each other
Figure 4.1. Schematic illustration of Motor Imagery (MI) protocols85
Figure 4.2. Example result in single subject after testing six separate protocols
Figure 4.3. Group results for all muscles after delivery of each protocol

Table 1. Modality, type, diameter and conduction speed of different nerve fibers and theirsomatosensory receptors that can be activated using peripheral stimuli. These stimuli include electricalstimulation at nerve/motor point/skin, pressure, vibration or stroke (Kandel et al., 2000).22

Publications

Papers

Published in the Journal of Neuroscience:

FOYSAL, K. M., DE CARVALHO, F. & BAKER, S. N. 2016. Spike Timing-Dependent Plasticity in the Long-Latency Stretch Reflex Following Paired Stimulation from a Wearable Electronic Device. J Neurosci, 36, 10823-10830.

https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1414-16.2016

Published in the Journal of Physiology:

FOYSAL, K. M. and BAKER, S. N. (2019), A hierarchy of corticospinal plasticity in human hand and forearm muscles. J Physiol. doi:<u>10.1113/JP277462</u>

Work in progress:

FOYSAL, K. M. & BAKER, S. N. Induction of Plasticity in the Motor Output with Paired Motor Imagery and Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation. Newcastle upon Tyne, 2019

Abstracts

FOYSAL, K. M. & BAKER, S. N. Spike-Timing Dependent Plasticity in the Long Latency Stretch Reflex Following Paired Stimulation from a Wearable Electronic Device. Society for Neuroscience. San Diego. 2016

FOYSAL, K. M. & BAKER, S. N. A Hierarchy of Plasticity In The Human Hand And Forearm: Smaller Changes In Extensors Than Flexors/Intrinsic Hand Muscles. Sensory Motor Conference, Newcastle upon Tyne. 2016

FOYSAL, K. M. & BAKER, S. N. Rewiring the Nervous System Using A Wearable Electronic Device Rewiring the Nervous System Using A Wearable Electronic Device. North East Postgraduate Conference. 2015

FOYSAL, K. M. & BAKER, S. N. Effects of a paired stimulation paradigm on biceps long latency reflexes investigated using a wearable electronic device. Sensory Motor Conference, Leeds. 2014

Acknowledgment

The intensive work would not have been possible without the generous help and support from many people.

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisor, Stuart Baker, for his exceptional support, encouragement, continual patience and tolerance, all of which allowed me to undertake and continue this thesis. Special thanks go to Mark Baker who has also provided me excellent support, opportunities to engage myself into other clinical studies and has been a fascinating guide who helped me in finding the right directions.

My special thanks go to Mark Cunningham, who has been very supportive, helpful and encouraged me a lot. His pieces of advice were priceless.

I want to thank Anna Basu, who was very supportive, and her advice encouraged me a lot.

Special thanks go to Gavin Clowry, who guided me learning immunofluorescence techniques, slide preparation and staining protocols. It was a pleasure working in his laboratory.

I would like to thank Andrew Jackson and Demetris Soteropoulos for their motivational discussions and talks on neuroscience.

Special thanks go to Grainne Gorman for her support, advice and encouragement.

I am thankful to Felipe De Carvalho who designed and made the electronic circuitry for the wearable device experiment. I would like to thank Norman Charlton for building the robotic arm chair that I used to measure stretch reflex.

I would like to take the opportunity to thank current and former members of the motor laboratory: Bonne Habekost, Boubker Zaaimi, Claire Witham, Damar Susilaradeya, Edina Tozser, Ed Hodkin, Ferran Galan, Georgia Collins, Jesús Tapia-López, Isabel Glover, Karen Fisher, Lauren Dean, Stefane A. Aguiar, Stephan Jaiser, Supriyo Choudhury, Thomas Hall, Terri Jackson, Wei Xu, Alison Liddle and others.

Special thanks to Boubker Zaaimi for helping me with Matlab coding, to Karen Fisher for explaining complicated protocols in my early days in the laboratory and to Damar Susilaradeya for helping me in pilot experiments. My thanks go to Beckie Hedley for her tremendous support and help. I would like to thank Ann Fitchett, Carole Ainsley, Glynis Mitchinson, Karen Bai, Karen Curry and Mel Leitch for their help.

I am grateful to all those people and patients who participated in the studies and invested their valuable time for neuroscience, and this work would not have been possible without their interest in helping people.

Finally, I want to thank my parents for their continued support over the years and special thanks go to Syema for her love, patience, and encouragement.

Chapter I BACKGROUND

1.1 General Introduction and Plasticity

The human motor system is an integral component of the extremely complex and dynamic central nervous system, which ultimately regulates movement and motor behaviour. It had been a widely believed misconception until the late 19th century, that once developed and matured, interconnected neuronal circuits in the brain and spinal cord leave very little to no scope for further modification in adults. It took centuries before researchers could finally establish the idea that the brain exhibits more plasticity than people have ever predicted. In neuroscience, plasticity can be generally defined as the adaptation or remodelling of the nervous system in dynamic response to physiological, environmental or pathological changes.

The brain's ability to adapt and reorganize itself following lesions was experimented as far back as the early 19th century by a French physiologist Pierre Flourens, who closely observed brain's capability of regaining function after partial lobectomy in birds. He believed that the brain's redundancy mostly accounted for the restitution of functions after such lesions (Levin and Grafman, 2000). Fluorens's concept of brain redundancy was later supported by other researchers (Lashley, 1929, Franz, 1912). Some scattered case reports and scientific studies in the 19th century and early 20th century described the potential ability of the brain's adaptation and plastic changes in adverse physiological or pathological conditions. Later on, it has been documented by neurosurgeons and other scientists that the brain can effectively recover some of its functionality largely mediated by reorganization and adaptation in the events of a severely damaged hemisphere or even after hemispherectomy (Nielsen, 1946, Hillier, 1954, Crockett and Estridge, 1951, Zollinger, 1935). Kennard (1938), from a series of experiments in primates, found that both infant and adult monkey regained function after brain lesions, but recovery became less and less obvious with increasing age and spasticity developed more severely in adult monkeys than their newborn counterparts (Kennard, 1940). Kennard also suggested that reorganization in the brain could involve a shift of functionality to a neighbouring area in the cortex (Kennard, 1942). It was eventually becoming clearer to researchers that successive partial damages over a prolonged period caused much less loss of function than a sudden complete lesion since each partial damage allowed the brain to have sufficient time recovering some of its functions through reorganization after each event (Travis and Woolsey, 1956). Similarly, a slowly grown tumour causes less functional impairment than the damage caused by a similarly sized lesion from acute stroke (Anderson et al., 1990). However, the idea of brain plasticity was largely viewed as changes in the early phases of life during development, or in certain cases, as a means of redundancy and adaptability to compensate the loss of function which occurs only after brain damage (Van der Loos and Woolsey, 1973).

Brown and Sherrington (1912) were among the first believers in a mechanism that supports cortical plasticity in the adult brain. They observed interesting cortical effects after running a series of experiments with direct cortical stimulation and peripheral nerve stimulation. They found it was possible to inhibit or facilitate the response of the targeted muscles in primate forearm with specially designed protocols of stimulation and they described the short-lasting changes as a cortical reaction.

Later, more evidence supporting reorganization in the sensory-motor area or motor cortex mediated by exposure to repeated natural stimulation, various types of invasive and non-invasive stimulation to peripheral nerves, motor point or cortex and by other methods of stimulation began to emerge. In an experiment, Pascual-Leone et al. (1993) found a significantly enlarged cortical representation of the index finger in the reading hand while they mapped the cortical areas of proficient braille readers using Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS). Another related example of plastic changes triggered by afferent input from hand in congenitally blind patients was described by Sadato et al. (1996). To determine whether the visual cortex receives input from the somatosensory system, they used positron emission tomography (PET) to measure response in the primary and secondary visual cortex during a tactile reading task and found that blind subjects showed activation in those areas, while normal subjects showed deactivation.

It is now evident that some natural, altered or artificial physiological conditions can initiate changes in the synaptic junctions (synaptic plasticity) or in the overall neuronal connections (metaplasticity). Examples of such conditioning include lesions (Donoghue et al., 1990, Rauschecker, 1995, Calford and Tweedale, 1991, Kolarik et al., 1994, Silva et al., 1996, Merzenich et al., 1983b), amputation (Calford and Tweedale, 1988, Borsook et al., 1998, Chen et al., 1998), skill developing or learning (Grafton et al., 1992, Recanzone et al., 1992, Pascual-Leone et al., 1994, Kami et al., 1995, Nudo et al., 1996, Taubert et al., 2010) or deafferentation by ischaemia (Ziemann et al., 1998b, Brasil-Neto et al., 1992, Brasil-Neto et al., 1993, Ridding and Rothwell, 1995, Ridding and Rothwell, 1997, Ziemann et al., 1998a).

The organization and projection of neuronal pools in the cortical and subcortical area have a major role to play when synaptic plasticity and remodelling is concerned. The topography of skeletal muscle and sensory organs in the somatosensory and motor cortex is extremely complex, and they tend to overlap with each other, opposing the famous and influential homunculus idea of having precisely ordered representation for each body part (Schott, 1993). Evidences from some recent studies using advanced imaging, intracortical electrical stimulation via microelectrodes inserted into focal cortical areas and other sophisticated methods suggested that the internal organization of brain areas representing sensory organs and muscles can rather be described as a dynamic network of neuronal pools arranged in their region and sub-regions in such a manner that allows reorganization. This modification in their synaptic excitability or internal connectivity occurs to compensate functional changes following injury or in altered physiological conditions, promoting metaplasticity in general (Sanes and Donoghue, 1997, Sanes and Donoghue, 2000, Stoney Jr et al., 1968, Nudo et al., 1992, Penfield and Boldrey, 1937, Schieber and Poliakov, 1998). This dynamic nature of the central nervous system controlling motor output and expected behaviour provides substantial flexibility for plastic changes in animals, and to a greater extent in primates and humans. The motor cortex is highly capable of retaining its functional outcome through reorganization and plasticity, but for this, it has to receive translated feedback from sensory inputs reflecting behavioural or functional changes. Typically, a lesion, and theoretically an afferent input can produce such a feedforward loop to promote plasticity. In other words, to maintain homeostasis and to obtain plasticity motor cortex relies on sensory inputs to a great extent. Therefore, afferent pathways that convey upstream volleys towards sensory motor areas can be potentially exploited to relay abrupt functional changes, altered inputs or artificial stimulation. In that regard, peripheral afferent stimulation is already known to modulate cortical excitability,

thereby it can affect motor performance after a lesion in the brain and spinal cord (McDonnell et al., 2007a, Liao et al., 2014, Roy et al., 2010, Lala et al., 2016). Peripheral sensory deafferentation is also capable of reorganizing cortical and subcortical connections exhibiting plasticity (Merzenich et al., 1983a, Merzenich et al., 1983b, Kaas et al., 1983, Sanes et al., 1988, Sanes et al., 1990). This leaves a very good reason to study different interventional methods to test scopes of plasticity in the human motor system using non-invasive stimulation capable of changing cortical and subcortical excitability.

1.2 Main Aims and Questions

1.2.1 Aims

The primary aim of this thesis is to explore the potential effect of specially designed non-invasive stimulation protocols in human motor system and to understand the basic mechanisms of plasticity at the cortical and subcortical level.

I intended to observe the characteristics of plasticity induced by simultaneous sensory input and cortical stimulation in motor cortical output and how it may express changes in different groups of muscles (forearm flexor, extensor and hand muscles in this case). I was also very keen to see how it differs if the plasticity is induced purely by cortical stimulation in motor cortical output measuring from those muscles.

Another objective was to introduce novel methods of delivering plasticity inducing protocols that may lead to the development of future translational therapies, which will help to facilitate functional recovery after certain brain or spinal cord lesion.

It was also a target of this research to deliver realistic and practical methods of providing stimulation, monitoring, measuring and comparing observed changes among a considerable number of healthy human subjects within a short period.

This approach to induce plasticity in the human motor system with non-invasive stimulation may arise a few questions, some of which are addressed below, and the rests will be discussed in the relevant part of this thesis.

1.2.2 Questions

Which kind of techniques were used and why?

For all the experiments in this research only non-invasive stimulation techniques such as superficial electrical stimulation, auditory stimulation and transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) were used. This served following benefits over any invasive procedure:

- Suitable to study plasticity in humans in vivo
- Purely non-surgical methods
- Safe and painless techniques
- No requirement of anaesthesia
- Easily applicable, effective and less cumbersome
- Ideal to use in patients as in therapy or rehabilitation programmes
- Considerably less ethical issues
- Highly cost effective
- Saves preparation time

All procedures described in this thesis were approved by the Local Research Ethics Committee before any experiment. Full written consent from each participant was obtained from each participant after explaining each procedure in detail.

How to induce plasticity in the human motor system and where does this plasticity occur?

In recent years, several stimulation protocols have been utilized in studies to map somatosensory and motor areas, to test cortical and subcortical excitability and to explore neural pathways under numerous experimental conditions. Generally, it has been possible to induce plasticity in the human brain and spinal cord using various forms of non-invasive stimulation. Applied stimulus to an afferent nerve fiber or sensory receptors usually generates a compound action potential sending an afferent volley upwards. This can be achieved by using a variety of stimulus alone or in combination with others such as fine or crude touch, vibration, tactile, pain or electrical stimulation (Passmore et al., 2014). Via the dorsal root ganglion, the afferent volley then ascends to the medulla where those afferent nerve fibers synapse with ipsilateral dorsal column nuclei. After decussation in the medial lemniscus, second order nerve fibers reach to the contralateral ventral posterior lateral nucleus of the thalamus. From the thalamus, third order neurons take the afferent input towards somatosensory areas and then to the motor cortex where signals are processed to execute the desired movement (Leeman, 2007). However, interrelated parallel pathways connecting somatosensory, motor cortex, thalamus, brain stem and spinal cord motor neurons are incredibly complex in primates and human. In the past few decades, a substantial amount of research has been carried out to investigate the role of corticospinal and other descending pathways that control motor behaviour, balance, posture and reflexes. The structural organization of the motor system is highly hierarchical. The somatosensory-motor bridge connections, corticospinal and other pathways sending downward volley to spinal neurons also maintain some hierarchy. Major descending pathways and their anatomical organization were studied closely in Hans Kuyper's seminal experiments investigating nerve tracts using tracing methods (Kuypers, 1981, Kuypers, 1964). In primates, the motor component of descending pathways can be divided into three groups: ventromedial brainstem pathways, dorsolateral brainstem pathways and corticospinal-corticobulbar pathways (Kuypers and Brinkman, 1970). Ventromedial pathways convey the vestibulospinal (both lateral and medial) tracts, the tectospinal tracts arising from the midbrain, and the reticulospinal and bulbospinal tracts arising from the pontine and medullary reticular formation (Matsuyama and Drew, 1997, Shinoda et al., 1992, Lemon, 2008). Dorsolateral pathways consist of the rubrospinal tract, arising from the red nucleus, and pontospinal tract, arriving from pontine tegmentum (Kennedy, 1990, Kuchler et al., 2002, Lemon, 2008). These descending motor pathways, arising from different regions of the brain, send downward volleys to finally reach topographically arranged alpha and gamma motor neurons and interneurons at multiple levels of the spinal cord. The schematic drawing in Figure 1.1 outlines the pathways of major descending tracts in human.



Figure 1.1. Schematic representation of the descending tracts, their origin and termination.

Corticospinal (on the left) and other major descending motor pathways (on the right); Figure modified from (Lemon, 2008).

While the largest proportion of the corticospinal tract arises from the primary motor cortex, it also gets contributions from supplementary motor area and somatosensory area (S1) (Murray and Coulter, 1981, Galea and Darian-Smith, 1994). Most of the corticospinal tract arising from the motor cortex (M1) and Supplementary Motor Area (SMA) send projections to the intermediate and ventral zone of the spinal cord. The corticospinal tract originating from S1 sends projections to the dorsal horn of the spinal cord and is known to control posture, gait, balance, spinal reflexes and hand functions. In an experiment, Lawrence and Kuypers (1968) observed that after surgical lesions of CST, rubrospinal tract took part in regaining locomotion and grasping function in macaques. However, a combined lesion of the corticospinal and rubrospinal tract in

these animals caused complete loss of grasp function, but some gripping function remained to allow them to climb. A possible explanation of this finding could be the surviving reticulospinal tract contributed substantially in performing the gripping function in the absence of corticospinal and rubrospinal tract. Current evidence suggests that the rubrospinal tract is absent in human (Nathan and Smith, 1955), which left the reticulospinal tract to play a major role in regaining hand function after recovery from the brain or corticospinal tract lesion in patients (Baker, 2011).

To find and compare the relative association and function of the reticulospinal tract in controlling distal and hand muscles, Riddle et al. (2009) carried out an experiment where they measured reticulospinal inputs to antidromically identified cervical ventral horn motoneurons projecting towards distal and intrinsic hand muscles in anaesthetized macaque monkeys. They performed intracellular recordings and found that motoneuronal projections towards distal hand muscles generated both mono and disynaptic excitatory postsynaptic potentials following stimulation to medial longitudinal fasciculus (reticular cells) in the brainstem region (Fig. 1.2). These findings suggest that the reticulospinal tract in primates not only contributes to controlling axial and proximal muscles but also govern some of the functions in distal hand muscles. In other words, it is possible that a parallel pathway of reticulospinal connections runs along the corticospinal tract in the spinal cord. Since upper limb motoneuron with projections towards forearm flexor muscles received short latency monosynaptic input from the reticulospinal connections, Riddle et al. (2009) suggested a potential role of the reticulospinal tract in recovery after lesions affecting the corticospinal tract.



Figure 1.2. Reticular activation: forearm flexor receives reticulospinal input.

Intracellular recordings from cervical motoneurons projecting to forearm flexor following stimulation to the reticular cells. A, Reticulospinal excitatory post synaptic potential (EPSP) following single medial longitudinal fasciculus (MLF) stimulus (300 μ A); B, Similar recordings following train of three stimuli; C, Similar recordings following train of four stimuli. Each panel shows averaged intracellular records (top) with simultaneously recorded epidural volleys below. Vertical dashed lines highlight the segmental latency of the response. Figure modified from (Riddle et al., 2009).

There is also evidence that connections from the reticulospinal and the corticospinal axons can converge into the same interneuron in the spinal cord providing overlapping effects in the motor control and function of the distal hand muscles (Riddle and Baker, 2010).



Figure 1.3. Convergent and overlapping.

Relative incidence of convergent corticospinal (PT, pyramidal tract) and brainstem inputs (MLF, medial longitudinal fasciculus) to spinal interneurons during reach and grasp task; based on cell numbers, the firing rate of which facilitated or suppressed during the reach or grasp phase. Figure from Riddle and Baker (2010)

This convergent and overlapping of corticospinal and reticulospinal inputs in the spinal motoneurons also denotes a key role of reticulospinal projections during recovery after some brain lesions, for instance, stroke in primary motor cortex or damage to corticospinal tract after spinal cord injury. Therefore, it is possible that subcortical extra-pyramidal connections, especially reticulospinal tract mediated projections affect reorganization and plasticity towards motor outputs at least to some extent if not extensively (Baker, 2011).

What is the importance of nerve conduction speed in the plasticity inducing protocols?

Specificity and success of a paired stimulation protocol modulating corticomotoneuronal excitability depend on the interstimulus interval.

Based on Hebb's initial postulate (Hebb, 1949), several studies demonstrated that long term potentiation (LTP) and long term depression (LTD) can be mediated by a mechanism called Spike-Timing Dependent Plasticity which relies on the temporal order and time-spacing of pre-synaptic and post-synaptic inputs (Song et al., 2000, Bi and Poo, 1998, Drew and Abbott, 2006). The connection can be potentiated if presynaptic spiking is preceded by postsynaptic spiking within a constrained window of

time (LTP), or it can be suppressed if the order of input is reversed (LTD) (Caporale and Dan, 2008, Levy and Steward, 1983, Markram et al., 1997, Ridding and Rothwell, 2007, Wolters et al., 2003). Inducing plasticity in the motoneuronal output exploiting this STDP mechanism by a paired stimulation protocol was extensively tested by in a number or previous studies (Stefan et al., 2000, Baranyi and Szente, 1987, Hess et al., 1996, Iriki et al., 1989)

Latencies of cortical response following an afferent input also depend on modalities of somatosensory receptors, characteristics of their nerve fiber and diameter, for example, thick fibers are faster than thin ones. In mammals, conduction velocity varies to a good extent in different fibers carrying afferent volleys; where motor fibers conduct slower than cutaneous fiber and muscle afferent is the fastest, but in humans those differences in conduction velocity in afferent fibers are much smaller than in animals. In human, Shefner and Logigian (1994) have found a conduction velocity of 57.6m/s in muscle afferent, 55.1m/s in cutaneous afferent and 56.3m/s in mixed nerve. Table 1 illustrates a brief summary of the conduction speed for various nerve fibers.

Table 1. Modality, type, diameter and conduction speed of different nerve fibers and their somatosensory receptors that can be activated using peripheral stimuli. These stimuli include electrical stimulation at nerve/motor point/skin, pressure, vibration or stroke (Kandel et al., 2000).

Receptor	Fiber group	Fiber name	Modality	Diameter	Nerve conduction
				(µm)	velocity (m/s)
Muscle and skeletal					
Mechanoreceptors:					
Muscle spindle primary	Αα	Ia	Muscle length and speed	1-20	72–120
Muscle spindle secondary	Αβ	Π	Muscle stretch	6-12	36–72
Golgi tendon organ	Αα	Ib	Muscle contraction	12-20	72–120
Joint capsule receptors	Αβ	Π	Joint angle	6-12	36-72
Stretch-sensitive free endings	Αδ	III	Excess stretch or force	1-6	4–36
Cutaneous and subcutaneous					
mechanoreceptors:					
Meissner corpuscle	Αα,β	RA1	Stroking	6-12	30-70
Merkel disk receptor	Αα,β	SA1	Pressure, texture	6-12	30-70
Pacinian corpuscle	Αα,β	RA2	Vibration	6-12	30-70
Ruffini ending	Αα,β	SA2	Skin stretch	6-12	30-70
	I		l	I	l

Interestingly, the difference of latencies in somatosensory potentials evoked by stimulating the whole peripheral nerve, muscle or cutaneous nerve close to wrist area is negligible, and latencies in the mentioned three categories of afferent inputs stay in the 19.0ms-20.3ms range (Gandevia et al., 1984). This observation supports the idea that afferent volley from muscle afferents reaches to the sensorimotor area via a similar route utilized by mixed afferent or whole nerve stimulation.

Are there any limitations in the currently available plasticity protocols?

There are many plasticity protocols that use non-invasive stimulation, but there are also limitations in the currently available approaches.

Most of the methods suffer from variability in test results, and even in healthy subjects, the evoked changes in brain's response can fluctuate to the extent that can limit its therapeutic specificity and sensitivity. A wide range of factors can affect changes in corticospinal or subcortical excitability; for example, age (Muller-Dahlhaus et al., 2008, Todd et al., 2010), sex (Tecchio et al., 2008), genetics (Cheeran et al., 2008), priming with another stimulation (Iyer et al., 2003, Nitsche et al., 2007, Ragert et al., 2009), prior voluntary motor activity (Stefan et al., 2006, Ziemann et al., 2004, Iezzi et al., 2008), parallel motor activity (Huang et al., 2008), drug (Wolters et al., 2003, Kuo et al., 2008, McDonnell et al., 2007b, Ziemann et al., 2002), aerobic exercise (Cirillo et al., 2009), diurnal variation (Sale et al., 2008) or attention (Stefan et al., 2004, Conte et al., 2007).

Almost all of the currently known stimulation protocols are applicable in the specialized laboratories, and in most of those procedures are not suitable to test a large number of healthy human subjects daily to design effective translational rehabilitative protocols. There is no standardized guideline of procedures or protocols to utilize plasticity inducing stimulation protocols in clinical settings to facilitate motor recovery. Number of studies with translational approach is also scarce.

Neuronal plasticity and adaptation processes are vastly complex to the extent that available studies and data set are unable to determine the exact nature, scopes and boundaries of sensory stimulation when utilized to reorganize the nervous system. More detailed knowledge about the human motor control, cortical and subcortical connections, and the spinal pathways are mandatory to develop sophisticated plasticity protocols. Despite recent advancement into the neuroscience, current knowledge in human motor control and connections lacks major key components required to design effective translational methods and calls for further research in this field.

Why is it necessary to compare the effects of different plasticity protocols in different muscles?

In a previous experiment, while studying the properties of descending brainstem pathways and their possible contribution in reorganizing motor outputs, Zaaimi et al. (2012) found that reticulospinal tract strengthens selectively to flexors and intrinsic hand muscles and not to extensor muscles in the upper limb. This was observed during recovery following corticospinal tract lesion in macaque monkeys. After six months of

the surgical lesion in the corticospinal tract, they stimulated ipsilateral and contralateral medial longitudinal fasciculus (MLF) and recorded elicited potentials from intracellular electrodes placed in 167 spinal motoneurons that innervated forearm and hand muscles. Then they compared it with the data recorded from 207 motor neurons in control monkeys. Interestingly, in the lesioned monkeys they found significant facilitation in monosynaptic excitatory post synaptic potential (EPSP) recorded from motoneurons projecting towards the forearm flexor and intrinsic hand muscles following MLF input. For flexors, contralateral response showed bigger changes than the response from the ipsilateral or lesioned side. In contrast, there was no significant change in ipsilateral or contralateral monosynaptic EPSP evoked from motoneurons controlling forearm extensors.



Figure 1.4. Flexor-extensor bias.

Facilitated connection towards flexor and intrinsic hand muscles as evidenced from quantitative measurement of input from MLF and recorded from respective

motoneurons. Measurements indicate the product of response amplitude and incidence. A, EPSP recorded from motoneurons innervated forearm flexor; B, EPSP recorded from motoneurons innervated forearm extensor and C, EPSP recorded from motoneurons innervated intrinsic hand muscles. Significant differences between control and lesioned animals (*P < 0.05; **P < 0.01) are marked with asterisks. Figure modified from Zaaimi et al. (2012).

They concluded that reticulospinal tract plays a significant role during recovery after corticospinal tract lesions and strengthened connections mostly towards forearm flexor and intrinsic hand muscles, but not in extensor (Zaaimi et al., 2012). These findings mirror the condition seen in post stroke patients, where they develop flexor spasticity and extensor weakness. The observed bias in strengthening or weakening different muscle groups differently during recovery in lesioned monkeys necessitates further research into the modalities of motor system plasticity in human.

1.3 Ways to influence plasticity in humans

1.3.1 Sensory Stimulation

Afferent or sensory stimuli are capable of changing excitation in the motor cortical output, which plays a critical role in the brain and spinal cord plasticity. The widely accepted Long Term Potentiation (LTP) and Long Term Depression mechanisms are regarded as the crucial element of the synaptic modification induced by sensory stimulation. Both LTP and LTD affect N-methyl-D-aspartate glutamate receptors to reinforce existing synapses, the formation of the new synapse or unmasking of excitatory amino acid receptors on motor neuron (RF?), triggered by repeated sensory afferent stimulation. Some afferent stimuli, e.g., electrical stimulation, sound, vibration and touch can thereby provide substrates for dynamic interactions between numerous cellular processing and synaptic modification resulting in altered excitability in the cortical sensorimotor area. Consequently, sensory stimulation enhances or suppresses corticomotoneuronal excitability to the downstream connections or body parts. Plenty of studies already suggested that sensory input is a crucial factor enhancing motor performance, learning new skills, recovery after brain or spinal cord lesion (Pearson,

2000, Pavlides et al., 1993, Hamdy and Rothwell, 1998). Some of the recent studies used peripheral nerve stimulation and motor point stimulation to explore the influence of sensory afferent input on the plasticity of motor cortical organization in healthy human (Ridding et al., 2000, McKay et al., 2002b). Sensory input is known to be a factor capable of inducing changes in the motor output by modulating subcortical and spinal interneurons, reflecting the role of sensory input in the modulation of motor reflex and behaviour (Perez et al., 2003).

Previously, a fair number of studies recorded evoked cerebral potentials by stimulating selective motor points (Macefield et al., 1989, Burke and Gandevia, 1988, Abbruzzese et al., 1985). Afferent stimulation, e.g., stimulating a muscle on motor point can send volley towards thalamus (Morioka et al., 1989, Celesia, 1979, Fukushima et al., 1976, Katayama and Tsubokawa, 1987, Suzuki and Mayanagi, 1984). Fast conducting group Ia afferent fibers play a role in relaying afferent volley from motor point stimulation towards thalamus (Fukuda et al., 2000). It is already evident from previous studies that thalamus works as a central relay station with multiple and parallel projections towards sensorimotor and motor cortex. Primary somatosensory cortex sends direct inputs primarily to upper layers of pyramidal neurons of M1 (Kaneko et al., 2000, Hoffer et al., 2003), and also via sensory thalamus (medial subdivision of posterior nucleus, ventrolateral nucleus) (Deschenes et al., 1998, Ohno et al., 2012) and motor thalamus (anteromedial, ventral anterior and ventrolateral nucleus) (Asanuma et al., 1979, Asanuma et al., 1980, Hooks et al., 2013). The ventral intermediate nucleus of thalamus sits between the sensory posterior thalamus and the motor ventrolateral nucleus of the thalamus, possibly receiving and sending fibers to both somatosensory and motor cortex. Projections from sensory thalamus reach mostly to superficial layers in M1 (Mao et al., 2011), whereas inputs from motor thalamus target both superficial layers and L5 in M1 (Herkenham, 1980, Hooks et al., 2013). Overall, thalamus has a considerable contribution in relaying sensory afferent inputs to primary motor areas which also receives inputs from frontal cortex, parietal cortex and primary somatosensory cortex (S1) (Hoffer et al., 2003, Hooks et al., 2013). Additionally, motor point stimulation can send afferent volley to sensory motor area in a similar way that a direct stimulation to a peripheral nerve can achieve.

Sensory input from auditory stimulation is known to increase motor cortical excitability when paired with TMS (Sowman et al., 2014). This describes the existing functional

association between auditory pathways and plasticity in sensorimotor representations. Interestingly, sound can also change excitability in the reticular area. This accidental finding was discovered in a previous study when Fisher et al. (2012) was recording discharge from single units in the pontomedullary reticular formation (PMRF) while stimulating motor cortex (M1) with TMS in anaesthetized macaque. PMRF is known to give rise to axons that later form the reticulospinal tract in the spinal cord (Sakai et al., 2009). In their experiment, it was observed that TMS discharge over M1 elicited short latency response in PMRF cells. This reflected simultaneous activation of corticoreticular connections since **PMRF** receives diverse projections from corticomotoneuronal pools including non-primary motor area, supplementary motor area and region F5 (Fisher et al., 2012, Keizer and Kuypers, 1989, Borra et al., 2010). They reported that a long latency response, recorded from the same units, was activated by brief low-intensity sound stimuli; and argued that cochlear and vestibular receptors might contribute to generating action potentials in the reticular cells mediated via relatively unexplored connections. This may include oligospinal and other projections towards the reticular area from higher or surrounding neuronal circuits related to subconscious awareness, or even startle reflex (Davis et al., 1982). Figure 1.5 shows the recorded response from PMRF reticular cells activated by sound of various intensity. This observation of reticular activation by auditory stimulation was utilized to design spike-timing dependent stimulation protocols for intervention in one of my studies, where the auditory stimulation was paired with the electrical stimulation delivered over the motor point of biceps brachii muscle.



Figure 1.5. Response evoked from PMRF reticular cell with click stimulation.

A, sweep responses from single cell. B, responses at different click intensity. eTMS% is the intensity of TMS that produced comparable sound used in this test. Figure from (Fisher et al., 2012)

1.3.2 Paired Associative Stimulation (PAS)

PAS is known to induce plasticity in the human motor cortex projections and this process primarily relies on the basic principles of Hebbian's model of neural plasticity. In the original study of PAS, Stefan et al. (2000) utilized a single pulse electrical stimulus to stimulate a peripheral nerve followed by a magnetic stimulation delivered to the contralateral primary motor cortex. In this case, the forearm median nerve near the wrist joint was stimulated to send a presynaptic input arising from the afferent stimulation to the primary motor cortex prior activation of sensory motor cortex with direct magnetic stimulation. Repeated application of the paired stimuli with an interstimulus interval of 25ms and generated from two sources, i.e., electrical stimulation to nerve and magnetic stimulation to motor cortex, over an extended period increased the excitability in the corticomotoneuronal projections. The interstimulus interval between the paired stimuli was adjusted such that the afferent volley arising from the peripheral nerve reaches the motor cortex to be merged with the magnetic stimulation.

In the original description of PAS by Stefan et al. (2000) a paired stimulation of the median nerve at the wrist with Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) was delivered to the contralateral motor cortex. In my study, I instead stimulated the motor point of forearm flexor or extensor muscle with superficial electrodes. When working with the intrinsic hand muscles, direct nerve stimulation has several advantages, which were described in Stefan et al. (2000). The nerve at the wrist is in a convenient location for stimulation; for the median nerve, only muscles of the thenar eminence are supplied, so that activation will be focussed to an anatomically-defined muscle group. By contrast, for the forearm flexors or extensors, the relevant nerves (median or radial at the arm) can be relatively deep, such that small movements of the stimulating electrode can generate large changes in efficacy over the extended duration of a plasticity protocol.

Additionally, each nerve innervates multiple muscles (for the median nerve, this includes muscles in both forearm and hand), together with important cutaneous fields. On the other hand, applying stimulation to the motor point of a muscle can be more

consistent and less cumbersome than stimulating a nerve. It is known that motor point stimulation activates large diameter afferent fibers (Bergquist et al., 2011a), and hence should produce a well synchronized afferent volley. Previous studies have used paired motor point stimulation of two muscles to induce a different form of associative plasticity (Ridding and Uy, 2003). In one of my studies, I tested the effect of pairing motor point stimulation with TMS with a view to induce plasticity based on the PAS principals, but more conveniently and effectively.

TMS is a neuro-stimulation and neuro-modulation technique that has a long history of being used as a method of non-invasive stimulation in neuroscience research (Horvath et al., 2011). TMS is also widely used in clinical areas. The basic principles of magnetic stimulation were first discovered by the English physicist Michael Faraday back in 1881. Generally, the TMS device consists of a central unit which stores and discharges energy in terms of electric pulses and a stimulating coil connected to the central unit. The stimulating coil is held over the subject's head and a pulse of current flowing through the coiled wires creates a strong and focal magnetic field (Rossini et al., 1994). As the skull provides very little resistance, this electromagnetic field can reach the brain tissue without major attenuation. By creating a sudden change in the magnitude of the magnetic field, this coil placed overhead is capable of generating electric current in a nearby conductive field, in this case, in brain tissues to effectively depolarise neurons. TMS can be applied as a single pulse (lasting about 100 µs) or as a series of pulses depending on therapeutic or research protocols (Nahas, 2003). Single pulse TMS is regarded as very safe when applied to healthy individuals, whereas series pulse or repetitive TMS with a frequency up to 50 Hz is regarded as safe for healthy humans, although higher frequency at very high intensity poises potential risks of inducing seizures (Pascual-Leone et al., 2000).

Depending on the orientation of the coil and focal electromagnetic field, TMS is believed to be capable of activating the corticospinal tract that receives input from the motor cortex, somatosensory and premotor areas in the brain (Barker et al., 1985, Edgley et al., 1990).

1.3.3 Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (rTMS)

It is known that high-frequency rTMS can affect cortical excitability and induces plasticity in the motor output, which can be measured and quantified by recording motor evoked potential (MEP) from the activated muscle (Ridding and Ziemann, 2010). Previously, several studies showed a modulatory effect of rTMS application on the cortical output, but in most cases, the effects were short lasting or inconsistent (Maeda et al., 2000, Hadland et al., 2001, Evers et al., 2001). In a more refined approach, Huang et al. (2005) tested an intermittent theta burst protocol (iTBS) which was delivered over a period of only 190s. This iTBS produced a consistent and lasting effect on cortical plasticity and resulted in significantly larger MEPs after the intervention and the effect lasted for at least 60 minutes after iTBS (Fig. 1.6). They also measured short interval intracortical inhibition and intracortical facilitation and both were affected. From this observation, they concluded that the modulation took place in the motor cortex.



Figure 1.6. rTMS increases MEP.

Observed changes in MEP amplitude over time after conditioning with continuous TBS (cTBS), intermittent TBS (iTBS), and intermediate TBS (imTBS). MEP size increased significantly following iTBS which lasted for about 15 minutes, while cTBS caused a significant reduction in MEP amplitude (Huang et al., 2005); TBS, theta burst stimulation. iTBS is a modified protocol of rTMS.

In one of my studies, I used a slightly modified version of the similar protocol to measure and compare changes in cortical excitability for forearm flexor vs. extensor muscles and distal hand muscles.

1.3.4 Motor Imagery (MI)

Motor Imagery (MI), or motor imagination, can affect cortico-motoneuronal excitability considerably. MI activates the motor cortex, the premotor cortex and the supplementary motor area as evidenced by fMRI studies (Lotze et al., 1999) (Figure 1.7).



Figure 1.7. Motor imagery activates primary motor cortex. fMRI showing activation of anatomically selected brain regions that include the motor cortex, the premotor cortex and the supplementary motor areas during motor imagery; from Lotze et al. (1999).

Subthreshold activation of motor and sensory-motorneuron pools by MI was also evidenced by many other previous studies (Beyer et al., 1990, Reynolds et al., 2015, Lotze and Halsband, 2006, Jeannerod, 2010). The origin of MI does not evoke enough downward volley towards spinal motor neurons to perform an actual movement, but it instead initiates a central processing mechanism that prepares some neuronal pools in the somatosensory, premotor and motor cortex for the planned action. Therefore, it is theoretically and practically possible to change motor cortical excitability using MI paired or synchronized with other sensory inputs (Villiger et al., 2013, Helm et al., 2015), specialized training protocols (Kaiser et al., 2014), TMS or transcranial Direct Current Stimulation (tDCS) (Lebon et al., 2012, Abbruzzese et al., 1996).

An important observation from Fadiga et al. (1998) should be mentioned here. They found considerably higher MEP amplitude than control in the electromyography (EMG) responses recorded from the flexor muscle during flexion imagination, but MEP amplitudes in the same muscle during extension imagination did not change much (Fig. 1.8) (Fadiga et al., 1998).



Figure 1.8. Motor imagery increases MEP.

TMS evoked MEP recorded from the flexor muscle (biceps brachialis) while subjects were instructed to imagine flexion-extension movement with their right arm and TMS was applied to the left motor cortex. (a,b) Control experiment, where TMS was applied during visual imagery of expanding and shrinking bar respectively. (c) Flexor MEPs recorded following TMS applied during the extension phase of the motor imagery. (d) MEPs recorded following TMS during the flexion phase. Figure from (Fadiga et al., 1998)

There is also evidence showing that precisely timed afferent input generated by peripheral nerve stimulation and concomitant MI can induce plasticity in motor cortex (Mrachacz-Kersting et al., 2012). TMS during MI can increase cortical or subcortical excitability. Evidence of increased MEP amplitude during MI (Jeannerod and Frak, 1999) also suggests that input from an artificial stimulation, e.g., TMS, can be merged with the natural substrates generated by MI to modify corticomotor excitability. My

hypothesis to induce plasticity in the motor system using simultaneous MI and TMS relies on this ground to some extent.

1.4 Ways to Record Influence of Change in Plasticity

1.4.1 Long Latency Stretch Reflex

Stretch reflex, also called the myotatic reflex, is a response of the spinal motoneuron when a sudden stretch is applied to related muscle spindle. Based on the latency of onset, a typical stretch reflex of the upper arm can be further divided into short latency stretch reflex (SLSR) and long latency stretch reflex (LLSR) (Figure 1.9). The short latency reflex starts within 20ms of an applied stretch; it is monosynaptic in nature and connected with spinal motoneuron through Ia fiber (Matthews, 1991a, Pruszynski et al., 2011b). On the other hand, LLSR appears approximately 50ms after triggering the stretch.



Figure 1.9. The components of a stretch reflex.

Raw tracing from rectified EMG recorded from the biceps muscle following a mechanical perturbation. SLSR, corresponds the short latency response with a latency of ~20ms. LLSR, corresponds the long latency response with a latency of ~50ms. The spikes after 100ms show voluntary muscle activity. The onset of stretch is at 0ms.

LLSR is believed to involve transcortical pathways for distal muscles, but its contributions are still controversial for proximal muscles (Matthews, 1991). However, a few studies have established that LLSR is affected by multiple connections including transcortical and subcortical pathways (Petersen et al., 1998, Pruszynski et al., 2011b).

EMG activity with a latency greater than 100ms is usually considered as voluntary response.

In a previous study, Soteropoulos et al. (2012) showed that stretch reflex, which activates hand muscles after a triggering stimulus, can also activate reticular formation cells in the macaques (Fig. 1.10). In their study, after application of stretch to index finger comparable responses with latencies consistent with SLSR and LLSR could be recorded from the pontomedullary reticular formation which gives rise to reticulospinal tract (Soteropoulos et al., 2012) (figure 26). Reticulospinal Tract (RT) originating from pontomedullary reticular formation controls the axial and proximal muscles to maintain balance and gait. The reticulospinal tract has monosynaptic and disynaptic projections to distal muscles of the upper limb, and it plays an important role during recovery from the motor cortex and corticospinal tract lesion (Davidson and Buford, 2006, Riddle et al., 2009, Lemon, 1993). These observations from previous studies suggest that stretch reflex, particularly the LLSR component, can be utilized to measure outputs corticomotoneuronal and reticulospinal tract output. Any changes in the LLSR following the delivery of appropriate plasticity-inducing interventions should reflect the influence of plasticity on the motor cortex, subcortical or reticulospinal pathways.


Figure 1.10. Activation of reticular cells in macaque.

A, averaged displacement of lever. B, overlain traces of lever displacement of single trials. C, computed velocity. D, mean rectified EMG responses from several forearm and hand muscles with activity aligned to the onset of stretch (dotted vertical line). The responses in the muscles correspond to SLSR and LLSR responses. Grey triangles indicate minimal onset latency, white and grey bars indicate early and late responses respectively. E, peri-stimulus time histogram and raster of pontomedullary reticular formation cell, showing a reticular response to stretch. Plots (B-E) are on the same time scale. Figure modified from Soteropoulos et al. (2012).

1.4.2 Motor Evoked Potentials (MEPs)

In most of the non-invasive brain stimulation techniques that use Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS), action potentials (generated from activated skeletal muscle after stimulation) are measured by placing surface electrodes directly over the skin. These responses are known as motor evoked potential (MEP), which arrive through fast conducting cortico-motoneuronal connections via alpha motoneurons in the contralateral spinal cord (Abbruzzese and Trompetto, 2017). TMS mostly activates axons that stay parallel to this electric field. Activation of motor cortex occurs when axonal potential changes at some point across its length, that runs parallel with the induced electric field. Changes in the electric field in the extracellular substances due to variation in their conductivity can also produce activation of an axon or can induce differences at nerve membranes near synapses (Rothwell, 1997). These responses of motor cortex evoked by a magnetic field can be readily and non-invasively recorded from corresponding muscles by placing surface electrodes directly over the skin. The evoked EMG responses can be recorded, rectified and quantified by measuring peak to peak amplitudes, which can be useful to compare effects of various plasticity protocols.

Interestingly, the application of single pulse TMS or repetitive TMS (rTMS) in the primary motor cortex (M1) elicits several volleys in the cortico-motoneuron pools. Looking at the characteristic features of latency in a typical MEP, an early D-wave and later I-waves can easily be differentiated. Early D-waves are mostly generated from axonal activation of corticospinal neurons, whereas late I-waves originates from activation of mono and polysynaptic inputs (Ridding and Ziemann, 2010). Changes in the MEP amplitude are regarded as a measurable marker or index of changes in cortico-motoneuronal excitability. Interestingly, although the short latency of EMG responses and short central motor conduction time from M1 to spinal motorneurons generally indicates a mono-synaptic downward volley through fast conducting corticospinal tract, disynaptic or oligosynaptic contribution mediated by cortical or subcortical projections to propriospinal connections or interneurons in the spinal cord cannot be excluded (Rothwell, 1997, Mazevet et al., 1996, Burke et al., 1992, Gracies et al., 1994).

The orientation of the TMS coil can influence the pattern and latency of responses by preferentially stimulating cortico-motoneuronal pools. Therefore, MEP outputs from differently oriented coil can be different. It has been found that latero-medially oriented coil evokes short latency D-waves, posterior-anteriorly placed coil recruits long latency I-waves and anterior-posterior orientation is likely to elicit later I-waves with the longest latency (Volz et al., 2015). In all my experiments, the coil was positioned tangentially over the skull while the handle was pointing backward and laterally producing a 45° angle to the sagittal plane, consistent with original PAS studies (Rossini et al., 1994, Stefan et al., 2000). This standard orientation evoked largest potentials and recruited D-and I-waves (Rothwell, 1997).

Di Lazzaro et al. (2001) studied the effect of TMS on human motor cortex by recordings descending volleys with bipolar electrodes placed directly into the cervical epidural space. Simultaneously, they recorded surface EMG from the first dorsal interosseous muscle (FDI) while stimulating primary motor cortex (M1) with TMS. They compared the MEPs induced by TMS during resting and active voluntary contraction phases of the muscle and found that TMS increased the output of motor neurons in the spinal cord during voluntary contraction. They concluded with the notion that prior activation of motoneurons by voluntary effort before cortical stimulation could change subcortical excitability, resulting in increased MEP amplitude (Di Lazzaro et al., 2001, Di Lazzaro et al., 1998). Their study is indicative of a possible scenario where TMS not only activates the M1 but also sends downward volleys via other subcortical projections and pathways that run in parallel with the corticospinal tract and thereby excites spinal motoneurons.

1.5 How these approaches may ultimately lead to patient benefit

1.5.1 Stroke, Spinal cord injury and disability

It has been estimated that the total number of stroke events in the European Union will rise from 613,148 in 2015 to 819,771 in 2035 (Stevens et al., 2017). According to a report by the World Health Organization, every year between 250,000 and 500,000

people suffer a spinal cord injury worldwide (Organization and Society, 2013). The increasing number of stroke and spinal cord injury patients has already left the world with a massive burden including expense. The current total cost of post stroke care and rehabilitation for patients in the United Kingdom only is calculated as £18 billion over the first five years following stroke (Xu et al., 2017). The condition is even worse and complicated in the underdeveloped and developing country because of lack of clinical therapy, social care, and proper rehabilitation programmes. However, regardless of the region, with currently available measures and therapies, it is nearly impossible to recover full functionality after certain types of brain or spinal cord lesions. This has motivated me to study plasticity in the human motor system, which has been an emerging field in the neuroscience. My goal was to test and implement advanced and novel approaches to influence plasticity in the motor system and to utilize the acquired knowledge for the development of translational therapies. If successful, many patients with stroke and spinal cord injury can be benefited with the recovery of the hand function.

1.5.2 The possibility of utilizing plasticity to treat disability in the post-stroke and spinal cord injury patients

Under normal physiological circumstances, a prolonged recovery process typically kicks in after a brain lesion or spinal cord injury. This process is believed to rely on the reorganization of the spared pathways and surrounding neuronal networks. Synaptic plasticity is an integrated and vital component of this reorganization as it strengthens or weakens components of existing pathways, changes excitability of the neuronal circuits and can re-route action potentials by collateral sprouting of the nerve fibers. In the course of recovery, axonal changes and plastic remodelling can occur above and below the lesion, i.e., in cortical and subcortical components within the brain, within the brainstem or within the spinal cord pathways and interneurons. Certain brain and spinal cord lesions leave a large motor and sensory deficits that usually persists throughout life. This disruption of nerve fiber and pathways can result in paraplegia, hemiplegia or quadriplegia and often causes pronounced sensorimotor dysfunction ultimately leading to the development of spasticity (Raineteau and Schwab, 2001). Muscle spasticity, usually accompanied by the weakness of its antagonist muscle, can severely restrict the

range of motion, can cause uncontrolled movement and development of contractures in joints, leading to major disability.

Over the decades, the debilitating factors of brain and spinal cord lesion have prompted many researchers attempting to facilitate functional recovery by enhancing plasticity mediated reorganization. Mainly, plasticity protocols relying on external non-invasive stimulation can be extremely beneficial and suitable since they not only allow extensive control over experimental conditions but also make it possible to test numerous paradigms on a large number of healthy individuals. Human models of brain and spinal cord plasticity from my studies may contribute further information to understand the basic principles of cortical and subcortical remodelling and reorganization following artificial stimulation. This knowledge can be useful to develop new treatment strategies and rehabilitation therapies using non-invasive stimulation protocols capable of inducing plasticity to reorganize neuronal circuits in cortical or subcortical level after a lesion. In my research, I emphasized on testing a variety of plasticity inducing protocols that can be easily delivered via non-invasive, currently available and cost effective yet safe techniques. For instances, one of my studies looked into delivering a specially designed stimulation protocol via a wearable electronic device non-invasively, which a participant can easily wear for a prolonged duration continuing daily activities. Acquired results from this study can provide further knowledge and information to develop more effective ways of delivering such stimulation protocols capable of modifying functional outcome during recovery. In another study, I approached to evaluate the basic mechanism of plasticity in different groups of forearm and hand muscles, where I prompted to test modified methods of providing paired stimuli protocols, which can be easily applicable to subjects on a daily basis. Analysis and results from this basic study can provide important aspects of central nervous system plasticity to assess the feasibility of using such techniques as translational therapy in clinical settings. I also introduced a novel method of utilizing motor imagery as an input and its effect in modulating cortical or subcortical plasticity was observed. The outcome from this research can lead to develop practical strategies of delivering effective plasticity inducing protocols through patients' ability to think a movement where actual motion is compromised after brain or spinal cord lesion.

Chapter II

SPIKE-TIMING DEPENDENT PLASTICITY IN THE LONG LATENCY STRETCH REFLEX FOLLOWING PAIRED STIMULATION FROM A WEARABLE ELECTRONIC DEVICE

2.1 Introduction

The reticulospinal tract is a major descending motor pathway, which is typically considered to convey commands for gross motor function such as maintaining posture, locomotion and reaching movements (Matsuyama and Drew, 2000, Prentice and Drew, 2001, Dyson et al., 2014, Buford and Davidson, 2004, Davidson and Buford, 2006). Recent work in primates has shown that the reticulospinal tract may also contribute to hand function, in parallel to the more prominent corticospinal tract (Riddle et al., 2009, Soteropoulos et al., 2012, Baker, 2011, Riddle and Baker, 2010). Following corticospinal damage, connections from the reticulospinal tract to motoneurons controlling the upper limb strengthen selectively to flexors (Zaaimi et al., 2012). This probably underlies the selective recovery of function seen after stroke or spinal cord injury, when extensors remain weak, but flexors regain strength, sometimes even to the extent of unhelpful spasticity.

These observations motivate the search for principled interventions to modify reticulospinal connections, which could enhance functional recovery after lesion. Previous work has induced plastic changes in the cortex by consistently pairing stimuli which act on a common circuit. By the principles of spike-timing dependent plasticity, if a post-synaptic neuron is activated consistently after a pre-synaptic input, that input is strengthened; reversing this timing weakens the input (Markram et al., 1997). Plasticity protocols can use pairs of stimuli delivered using microelectrodes (Bi and Poo, 2001), or time one stimulus at a fixed delay after spontaneous neural spikes (Jackson et al., 2006). It is also possible to induce plasticity using non-invasive stimuli. Example paradigms targeting the cortex pair transcranial magnetic brain stimulation with peripheral nerve stimulation (Stefan et al., 2000), or stimulation of the motor points of

two hand muscles (Ridding and Uy, 2003). To date, no reports have attempted to induce plasticity in reticulospinal pathways.

An essential pre-requisite to induce spike-timing dependent plasticity is to find two stimuli which converge on a common target circuit. It is well known that the brainstem nuclei which give rise to the reticulospinal tract receive extensive afferent input (Leiras et al., 2010); electrical stimulation in the periphery will thus generate robust synaptic input. It has been recently demonstrated that primate reticular neurons fire bursts of action potentials after loud auditory clicks (Fisher et al., 2012). I therefore hypothesised that precisely-timed pairing of peripheral shocks with clicks may lead to plasticity in reticulospinal circuits.

Experimental study of plasticity finally requires a way to measure any changes. For the corticospinal system, motor evoked potentials following transcranial magnetic brain stimulation are typically used to assay connectivity. Similarly, unambiguous non-invasive measures of reticulospinal function are not available. One option may to be assess the long-latency stretch reflex (LLSR). For distal muscles acting on the digits or wrist, the LLSR appears to have a substantial component passing via the primary motor cortex and the corticospinal tract (Matthews et al., 1990, Cheney and Fetz, 1984), although even the LLSR in finger muscles has a reticulospinal contribution (Soteropoulos et al., 2012). For muscles acting on the elbow and shoulder, although there is undoubtedly a corticospinal contribution (Pruszynski et al., 2011a, Evarts and Tanji, 1976), there is evidence that this is reduced compared to more distal muscles (Fellows et al., 1996) and that there may also be a sub-cortical component (Kimura et al., 2006). I therefore hypothesised that LLSR in a more proximal muscle might partially measure reticulospinal output (Kurtzer, 2014), and that paired stimuli targeted to induce plasticity in reticulospinal pathways might modify the LLSR.

To date, most experiments on synaptic plasticity have paired stimuli for only short periods, working within the confines of a laboratory setting. Whilst changes may be induced, they typically fade after around an hour. I wished instead to develop protocols which could be applied for many hours while the subject went about their normal daily activities. To this end, I utilized a wearable electronic device, capable of delivering the required stimuli in a portable system. In this study, I describe successful induction of plasticity using this device measured as a change in LLSR, which may partially reflect spike timing dependent processes within the brainstem.

2.2 Materials and Methods

Results were obtained from 74 healthy volunteers (22 male) aged 19-84 years over 89 experiments. All procedures were approved by the local ethical committee of Newcastle University Medical School, and full written consent was obtained from each participant.

2.2.1 Measurement of Stretch Reflex

Subjects were seated in a rigid chair, fitted with a five-point harness to prevent trunk and shoulder movements. Electromyogram (EMG) was recorded from the biceps and brachioradialis muscles of the right arm, using adhesive surface electrodes (Kendall H59P for brachioradialis and Kendall H91SSG for biceps) placed over the muscle belly with an interelectrode spacing of 2 cm for brachioradialis and 3-5 cm for biceps. Electrodes were connected to a Digitimer D360 amplifier (gain 1000, bandpass 30 Hz – 2 kHz). The arm was fitted into a robotic device which measured elbow flexion angle, and could generate torques around the elbow using a powerful motor (Maxon part number 353301, with 25:1 planetary gearhead and a further 1.6:1 reduction ratio generated by the gear wheels and belt drive linking motor to drive shaft). The forearm was partially pronated, and the shoulder was flexed at 45° and abducted at 90° (Fig. 2.1A). Subjects were instructed to maintain a 90° flexion against a background torque, by moving a cursor related to elbow angle into a target displayed on a computer screen. With a delay of 1.5-2 s after the target was acquired (chosen at random from a uniform distribution) the motor torque increased to a high level (66 Nm) for 150-200 ms, generating an elbow extension movement with a near-constant velocity of 150-300%. This was a little lower than the expected velocity obtained by taking the motor's specified free-running speed, and correcting for the gearing (404 %). It is likely therefore that the motor rapidly accelerated the arm to a terminal velocity, in which friction in the gears and bearings was equal and opposite to the motor torque. These perturbations evoked consistent short and long latency reflexes (Trumbower et al., 2013, Thilmann et al., 1991b) in the recorded muscles. Subjects were told to return the arm to

the central target after each perturbation, but were not required to do this within any time constraints. A total of sixty trials were recorded for each session, comprising 20 trials at each of three levels of background torque. Levels of background torque were determined individually for the subject to allow comfortable task performance, and ranged from 0 to 4.5 Nm; the same levels were used for that subject in both recording sessions.

EMG, elbow displacement and motor torque signals together with markers indicating task events were captured to a personal computer (5 kHz sampling rate) using a 1401 interface (Cambridge Electronic Design). Subsequent analysis involved constructing averages of rectified EMG, using custom scripts written in the MATLAB environment.

2.2.2 Experimental Protocol

All experiments followed the same general pattern (Fig. 2.1B). Subjects came to the laboratory before 9:30am, and a set of stretch reflex recordings were made. They were then fitted with a wearable electronic device, designed to deliver electrical and auditory stimuli. The wearable device generated constant-current electrical stimuli to the biceps muscle (surface electrodes and placement as above; 220V compliance; 150 μ s pulse width; more proximal electrode negative). The intensity was adjusted to be just below motor threshold (defined as a visible muscle twitch); subjects reported a weak paraesthesia produced by the stimulus. Auditory stimuli were generated by delivering a 0.1ms wide, 12V square excitation pulse into a miniature earpiece; this produced a brief click with intensity 110 dB SPL.





Figure 2.1. Schematic diagram showing experimental setup and wearable device stimulus conditions.

A, subjects were strapped into a chair, with their right arm attached to a robotic device capable of delivering extension perturbations at the elbow joint. A computer screen provided visual feedback of elbow angle. B, the general experiment protocol. C-F, the four different stimulus conditions implemented by the wearable device, and their hypothesised effects on a reticulospinal neuron. C, biceps stimulation 10 ms before click; the EPSP elicited by the afferent input arrives just before the click-induced discharge, which should potentiate synapses conveying the EPSP. D, click 25 ms before biceps stimulation; the afferent EPSP arrives after the click-induced discharge, which should lead to depression of the EPSP. E, biceps stimulation alone, F, click stimulation alone. With no stimulus pairing, I expect no change in EPSP amplitude.

Based on calculations provided by Rosengren et al. (2010), this intensity delivered at 0.66 Hz for 8 hours corresponds to an A-weighted intensity of 68 dB LAeq, which is well below the recommended safe limit for hearing of 85 dB LAeq given by the UK's Control of Noise at Work Regulations (The Stationery Office, 2005). The earpiece was placed in either the left or right ear. I found no consistent differences dependent on which ear was stimulated; recordings from monkey reticular formation also showed that cells could be activated by clicks delivered to a wide area of the scalp by a bone vibrator (K.M. Fisher, B. Zaaimi & S.N. Baker, personal communication). Stimuli were delivered with an inter-stimulus interval of 1.25-1.75 s (chosen at random from a uniform distribution). Subjects then left the laboratory and continued their usual daily activities. As most subjects were staff or students in the university, this typically involved office or laboratory tasks such as typing and soldering. After 5pm, they returned, the wearable device was removed, and a further set of stretch reflex recordings was made. Because the electrodes over biceps were used for both recording reflex responses and for stimulation, they were kept in place for the whole day, ensuring consistency between the morning and evening recordings. For the brachioradialis, either electrodes were also left in place all day, or their location was marked after the morning session with a UV fluorescent marker pen; this ensured that electrodes could be replaced in exactly the same location for the evening reflex recording.

Four different stimulus combinations were tested in different experiments; these are illustrated in Fig. 2.1C-F, together with a schematic which indicates the effects in the brainstem which I hypothesised each would generate given previous work. The first paradigm placed the electrical stimulus 10 ms before the click. I expect the biceps stimulus to generate an EPSP within the reticular formation in a human subject with a

latency of around 10 ms (see Discussion). The click should generate an action potential burst after around 7 ms (Fisher et al., 2012). I predicted therefore that this timing would lead to the EPSP consistently arriving just before the spike burst, and should lead to long term potentiation. By contrast, when the click preceded the electrical stimulus by 25 ms (Fig. 2.2D), this should place the EPSP after the spike burst, and generate long term depression. Two control conditions (Fig. 2.2EF) tested the effect of giving electrical or auditory stimuli alone. Some subjects participated in more than one of these paradigms; at least one week separated different experiments in the same subject.

2.2.3 Analysis

Figure 2.2A illustrates ten sweeps of raw EMG from a single subject following the perturbation. An average of the elbow displacement trace revealed a nearly linear ramp perturbation (Fig. 2.2B). One problem which I encountered was considerable variation in the level of background EMG prior to the perturbation onset. Since it is known that the stretch reflex scales with background activation (Matthews, 1986), an inconsistent background would render comparisons of the morning and evening reflex recordings invalid.





A, raw biceps EMG recording after ten perturbations. Dotted line indicates the perturbation onset. B, overlain single sweeps (thin lines) and average (thick line) of elbow angle during the perturbation for the same experiment as (A). C, distribution histograms of mean background EMG in the biceps muscle in one subject, for recordings before and after the wearable device stimulation. Orange shading marks the minimum value of each bin. D, average rectified EMG in the biceps muscle following perturbation onset (dotted line), for recordings before and after wearable device stimulation (protocol Bi-10ms-C, Fig. 2.1C). Average has been compiled using the sweep selection procedure described in the text and illustrated in (C), such that baseline EMG is matched. Short latency (R1), long latency (R2) and voluntary response epochs are marked. E, average elbow angle for the same experiment as (C); traces for measurements before and after wearable device stimulation are overlain, but are barely distinguishable. F, measurements of area under the curve as a percentage of baseline EMG for the experiment shown in (D). The R2 response was significantly facilitated (P<0.05). For all panels, black traces refer to measurements before wearable device stimulation, and red after.

Figure 2.2C illustrates the approach taken to this problem. I first measured the background EMG in each of the 60 available sweeps over the 50 ms prior to perturbation onset, for both morning and evening recordings. The interval from the largest to the smallest background measured was divided into 20 equally-spaced bins, and each sweep was allocated to one of these bins. This led to a distribution histogram, as shown in Fig. 2.2C. For each bin, I took the minimum count between the morning and evening recordings. For the session which had this minimum, all sweeps falling in that bin were used. For the other session, a number of sweeps equal to the minimum count were chosen at random. Following this procedure for all bins led to selection of a subset of sweeps, with equal numbers of in both morning and evening sessions, and with a very similar mean background EMG level. These sweeps were averaged together, generating traces as in Fig. 2.2D.

Following previous work (Mortimer et al., 1981, Pruszynski et al., 2011b), responses were categorised by their latency (Fig. 2.2D) as short latency stretch reflex (R1; 20-50 ms), long-latency stretch reflex (R2; 50-100 ms) and voluntary (>100 ms). Within the R1 and R2 windows, the percentage increase of the area under the curve relative to the background was used as a measure of reflex amplitude. The significance of changes in reflex amplitude were assessed using t-tests on the single sweep measures of area under the curve above background, with a threshold of P<0.05.

2.3 Results

Figure 2.2D illustrates an example result from one subject, in which the wearable device was programmed to deliver electrical stimuli to the biceps muscle 10 ms before a click (protocol of Fig. 2.1C). The background level of EMG was very similar for recordings made before and after the wearable device intervention (red *vs* black traces in Fig. 2.2D), confirming the efficiency of the method of sweep selection described in Methods (Fig. 2.2C). Although very similar for the R1 component, the long-latency stretch reflex (R2) was noticeably enhanced in the later recording. Figure 2.2F presents measures of area

under the curve for each response window; there was a significant increase in the R2 response.



Figure 2.3. Group results in the biceps muscle.

A&C, comparison of mean reflex size (expressed as a percentage of baseline EMG activity) before (circles) and after (squares) wearable device stimulation, for the four stimulation protocols illustrated in Fig. 2.1C-F. *, P<0.05; **, P<0.005. B&D, stacked bar plots showing the number of subjects with significant (P<0.05) reflex facilitation (black), suppression (grey) or no change (white). A&B relate to the short latency (R1) reflex component, C&D to the long latency (R2) component.

Figure 2.3 presents group results for recordings from the biceps muscle. These have been separated into R1 (Fig. 2.3AB) and R2 (Fig. 2.3CD) components. Figure 2.3AC shows mean reflex amplitudes, calculated across all subjects participating in a given wearable device protocol (as defined in Fig. 2.1C-F). The R2 component showed a significant increase (P<0.0002, paired t-test), on average from 176% to 263% of baseline (an increase of 49%) for the condition where the electrical stimulus preceded the click by 10 ms. There was a significant decrease (P<0.005, paired t-test), on average from 239% to 165% of baseline (a decrease of 31%) when the click preceded the electrical stimulus by 25 ms (Fig. 2.3C). The direction of these effects was as predicted on the basis of spike-timing dependent plasticity (Fig. 2.1CD). There was no significant difference in the size of the control reflex (before wearable device stimulation) between these two experiments. A small but significant decrease (by 17%; P<0.02, paired t-test) was also seen in the R1 reflex for the second protocol. The control protocols, where either electrical or auditory stimuli were given alone, produced no significant changes (P>0.05, paired t-test).

It is now well recognized that plasticity protocols often lead to substantial heterogeneity in response across subjects (Wiethoff et al., 2014); some of this may be determined by genetic factors (Cheeran et al., 2008). Accordingly, Fig. 2.3BD examines at the single subject level how many showed significant changes. Each bar shows the number of subjects with significant increases, significant decreases or no significant change for a given protocol and response window. For protocols with no significant change in average response, the pattern across subjects tended to be inconsistent, with some increases and decreases seen. However, for R2 reflex following paired stimulation, a clear pattern emerged which supported the group-averaged data. When the electrical stimuli preceded the click 15/25 subjects showed a significant rise in R2, compared with only 2/25 a decrease. By contrast, when the click preceded the electrical stimulus, 24/33 showed a drop in R2 amplitude but only 5/33 a rise. To see counts as extreme as 15/25 and 24/33 is highly unlikely by chance ($P<10^{-17}$, based on the binomial distribution, with n=25 and 33 respectively and P(hit)=0.025). Similar results were obtained if I considered simply whether reflexes increased or decreased, irrespective of whether these changes were significant for an individual subject (electrical stimulus before click, 23/25 subjects R2 increased; click before electrical stimulus, 26/33 subjects R2 decreased; both P<0.002 based on binomial distribution with P(hit)=0.5).

The wearable device protocols examined involved electrical stimulation of the biceps muscle; however, stretch reflex recordings were made from both biceps and brachioradialis, which are both elbow flexors in the arm posture tested. This allowed me to examine the extent to which changes in reflex amplitude were specific to the stimulated muscle, or might spread to anatomical agonists.



Figure 2.4. Group results in the brachioradialis muscle.

A&C, comparison of mean reflex size (expressed as a percentage of baseline EMG activity) before (circles) and after (squares) wearable device stimulation, for the four stimulation protocols illustrated in Fig. 2.1C-F. There were no significant differences

(P>0.05). B&D, stacked bar plots showing the number of subjects with significant (P<0.05) reflex facilitation (black), suppression (grey) or no change (white). A&B relate to the short latency (R1) reflex component, C&D to the long latency (R2) component.

Figure 2.4 presents the results for the brachioradialis muscle, in a similar format to those of Fig. 2.3. No significant changes were seen in any of the group averages (Fig. 2.4AC). At the single subject level, similar numbers of subjects in a given protocol showed significant increases or decreases (Fig. 2.4BD), suggesting that this reflected noise fluctuations in amplitude measurement rather than consistent plastic changes.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Pathways Contributing to the Long Latency Stretch Reflex

Following the discovery of the LLSR (Hammond, 1954), considerable research focussed on the pathways responsible. This reached a consensus by the early 1990s that the LLSR in muscles acting on the digits or wrist was mediated largely by Group Ia muscle afferents traversing a transcortical pathway (Matthews, 1991b). However, this did not exclude other contributions. For example, some continued to argue that cutaneous afferents play a dominant role (Corden et al., 2000); earlier studies suggested that the LLSR was a spinal reflex mediated by slower conducting Group II afferents (Matthews, 1984), although subsequent results did not support this (Matthews, 1989). For muscles acting around the elbow or shoulder, motor cortical recordings in monkey do reveal evidence for some transcortical contribution (Pruszynski et al., 2011a, Evarts and Tanji, 1976). Transcranial magnetic brain stimuli delivered over motor cortex and timed to coincide with the LLSR are facilitated, also suggesting a transcortical contribution (Pruszynski et al., 2011a). However, evidence from patients with motor disorders suggests that the transcortical route for the LLSR may be less important in elbow muscles compared to the hand (Fellows et al., 1996, Thilmann et al., 1991b). The tonic vibration reflex, which may relate to the LLSR, relies on the brainstem reticular formation (Gillies et al., 1971). Even for finger perturbations, it has been recently shown that the reticular formation probably contributes to the LLSR (Soteropoulos et al., 2012). It therefore seems probable that the reticular formation contributes to LLSR in more

proximal muscles as well (Kurtzer, 2014), and could even be the dominant pathway. Such evidence caused me to measure changes in the LLSR following elbow perturbations after a paired stimulus protocol designed to target reticulospinal output. The finding that the LLSR exhibits plastic changes, in a manner consistent with the predictions of how paired stimuli should modify the reticulospinal output, is consistent with a reticulospinal role in elbow muscle LLSR. For instance, my results show that facilitation occurred in the LLSR in biceps after a time-adjusted paired stimuli paradigm designed to affect the reticular formation within the calculated (discussed below) STDP window. Considering the afferent nerve conduction speed, the onset of the stretch reflex and timing of the sensory input, it is likely that these paradigms are capable of changing excitability in the reticular formation, further reflecting its contribution to the LLSR.

2.4.2 Spike Timing Dependent Plasticity

Several features of my results suggest that it was possible to induce spike-timing dependent plastic changes. Firstly, the control conditions which delivered either electrical stimulation of biceps alone or clicks alone failed to generate consistent changes in the reflex measures. This not only controls for the effects of the unpaired stimuli, but also provides confidence that there were no consistent changes in the reflexes between the morning and evening assessments, caused for example by diurnal rhythms or fatigue. Secondly, it is striking that shifting the relative timing of the two stimuli by only 35 ms should have had such a profound effect, reversing an average facilitation in biceps R2 reflex to a suppression. Finally, plastic changes were only seen in the biceps muscle which was stimulated, and not in the closely related agonist brachioradialis. This seems to fulfil the 'specificity' criterion of long-term potentiation whereby effects are limited to the stimulated site, although I cannot rule out the alternative possibility that only pathways targeting the biceps are capable of showing these changes.

The stimulus timings were chosen based on the expected delays to generate activity within the reticular formation. In monkey, it is known that reticular responses to clicks have onset latency around 7 ms (Fisher et al., 2012). Although the human head is larger, most of this delay relates to central processing rather than axonal conduction, so that it is likely to be only slightly longer in man. Electrical stimulation of the human median

nerve at the wrist produces EEG responses attributed to the medial lemniscus with latency around 14 ms (Taylor and Black, 1984); effects should reach the reticular formation shortly afterwards. I estimate the distance between the biceps motor point and the wrist as 350-400 mm; using a fast afferent conduction velocity of 85 m/s, this would imply a reduction of 4-5 ms in latencies to account for the more proximal stimulus site. Synaptic potentials in the reticular formation should thus start around 10 ms after the biceps electrical stimulus. Stimulating the biceps motor point 10 ms before the click should therefore place the earliest synaptic potentials from afferent input around 7 ms before the action potential burst generated by the click. This timing is therefore appropriate to generate potentiation of the synaptic inputs.

When reversing the timings, the duration of the action potential burst must be considered; neural firing can continue for up to 25 ms after the click (Fisher et al., 2012). Placing the biceps stimulus 25 ms after the click therefore should position the synaptic potentials from afferent input around 10 ms after the end of the action potential burst; this should be appropriate to depress the synaptic inputs.

It is impossible to be certain of the site of the plastic changes which was measured in the LLSR, but the success of the chosen timings argues that some modification of synapses may have occurred within the brainstem itself. Other possibilities are within spinal cord interneurons, or within the cortex, but the anatomy of the conduction delays conspires to make these less likely. If a spinal cord interneuron discharged following a click-elicited reticulospinal burst, this would be at least 3-4 ms later than the burst onset in the brainstem. This estimate is based on the fact that central motor conduction time from M1 to cervical enlargement in human is around 7 ms (Jaiser et al., 2015). The brainstem is approximately halfway along this path, and fast reticulospinal and corticospinal fibres have similar conduction velocity (Riddle et al., 2009). By contrast, an afferent volley following the biceps stimulus would arrive at the cervical enlargement 3-4 ms *earlier* than at the brainstem. The interval between the responses then increases from the estimate of 7 ms at the brainstem estimated above, to around 14 ms at the spinal cord; this is less likely to drive plastic changes. For the cortex, the responses to biceps stimulation will be delayed by around 6 ms relative to the brainstem, but those following the auditory click by substantially more: the earliest cortical auditory evoked potential occurs with 50 ms latency (Farrell et al., 1980). The responses in the brainstem appear best timed to generate spike-timing dependent changes, although it is impossible to rule out a contribution from other centres.

A small suppression was seen in the R1 reflex when the biceps stimulus followed the click (Fig. 2.3A), indicating that changes within spinal circuits may also have played a role in my results. Human subjects, monkeys and rats can all learn to increase or decrease the size of an H reflex (the electrical analogue of the R1 reflex) if appropriately rewarded (Thompson and Wolpaw, 2014). In monkeys subjected to repeated reflex testing, but with no attempt at up- or down-conditioning, there is a progressive reduction of the R1 reflex (Meyer-Lohmann et al., 1986). In rat, reflex conditioning depends on the corticospinal tract and sensorimotor cortex, but not other descending pathways (Chen et al., 2006b, Chen et al., 2006a, Chen and Wolpaw, 1997, Chen and Wolpaw, 2002). Down-conditioning leads to increases in identifiable GABAergic terminals in the spinal cord (Wang et al., 2006), but is dependent on an intact cerebellum (Chen and Wolpaw, 2005); spinal plasticity therefore seems to be guided and maintained by supraspinal pathways. It is likely that conceptually similar processes are occurring here, although whether the same central structures and descending pathways which contribute to reflex conditioning in rat are responsible in this case remains to be determined.

The LLSR is known to change depending on the behavioural context; this appears flexibly to integrate the known biomechanics of the limb (Kurtzer et al., 2008). It is unclear how the plastic changes which I have seen would interact with these task dependent changes. It is also unclear for how long plastic changes would last, and whether they could be prolonged by applying the stimulus pairing for longer than the ~7 hours which was tested in this report. All of these questions remain to be addressed in future studies. However, this report marks the first demonstration of plasticity in the LLSR induced with paired stimulus paradigms, and may indicate that brainstem as well as corticospinal descending systems can undergo plastic changes. Previous work has shown that rehabilitation after spinal cord injury can be enhanced by up- or down-conditioning of spinal reflexes (Chen et al., 2006c, Thompson et al., 2013). I hope that the novel protocol introduced here may open up new possibilities for enhancing rehabilitation during recovery from stroke or spinal cord injury, in which I have shown that brainstem pathways play an important role.

Chapter III

A HIERARCHY OF PLASTICITY IN HUMAN HAND AND FOREARM MUSCLES

3.1 Introduction

Reorganization of neural connections or structures in the central nervous system, also known as plasticity, generally shapes the outcome of learning, behaviour and motor reflex in healthy individuals (Classen et al., 1998, Cohen et al., 1997) and plays a critical role during recovery after brain lesions (Thulborn et al., 1999, Lemon, 1981, Murray and Coulter, 1981, Ridding and Rothwell, 1995, Di Lazzaro et al., 2009, Baker et al., 2015, Benecke et al., 1991). To investigate the underlying physiological mechanisms and potential therapeutic role of neurological adaptations, artificial induction of plastic changes in the motor cortex or subcortical level utilizing Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS) alone (Huang et al., 2005) or in conjunction with other interventions (Stefan et al., 2000) have been studied previously. Stefan et al. (2000), in their seminal study, successfully manipulated motor cortical plasticity with paired associative stimulation (PAS) using synchronous TMS and median nerve stimulation, resulting in an increased Motor Evoked Potential (MEP) at rest. A number of other PAS protocols are known to affect cortical and subcortical excitability leading to rapid reorganization in the corticomotor neural pathways; for example electrical stimulation of peripheral nerves (Ridding et al., 2001, Conforto et al., 2002, McKay et al., 2002a) or motor point stimulation of muscle (Ridding and Uy, 2003, McKay et al., 2002b) can initiate development of transient or persistent plasticity in the motor cortical output. While the capability of specifically designed afferent input or cortical stimulation in reorganizing cortical or subcortical neural pool has been documented in many previous studies, there is still a lack of data whether and how this kind of modulation affects different groups of muscles differently. Especially, how this modulatory mechanism affects the functional outcome in agonist-antagonist muscles was largely overlooked.

The scopes for synaptic reorganization and remodelling for different groups of upper limb muscles may inherently differ from each other. Characteristic facilitation in flexor was evidenced by Vallence et al. (2012) in their study where MEP in the forearm flexor muscle increased after ischaemic blocking of afferent inputs but not in the extensor. They suggested that the forearm flexors have a greater potential for plasticity than the forearm extensors. Task-dependent and muscle-specific variation in the motor cortical excitability for flexor vs. extensor muscle in the upper limb was noticeable when Godfrey et al. (2013) found that a repetitive flexion task increased cortical excitability in the finger flexors but with no such effect for finger extensors. However, it is yet to establish whether these changes in the cortical excitability for different muscles are influenced by afferent inputs or mostly depend on reorganization in the motor cortex irrespective of sensory feedback. Ridding and Rothwell (1995) showed that reorganization in corticospinal projections took place in the absence of sensory awareness or feedback. In another experiment, Ziemann et al. (1998a) found that ischaemic nerve block could induce a deafferentation-mediated reorganization in the motor cortex which resulted in further plastic changes mediated by subthreshold stimulation of motor cortex using repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (rTMS).

As evidenced by some of those previous studies, flexor and extensor muscles in the forearm differ in terms of modulating cortical excitability, but up to my current knowledge, no previous study showed any direct comparison modulating flexor vs. extensor motor outputs by non-invasive protocols that either stimulate motor cortex alone or in conjunction with another afferent input. To test and compare any potential variations in the induced plasticity in distal hand and flexor-extensor group of muscles, here I took a modified approach. Instead of stimulating any peripheral nerve, a common wrist flexor or extensor muscle, close to its motor point, was directly stimulated via transcutaneous stimulation to send an afferent volley. It has been documented that muscle belly or motor point stimulation can recruit multiple types of afferent nerves including Ia, Ib and cutaneous afferents (Bergquist et al., 2012, Dideriksen et al., 2015).

Muir and Lemon (1983) also showed that electrical stimulation of the muscle belly can effectively excite a substantial proportion of alpha-motoneurons of the targeted muscle. In line with previous evidence (Bergquist et al., 2011a), my understanding was by stimulating the muscle belly close to the motor point it could be possible to pass enough afferent drive towards higher cortical motor neuron pool controlling excitability and motor output. When paired with a time adjusted TMS, this afferent input from motor point could induce plasticity in a manner consistent with spike-timing dependent plasticity protocols. Similar techniques to stimulate motor point directly with

subcutaneous electrical stimulation were utilized previously in PAS protocols by other researchers successfully, where they were able to change the MEP in the targeted muscles (McKay et al., 2002b, Ridding and Uy, 2003).

In a separate set of experiments, I tested rTMS in the form of intermittent theta burst stimulation (tTMS) (Huang et al., 2005) and measured the output in the same muscles tested before with my PAS protocol to compare any changes in cortical excitability. In recent years, rTMS has increasingly been utilized as a treatment option for a variety of neurological disorders including Parkinson's disease and other psychiatric conditions like depression with some success (Hausmann et al., 2004, George et al., 2009, Schlaepfer et al., 2010, Wagle Shukla et al., 2016, Martin et al., 2003, George et al., 1995). While high frequency rTMS has a known effect in producing synaptic plasticity in animals (Shang et al., 2016, Yoon et al., 2011, Lenz et al., 2016), relatively moderate to low frequency rTMS, within its safety limit (Huang and Rothwell, 2004), can also change motor cortical excitability in human (Avenanti et al., 2012, Chou et al., 2015, Todd et al., 2010).

I, therefore, set three aims for this study: i. utilizing the PAS protocols as a convenient and translational method by stimulating muscle directly to investigate brain plasticity in human, ii. To compare relative changes in flexor vs extensor and distal hand muscle outputs after interventions for a better understanding of the complex cortical and spinal circuitry controlling hand muscles differently, and iii. To compare and test the contribution of afferent input in changing relative plasticity in flexor vs. extensor. The acquired knowledge might be useful in implementing a successful therapeutic and rehabilitation strategy to reduce flexor spasticity and to recover extensor weakness following stroke or spinal cord injury.

3.2 Materials and Methods3.2.1 Subjects

Results were obtained from 23 healthy volunteers (8 male; age range 19 - 50 years) in 30 sessions of the PAS experiment. 9 healthy volunteers (4 male; age range 19 - 32 years) were tested for the rTMS experiments in 16 sessions. All procedures were approved by the local ethical committee of Newcastle University Medical School. Prior

to each experiment, full written consent was obtained from each participant after explaining each procedure in detail.

3.2.2 Electromyographic (EMG) recording

In all experiments, Electromyogram (EMG) was recorded unilaterally from three different groups of muscles- Flexor Digitorum Superficialis (FDS), Extensor Digitorum Communis (EDC) and two distal hand muscles Abductor Pollicis Brevis (APB) and First Dorsal Interosseous (1DI). Adhesive surface electrodes (model H59P, Kendall) were placed directly over the muscle belly approximated to the motor point with an interelectrode spacing of 2 cm for FDS and EDC muscles. Another pair of similar electrodes were placed over the muscle belly of the left APB and 1DI, 1 cm apart from each other. Electrodes were connected to a Digitimer D360 amplifier (gain, 1000; bandpass filter, 30 Hz to 2 kHz) and EMG signals were stored in a laboratory computer system for analysis after those were digitized using an analogue-digital converter (model 1401, Cambridge Electronics Design, Cambridge, UK).

3.2.3 Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS)

For PAS experiments, a figure of eight shaped magnetic coil (model D70²) fitted with a tracker and connected with a Magstim (BiStim2, Magstim Ltd UK) stimulator was used to provide focal TMS stimulation to the contralateral hemisphere. Following earlier studies (Stefan et al., 2000, Ridding and Uy, 2003), the coil was positioned tangentially over the skull with the handle pointing backward and laterally producing 45° angle to the sagittal plane for all subjects. A second tracker, delivering input to an overhead camera, was fitted to a headband and was positioned on the subject's forehead. A Brainsight navigation system (Rogue Resolutions Ltd, Cardiff) was used to track and monitor the relative coil position in all the experiments.

A separate figure of eight shaped magnetic coil connected with a Magstim Rapid was used for the rTMS experiments. It also contained a tracker for the Brainsight navigation. Similar techniques as previously were used for positioning of the coil, tracking, defining and targeting the optimal site for stimulating the motor cortex during the rTMS study.

3.2.4 Electrical Stimulation at motor point:

Electrical stimulation was delivered from the same bipolar surface electrodes (Silver-Silver Chloride) that were already placed directly on the skin overlying the stimulated muscle belly. About 15-25 mm distance between the active and passive node was maintained. Two different protocols were used where either the FDS or EDC muscle's motor point was stimulated 18ms prior to TMS. A single square pulse electrical stimulation with a width of 500µs was delivered to the targeted muscle belly close to the motor point from a Digitimer constant current stimulator (DS7A). The perceptual threshold was measured by visual feedback individually. To ensure a clearly visible twitch at the targeted muscle, 2x to 3x of the perceptual threshold was used as the intensity of the electrical stimulation that was delivered during the final test. Either the FDS or the EDC alone was stimulated during each session of the experiment.

3.3 Experimental procedures:

Subjects were seated in a comfortable and slightly reclined height adjusted chair and placed their right forearm on the adjacent table. They were instructed to stay completely relaxed during the entire experiment and complete muscle relaxation was ensured by EMG signal live monitoring and visual feedback. Motor Evoked Potentials (MEP) was elicited with suprathreshold stimulator intensity by placing the coil over the left hemisphere. MEPs from the FDS and EDC muscles were assessed to locate the optimal site which showed the maximum response from both muscles. It was then marked as the hotspot in the Brainsight navigation system. Like many other previous studies (Rossini et al., 1994, Stefan et al., 2000), the minimum stimulator intensity required to evoke at least 50µV response in both relaxed muscles in at least 5 out of 10 repeated trials was obtained and determined as the Resting Motor Threshold (RMT). Throughout the experiment, 1.2xRMT was used to record MEP amplitude from all four muscles. For the rTMS protocol, active motor threshold (AMT) was measured using a second coil. AMT was determined as the minimum intensity required to evoke a MEP amplitude measuring 0.1mv peak to peak, which occurred at least 5 times in a total number the 10 trials, during a sustained voluntary contraction of the targeted muscle active with 20%

of maximal contraction (Rossini et al., 2015, Rossini et al., 1994). A steady contraction level was achieved and maintained by real-time visual feedback from a display.

3.3.1 PAS Protocol

To record the resting MEPs from all four muscles, a set of 20 TMS at a rate of 0.1Hz was delivered at the optimum location on the scalp before the intervention (Fig. 3.1A). In most cases, another set of 20 TMS was delivered to get consistent baseline MEPs from the averaged data. For the PAS protocol (intervention), either the FDS or EDC muscle received a square pulse electrical stimulation 18ms before delivering single pulse TMS stimulation at an intensity of 1.2x RMT. A total number of 90 such paired stimuli was delivered over 30 minutes at a fixed rate of 0.05 Hz (pairing duration 30 minutes). Immediately after paired stimulation protocol, two sets of 20 resting MEPs were recorded again delivering TMS at same intensity and rate that was used for recording the baseline MEPs. In all cases, only one muscle was stimulated each time in each session of experiment, i.e., muscle stimulation for intervention was given to either FDS or EDC muscle.



Figure 3.1. Schematic diagram showing experimental setup and protocols.

In all protocols, TMS was delivered to motor cortex before and after the test and MEPs were recorded from four muscles – FDS, EDC, APB and 1DI. A, PAS protocols, where electrical stimulation was applied to muscle motor point 18ms before the TMS. Either FDS or EDC muscle was stimulated in each session of the experiment. Total N=90 paired stimulation was delivered. B, Intermittent rTMS protocol, where 2 pulses of TMS were delivered at 50Hz frequency as a block and each block was delivered at 0.1Hz frequency for 190s.

3.3.2 rTMS protocol

A Magstim Rapid stimulator was used to measure the active motor threshold (AMT), defined as the minimum intensity required to evoke a MEP with 100 μ V peak-to-peak amplitude in at least 5 trials out of 10 during a steady voluntary contraction (20% of

maximal contraction) of 1DI. A Magstim 2002 stimulator was used to determine the RMT, as described previously. Before delivering the rTMS protocol, baseline MEPs were recorded from each subject with 30 single pulse TMS applied at a rate of 0.2Hz with an intensity of 1.2xRMT (Fig. 3.1B). For the intervention, a modified intermittent Theta Burst Stimulation (iTBS) paradigm (Huang et al., 2005) was used. Pairs of stimuli (intensity 0.9xAMT) with 20 ms spacing were delivered every 200ms for 2s; such stimulus trains were given at a frequency of 0.1 Hz for 190s, amounting to a total of 400 pulses during a single intervention session. Occasionally, there has been a brief pause during rTMS intervention, allowing the coil to cool off. MEP measurements (n=40) were taken again immediately following iTBS using the same stimulation parameters as at baseline.

3.3.3 Data analysis

Evoked MEP amplitudes for all four muscles were rectified and averaged separately. In all experiments, the MEP window under curve was measured manually from the onset of the response to the point where it returned to the background level usually 40~60ms after the onset of TMS. The mean value from MEP area was calculated from a maximum number of 40 responses before and after the intervention for each subject for both PAS and rTMS protocols. The mean values from before and after data set were compared for each subject in all four muscles. T-test, paired t-test or ANOVA were employed, and results were considered significant only if p < 0.05.

Any change in the MEP amplitude after the intervention was calculated as a percentage of increase or decrease considering the mean response from before as a baseline. Any significant changes (p<0.05) in the response area after the intervention protocols was calculated and tested using t tests.

3.4 Results

Figure 3.2A shows an example of the rectified averaged responses from all four muscles before and after the PAS intervention from single subject who received motor point

stimulation at FDS. Post intervention MEP was increased significantly for flexor and more distal finger abductors but not for the extensor. 1DI showed maximum facilitation and MEP amplitude increased 129% (P<0.0001) for 1DI, 125% for APB (P<0.0001) and 85% for FDS (P<0.0001). EDC showed an opposite behaviour and the MEP decreased by 20% compared to the baseline measurements, which was a significant suppression (P<0.04).





Dotted line indicates the TMS onset. Black trace=MEP before, red trace=MEP after. *, P<0.05. A, Average rectified MEP traces recorded from 1DI, APB, FDS and EDC muscles before and after running PAS protocol where Flexor (FDS) received stimulation. MEP increased significantly in all muscles except for EDC. B, Similar traces as in (A), but Extensor (EDC) received stimulation during the intervention. MEP increased significantly for all muscles except for EDC. C, Average rectified MEP traces

recorded from similar muscles before and after running the intermittent rTMS intervention protocol. Here, MEP increased significantly in all muscles except for 1DI.

A similar result was observed when the extensor muscle was stimulated and paired with the TMS, shown in the example traces in Figure 3.2B. Again, the responses in 1DI, APB and FDS were significantly (P<0.005) greater after paired stimulation, but there was no change in the EDC measurements. The noticeable characteristics of much bigger facilitation in the distal muscles than the FDS persisted, where increases in 1DI, APB and FDS were 97%, 254% and 49% respectively.

Figure 3.2C shows similar example of averaged sweeps of rectified MEP from a single subject before and after testing rTMS protocol. In contrast to PAS, rTMS appeared able to induce plastic changes also in the EDC muscle (Fig. 3.2C). In this subject, the MEPs in the APB, FDS and EDC muscles were all significantly increased (increases relative to baseline of 223%, 131% and 121% respectively, all P<0.05). Here, the MEP in the 1DI muscle was not significantly changed (P>0.05).

All the differences in after responses as a percentage of before measured from individual subjects were compiled, analyzed, plotted and compared against each muscle. Figure 3.3 illustrates the group results from both the PAS and rTMS protocols for all four muscles. All the differences in after responses as a percentage of before measured from individual subjects were plotted and compared against each muscle. The PAS results have been further separated into flexor (Fig. 3.3A) and extensor stimulation protocols (Fig. 3.3C). For the flexor stimulation protocol, the mean response from 1DI for all subject showed the maximum change, with an increase of 182% in the MEP amplitude (P<0.001). The second highest change was seen in APB, MEP of which increased 154% (P<0.003) from before measurements. After responses in FDS also increased significantly (133%, P<0.03) in the group result. MEP amplitudes in the extensor muscle (EDC) failed to manifest any changes in the accumulated result after PAS intervention with flexor stimulation.

Results gathered for extensor stimulation protocol from all subjects almost mirrored the result found from earlier protocol. Both distal finger muscles showed maximum increase in MEP after the test, where the % increase for 1DI and APB were 169% (P<0.006) and

216% respectively (P<0.001). Relatively smaller but significant increase was observed in FDS (129% P<0.04) and after measurements in EDC remained unchanged.

Figure 3.3E shows mean percentage changes in the MEPs after testing rTMS protocol from all subjects. Significant increase in MEP in all four muscles were observed and the changes were almost similar in 1DI (141%, P<0.01), APB (141%, P<0.02), FDS (130%, P<0.01) and EDC (130%, P<0.02).





A-F, Plots showing mean changes (expressed as percentage of baseline MEP) in MEP after running a protocol for all subjects. Bar plots are showing number of subjects with observed effects. Black=significant facilitation, grey=significant suppression, white=no change. *, P<0.05; **, P<0.005. A,B, Results after running PAS protocol where flexor
stimulation was paired with TMS. Consistent significant facilitation occurred in all muscles except EDC. C,D, Results after running PAS protocol where extensor stimulation was paired with TMS. Consistent significant facilitation occurred in all muscles except EDC. E,F, Results after running intermittent rTMS protocol. Significant facilitation was observed in all four muscles in this group data.

Figure 3.3 (B, D) examines the number of individual subjects who showed significant facilitation, significant suppression or no change for the PAS flexor and extensor stimulation protocols. Almost 2/3rd of the subjects showed a facilitatory effect in the after MEPs in flexor and distal hand muscles. In contrast, less than half of the subjects showed facilitation in the extensor muscle. Interestingly, 4 subjects ended up with suppression in EDC output (Fig. 3.3B). Stimulating extensor showed a similar trend and over 50% of the subjects showed increased MEP response in distal hand muscles, almost 50% subjects showed increased MEP in flexor, whereas less than 50% subjects showed increased MEP in flexor, whereas less than 50% subjects showed increased MEP in flexor, whereas less than 50% subjects showed increased MEP in flexor, whereas less than 50% subjects showed increased MEP in flexor, whereas less than 50% subjects showed increased MEP in flexor, whereas less than 50% subjects showed increased MEP in flexor.

For the rTMS protocol, as illustrated in Figure 3.3F, almost 50% subjects presented with an increase in the after-MEP response in all four muscles and did not show any trend for any single or group of muscles.

Plotted data in Figure 3.4 illustrates the overall comparison of changes for each muscle and protocol. Figure 3.4 (A-C) represents the scatterplot for PAS results. FDS vs EDC plot shows a trend where more changes were found in FDS, making it more susceptible to changes with PAS protocols. Also, both 1DI and APB received more facilitation than EDC or FDS. A three factor ANOVA analysis showed that the 'after responses' in 1DI, APB and FDS were significantly different than that of the EDC (p<0.05) in this case.



Figure 3.4. Scatter plots illustrating changes in muscles with relation to each other. Results are expressed as percentage of baseline MEP, data from all subjects after tested with protocols. A-C, Relation and trend of changes in each muscle against others after running the PAS protocols; Red circle, when flexor stimulation was paired with TMS; black circle, when extensor stimulation was paired with TMS. Following hierarchy was observed: 1DI>APB>FDS>EDC. D-F, Similar scatter plots from changes in MEP after intermittent rTMS protocol. No consistent trend was noticed.

Figure 3.4 (D-F) shows similar scatterplots representing all after changes as percentage of before in all four muscles for the rTMS protocol. In contrast with the PAS, no

consistent change was observed, and ANOVA test did not reveal any significant changes in any pair.

Summing up the results finds that more distal hand muscles showed most pronounced facilitatory effect after paired cortical and motor point stimulation irrespective of the muscle stimulated. The flexor muscle also showed significant facilitation after paired stimulation, which was greater than the extensor muscle. In the contrary, a generalized facilitation was observed in all muscles after rTMS.

3.5 Discussion

3.5.1 Cortical stimulation paired with time adjusted motor point stimulation induces plasticity

Widely accepted protocols of PAS involve precisely time adjusted stimulation of a peripheral nerve, most often electrical stimulation of median, ulnar or radial nerve, and a cortical stimulation capable of activating the targeted muscles. The peripheral nerve stimulation sends mixed afferent input through the muscle spindle or mechanoreceptors via Ia or II afferent fibres which carries an orthodromic volley to the supraspinal or cortical level. The functional nature and areas of activation in the primary motor cortex after cutaneous or deep stimulation in primates was known from some early seminal works (Strick and Preston, 1978, Lemon, 1981). Before reaching the primary motor cortex, this mixed afferent input along with a direct thalamic-M1 input (Hooks et al., 2013), activates regions in the primary or secondary somatosensory areas, which were previously reported by several studies (Pons and Kaas, 1986, Allison et al., 1989, Forss et al., 1994). Advancement in functional and magnetic brain imaging techniques has allowed researches to find more complex areas which are activated by this input in both ipsilateral and contralateral cortex with an activation pattern relying on temporal distribution and onset latencies. These bilateral areas of activation roughly include: primary sensorimotor cortex, secondary somatosensory cortex, posterior parietal (Brodmann's Areas) and anterior operculum, supplementary motor area, few areas in the frontal cortex (Boakye et al., 2000, Korvenoja et al., 1999). Overall, the contralateral areas seem to be activated before the ipsilateral sites (Korvenoja et al., 1999). A

cutaneous afferent input, for example, tactile stimulation to digit, showed a similar tendency in activating the brain areas (Boakye et al., 2000). The presence of cerebello-thalamo-cortical (Asanuma and Hunsperger, 1975, Hamada et al., 2012) or thalamo-cortical projections (Home and Tracey, 1979), which may act as a relay station for the afferent input before reaching to somatosensory or motor cortex is also undeniable (Stefan et al., 2000, Carson and Kennedy, 2013).

My modified PAS protocol implementing a direct stimulation of muscle at 3x perceptual threshold close to motor point, instead of a median nerve stimulation, was able to modulate the MEP amplitudes. This result is not unsurprising because the central contribution of motor point stimulation achieved via stimulation over muscle belly is comparable with the central contribution evoked by direct stimulation of a peripheral nerve (Bergquist et al., 2011b, Bergquist et al., 2012). Besides, it has been shown earlier that peripheral electrical stimulation sufficient to evoke contraction can co-modulate the excitability of primary sensory and motor cortical areas (Schabrun et al., 2012, Koželj and Baker, 2014, Ridding et al., 2000). Therefore, the motor point stimulation over motor threshold instead of a median nerve stimulation was able to send the required afferent volley upward for to generate a pre-synaptic potential in the motor cortex, the first component of PAS. The effect of this modified PAS protocol was mostly facilitatory. This observation supports spike-timing dependent plasticity like mechanism since an EPSP evoked by TMS at motor cortex was preceded by the afferent input within 25ms window. Multiple pathways and structures in the cortical connectivity might be involved inducing STDP (Caporale and Dan, 2008) mediated activation of LTP (Baranyi et al., 1991, Hess and Donoghue, 1994, Stefan et al., 2000).

3.5.2 The bias in plasticity mirrors changes during recovery after corticospinal lesions

One of the most debilitating residual impairments of stroke or spinal cord lesion is reduced hand function caused by the development of spasticity. Often, asymmetrical extensor weakness in the hemiplegic upper limb becomes prominent during recovery after such lesions. This produces a stereotypical flexor-extensor bias in the form of asymmetrical weakness affecting functionality. My results from PAS protocol showed striking similarity with the outcome of some of those changes where flexor muscle strengthens specifically during recovery. Several secondary changes are believed to be the cause of this phenomenon which includes reduced stretch reflex threshold (Powers et al., 1989), increased reflex gain (Thilmann et al., 1991a), reduced reciprocal inhibition (Artieda et al., 1991, Baykousheva-Mateva and Mandaliev, 1993) and uncoordinated coactivation of muscles (Baykousheva-Mateva and Mandaliev, 1993, Beer et al., 2000, Dewald et al., 1995). Asymmetric or reduced cortical drive triggering imbalanced reciprocal inhibition from flexor to extensor and vice versa may also be a factor for the development of flexor spasticity and hypertonia (Lackmy-Vallee et al., 2014). However, studies in primate implicates that strengthening of reticulospinal tract during recovery after stroke or corticospinal tract lesion can produce significant bias in flexor extensor remodelling, where connections towards flexor becomes stronger (Zaaimi et al., 2012). This pronounced bias in different agonist and antagonist muscle groups reflects their functional and organizational differences substantially. Numerous evidences suggest that the flexor and extensor muscles of upper limb are differently controlled at various levels of the nervous system. Higher cortical drive is required for the activation and precision of extensor muscles in the upper limb, which suggests the presence of differently organized pathways for flexor-extensor muscles (Divekar and John, 2013, Yue et al., 2000, Martin et al., 2006). A stimulus triggered averaging study by Belhaj-Saif et al. (1998) showed that flexor muscles are more likely to be inhibited from the connections derived from magnocellular red nucleus and primary motor cortex (Park et al., 2004). They also found a biased strengthening of the distal forelimb muscles than the proximal ones, mediated by the red nucleus and cortical connections.

The imbalanced strengthening of different muscle connections during recovery in the corticospinal tract lesioned macaque was previously reported by Zaaimi et al. (2012). Of course, the role of reticulospinal tract during recovery after unilateral pyramidal tract lesion was evident from this experiment, yet another striking feature of this reticulospinal tract mediated recovery was also prominent- the motor input connections towards the flexor and intrinsic hand muscle was significantly strengthened, whereas the input towards extensor showed no change. These findings were quite similar with the biased flexor facilitation and extensor weakness after corticospinal tract lesion in monkey reported by Belhaj-Saïf and Cheney (2000). In this case, however, the plasticity

was observed in the rubrospinal tract mediated output, which is mostly absent in human. Since my observed effect of biased plasticity after paired cortical and afferent input is most likely to be originated from cortex, it would be unlikely to have any indirect and passive reticulospinal tract mediated changes but not impossible. There might be several explanations that can speculate biased changes in flexor vs. extensor. Some of the previous studies emphasized the differences and distinct pattern in the cortical projection or input towards distal, flexor and extensor muscle groups in the upper limb in human and primate (Palmer and Ashby, 1992, Phillips and Porter, 1964, Clough et al., 1968, Lemon et al., 1986). While testing short latency facilitation with TMS, Palmer and Ashby (1992) found a hierarchical monosynaptic facilitation which is greater to motoneurons of distal hand muscles and flexors than more proximal and extensors muscle groups and argued that there are more cortical projections present towards distal hand and flexor muscles than extensors.

A striking feature of my findings was the hierarchy in the plasticity towards distal hand muscle, flexor and extensor, which was evident in the PAS protocol where motor cortex was stimulated synchronously paired with an afferent stimulation, but not in rTMS protocol, where only the motor cortex received stimuli. It is possible that the functional organization in cortical and subcortical level of sensorimotor system inherently possess a subtle but highly characteristic blueprint that favours adaptations towards distal and flexor muscles during task specific learning, acquiring new skills or regaining functions, which all requires active or functional afferent input. Contribution of afferent and sensory input in changing cortical or subcortical plasticity is undeniable as evidenced by many researchers (Vallence et al., 2012, Hamdy et al., 1998, Martin et al., 2006). Afferent inputs might also be responsible modulating motor plasticity during practice (Godfrey et al., 2013, Divekar and John, 2013), learning (Krutky and Perreault, 2007), active or passive movements (Chye et al., 2010, Lemon et al., 1986).

The Possibility of structural differences at cellular or molecular level in the flexorextensor motoneuron system cannot be excluded from the factors affecting reorganization of neural network (Massey et al., 2006, Kwok et al., 2011). Particularly, emerging evidence suggests a role of Perineuronal Nets (PNN) in acquisition of plasticity in the central nervous system during learning or recovery, where PNN restricts plasticity (Carulli et al., 2010, Happel et al., 2014, Cabungcal et al., 2013). It has been found that removal of PNN can decrease inhibition and increase gamma activity which potentially upregulates plasticity (Lensjo et al., 2017) in neural network. Collateral sprouting of axon after damage in sensory afferents is known to affect cortical and subcortical plasticity in human aided by depletion of PNN in the cuneate nucleus (Kaas et al., 2008). The possibility of differential PNN reorganization in cortical or subcortical pathways controlling flexor-extensor bias during motor learning, recovery after lesion or during artificial induction of plasticity with PAS protocols cannot be excluded.

In this study, my results showed that it is possible to induce plasticity in cortical and, arguably in the subcortical level, with simplified PAS techniques where afferent input arrives directly from muscle stimulation. My result also mirrors the biased plasticity in the distal hand muscle and flexor, which strengthens flexor and extensor remains weak during recovery in patients with stroke or spinal cord injury. Direct cortical repetitive stimulation with rTMS could also modulate cortical plasticity with a generalized facilitatory effect without any preference towards any muscle group. This result suggests that presence of an afferent input might be in effect or necessary for the induction of biased plasticity towards functional distal hand muscle and flexor. This interpretation leaves a ground for further investigations into plastic changes in different hand muscle groups in health and disease and will help to design effective and non-invasive translational methods to improve motor performance in upper limb after brain or spinal cord lesions.

Chapter IV

INDUCTION OF PLASTICITY IN THE MOTOR OUTPUT WITH PAIRED MOTOR IMAGERY AND TRANSCRANIAL MAGNETIC STIMULATION

4.1 Introduction

Performing a mentally simulated movement or Motor Imagery (MI) initiates complex neural mechanisms involving activation of interconnected areas in the central nervous system. The impact of mentally simulated action in large areas of the brain has been studied extensively over the last few decades, including motor cortex. Those related areas in the brain influenced by MI share some of the common functionality of actual movement (Jeannerod, 1995). MI activates cortical and subcortical areas and mirrors some neurophysiological properties seen in actual movement (Ingvar and Philipson, 1977, Roland et al., 1980, Rao et al., 1993). Activation of brain regions during MI is generally considered to represent cognitive motor preparation and programming (Yue and Cole, 1992, Decety et al., 1994). Inconspicuous activation of the motor cortex or specific pools of motoneurons during MI was highly anticipated but debatable until a number of studies conducted with electrophysiological techniques such as Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS), EEG or ERPs have been able to show direct involvement of the motor cortex with MI (Rossini et al., 1999, Beisteiner et al., 1995, Romero et al., 2000). Direct or indirect activation of motor cortex during mental simulation of movement was also observed in studies that used high-resolution fMRI or PET techniques (Lotze et al., 1999, Dechent et al., 2004). The striking feature of congruent activation of motor cortex during MI continued to influence many researchers to attempt measuring motor cortical output and plastic changes noninvasively. Although the available resources are still limited, Motor Evoked Potential (MEP) by TMS (Rothwell, 1991) has been considered one of the most convenient and non-invasive methods to measure motor cortical output to date. Later, a number of TMS studies concluded with the evidence that MI exerts a direct or indirect effect on motor cortex and modulates corticospinal excitability, which may also have influenced by co-activated supplementary motor area (Abbruzzese et al., 1996, Facchini et al., 2002, Pascual-Leone et al., 1995, Lacourse et al., 2005). This characteristic of MI to induce motor cortical activation led to researchers

utilizing it in conjunction with physical therapy (Warner and McNeill, 1988) or to improve motor learning skills (Yágüez et al., 1998). It has since been regarded as a 'backdoor' to activate the cortico-motoneural components to improve recovery after brain lesions, especially after stroke or spinal cord injury (Page et al., 2005, Liu et al., 2004, Crosbie et al., 2004, Dijkerman et al., 2004, Jackson et al., 2001, Sharma et al., 2006, Grangeon et al., 2010). The summarized outcome of these studies shows lack of efficacy, sensitivity or translational benefit, which necessitates further research to utilize the potential of MI. Previously, during a TMS study, Kasai et al. (1997) found that MI of wrist flexion could activate motor cortex and increased MEP of forearm muscles, but there is still lack of evidence whether MI can be utilized to change the motor cortical excitability for a sustained period to induce plasticity.

In this study, I tested whether MI in combination with TMS can generate a long term potentiation (LTP) and long term depression (LTD) mediated changes in the corticomotoneuronal output to forearm flexor, extensor and hand muscles. Some paired and repetitive stimulation protocols of TMS are already known to change plasticity in the corticospinal connections (Ziemann et al., 1998a, Stefan et al., 2000, Godfrey et al., 2013), but there is still lack of knowledge about how these changes affect different group of muscles in the upper limb, especially with MI.

The working hypothesis of my experiment was to utilize the modulatory effect of MI in conjunction with TMS to induce robust plasticity in the motor output using a novel technique. It was also an intention to observe any hierarchy or flexor-extensor difference in the potential of MI to induce plasticity in corticomotoneuronal projections to different muscles controlling the hand. I previously demonstrated a gradient like plasticity facilitating motor outputs towards intrinsic hand muscles and forearm flexor more than the forearm extensor after delivery of a PAS protocol that relies on integration of sensory and motor input (Chapter III).

In healthy humans, I recorded and compared cortical responses from the forearm and hand muscles before and after delivering paired TMS and MI paradigms. This approach of influencing plasticity may play a role in further understanding corticomotoneuronal connections, designing rehabilitation therapy and finding new ways of learning motor skills.

4.2 Materials and Methods4.2.1 Subjects

A total number of 10 healthy volunteers (8 female; age range 19 - 45 years) with no contraindication for TMS, were tested in 60 different sessions of the experiment. All procedures were approved by the local ethical committee of Newcastle University Medical School (ethical approval number 000023/2008) and were in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Prior to each experiment, full written consent was obtained from each participant after a brief explanation of the intent and procedure of the experiments.

4.2.2 Electromyographic (EMG) recording

In all experiments, Electromyogram (EMG) was recorded from four contralateral muscles- Flexor Digitorum Superficialis (FDS), Extensor Digitorum Communis (EDC), Abductor Pollicis Brevis (APB) and First Dorsal Interosseous (1DI). A pair of adhesive surface electrodes (model H59P, Kendall) were placed directly over individual muscle belly with an inter-electrode spacing of 2-3 cm for FDS/EDC, and around 1cm for APB/1DI. Electrodes were connected to a Digitimer D360 amplifier (gain, 1000; bandpass filter, 30 Hz to 2 kHz) and EMG signals were stored in a laboratory computer system for analysis after digitized using an analogue-digital converter (micro1401, Cambridge Electronics Design, Cambridge, UK).

4.2.3 Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (TMS)

A figure of eight shaped magnetic coil (model D70²) fitted with an optical position tracker and connected to a Magstim (BiStim2, Magstim Ltd UK) stimulator was used to provide focal TMS stimulation to the contralateral hemisphere. Following earlier studies (Rossini et al., 1994, Stefan et al., 2000), the coil was positioned tangentially over the skull with the handle pointing backward and laterally producing 45° angle to the sagittal plane for all experiments. A second position tracker attached to a headband was placed over the subject's forehead. A Brainsight TMS Navigation system (Rogue Resolutions Ltd, Cardiff) was used to track and monitor the relative coil position in real time during each session to provide TMS precisely on the defined spot.

4.2.4 Experimental procedures

Subjects were seated in a comfortable and slightly reclined height adjusted chair and placed their right forearm on an adjacent table. They were instructed to stay completely relaxed all times unless instructed. Complete muscle relaxation was ensured by live monitoring of the EMG signal on a monitor. MEPs from the FDS and EDC muscles were assessed with suprathreshold TMS to locate the optimal site that generated best responses from the both muscles. This site was then marked as the 'hotspot' in the Brainsight TMS Navigation to use throughout the experiment. Like many other previous studies (Rossini et al., 1994, Stefan et al., 2000), resting motor threshold (RMT) was obtained and recorded. It is the minimum stimulator intensity required to evoke at least 50μ V response in both relaxed muscles in at least 5 out of 10 repeated.

Prior to intervention, each participant was trained to perform MI where they were instructed to imagine a specific wrist movement, either flexion or extension. During each training session, a few cortical stimuli were applied while the participant practiced MI. Peak to peak increase in the MEP amplitude during MI without any noticeable background EMG activity was regarded as a successful outcome of such training. For example, while the subject was imagining wrist flexion, a test TMS (intensity 1.2xRMT) would be delivered to the contralateral motor cortex. An increase in the MEP amplitude of the FDS muscle would be observed if the subject could have imagined the wrist flexion successfully (Fadiga et al., 1998). Most of the time it was difficult and challenging for the subjects to stay concentrated and imagine a task repeatedly for a while, but the aim was to achieve a good level of MI to be paired with TMS. I found that if the participants were asked to perform the actual movement, wrist flexion for instance, prior to MI, it improved their concentration, efficacy, and timing of imagination. Therefore, I adopted an approach where subjects were asked to repeat actual movement three times at the start of each MI cycle. The actual wrist flexion or extension had to be finished at least 4-5s before the delivery of TMS. This was confirmed by careful monitoring of the resting baseline EMG throughout the experiment. Since I delivered TMS at a rate of 0.1Hz during intervention, a subject would get a 5s window to repeat 3 actual flexion or extension, depending on the protocol, before starting MI during each cycle.

To start the experiment, baseline MEPs were recorded from all four muscles (FDS, EDC, ABP and 1DI), while TMS was given at a rate of 0.1Hz and with an intensity of 1.2xRMT (Fig. 4.1A). Two different intervention protocol were used in separate sessions of experiment. As mentioned earlier, an intensity of 0.9xRTM and a rate of 0.1Hz was used the intervention. In the first protocol (TMS+Flexion Imagination, Fig. 4.1Ai), TMS at a rate of 0.1Hz (0.9xRMT) was delivered to the contralateral motor cortex while participants actively imagined the wrist flexion. In total, 90 TMS were delivered simultaneously with flexion MI over a duration of 15 minutes. As discussed earlier, during each TMS+MI cycle and before starting flexion MI, subjects were doing 3 consequtive wrist flexion physically before coming to a complete rest prior to the MI+TMS event. Subjects were receiving direct visual feedback from the monitor placed in front of them showing live feed of the EMG recording. Occasionally, there was a brief break (1-2 minutes) during the event if the subjects were losing concentration required for the MI. Immediately after the intervention, MEP measurements were recorded again using the same TMS parameters (1.2xRTM, 0.1Hz) and experimental conditions as in baseline (Fig. 4.1C). For consistency, a total number of 60 MEPs was recorded after the tests, which were averaged later to compare with the baseline MEPs.

For the second protocol (TMS+Extension imagination, Fig. 4.1Aii), all the condition remained same, except for the imagination part. Base line MEPs were recorded as before from all four muscles. During intervention, subjects were asked to perform extension imagination of the wrist. After completion of 90 TMS+MI, after-MEPs (N=60) were recorded using same conditions as before.

All ten subjects were also tested with the four control protocols. Baseline MEPs and after-MEPs were recorded for each experiment like before. In the third (Flexion Imagination) and fourth (Extension Imagination) protocols, either flexion (Fig. 4.1Aiii) or extension (Fig. 4.1Aiv) MI was performed respectively by the subjects in a similar manner described above, but without any TMS. Subjects could still hear the click sound coming from the TMS coil placed at a distance so that they get the cue to start the next cycle of MI.

In the fifth (TMS-following-Flexion, Fig. 4.1Av) and the sixth (TMS-following-Extension, Fig. 4.1Avi) protocols, no MI was performed. Subjects were only receiving TMS, and all other conditions remained same. For each subject, experiments (6 sessions in total) were performed in separate visits in a random order at least one week apart.



Figure 4.1. Schematic illustration of Motor Imagery (MI) protocols. A, Recording and measurement of MEP from four muscles- 1DI, APB, FDS and EDC

before any intervention or control protocols, B, Two intervention protocols and four

control protocols. C, Recording and measurement of MEP from those muscle after each protocol. i, Intervention protocol where Flexion imagination was paired with TMS following three successive flexion movement of the wrist ii, Intervention protocol where extension imagination was paired with TMS following three successive wrist flexion. iii, Control protocol where only Flexion imagination was performed after three successive wrist extension. iv, Control protocol where only Extension imagination was performed after three successive wrist extension. v, Control protocol where only TMS was delivered after three successive wrist flexion. vi, Control protocol where only TMS was delivered after three successive wrist extension.

4.2.5 Data analysis

Evoked EMGs for all four muscles were rectified and averaged separately. The area under curve was measured by determining the MEP onset and offset latencies for individual sweeps. MEP amplitudes were measured from averaged area under the curve for each muscle. Significant differences in MEP were assessed by performing t-tests from the mean area under the curve above baseline for individual sweeps. An ANOVA with factors recorded muscle and protocols was performed to assess changes at the population level, with subsequent pairwise testing as required (t-tests). Changes after the intervention were expressed as a percentage of the measurement before and the averaged response from all subjects were plotted and compared for all six protocols (two intervention and four control). The number of subjects showing significant facilitation, suppression or no change were also plotted. Changes were considered significant with a threshold of P<0.05. All analyses were performed using custom scripts in the MATLAB environment (Mathworks Inc, Natick, USA).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Flexion imagination with simultaneous TMS increased MEP amplitude

Figure 4.2(A-B) shows examples of rectified averaged responses before and after each protocol in a single subject for four muscles that I recorded; FDS, EDC, APB and 1DI.

The black traces represent the average response of 20 basline MEP traces recorded before and red traces represents the average response of 60 after-MEP traces recorded after each test.

The MEP in FDS increased significantly after paired flexion imagination and TMS in the first protocol (Fig. 4.2A). Example of averaged data from before and after recordings in a single subject showed a significant increase in the MEP area (151%, P<0.01, Fig. 4.2A, TMS+Flexion imagination) in FDS when the subject was asked to imagine wrist flexion and received TMS simultaneously. For the same test, similar facilitatory effect was found in APB and 1DI with an increase of 104% (P<0.03) and 129% (P<0.03) respectively, both of which were less than the increase found in FDS (151%). The facilitation was smaller in EDC than all other muscles and accounted for only 37.01% (P<0.02) increase.





The dotted line indicates the TMS onset. Black trace=MEP before, red trace=MEP after. *, P<0.05. A, Average rectified MEP traces recorded from FDS muscle. MEP increased significantly after testing TMS+Flexion Imagination protocol. Significant suppression was noticed in this subject after TMS following extension protocol. B, Similar traces as in (A), but for EDC muscle. MEP increased significantly after testing both TMS+Flexion and TMS+Extension Imagination protocols. C, Similar traces for APB muscle. MEP increased significantly after TMS+Flexion Imagination protocol, and decreased significantly after Flexion imagination protocol. D, Similar traces for 1DI. MEP increased significantly after TMS+Flexion Imagination protocol. The accumulated result from all subjects for the protocol showed that 90 paired TMS with flexion MI (TMS+flexion MI) sufficient to increase the MEPs in the FDS muscle significantly (P<0.002) with an average 189% rise (Fig. 4.3A). For this protocol, a significant facilitatory effect was seen in eight out of ten participants.



Figure 4.3. Group results for all muscles after delivery of each protocol.

A-D, Mean changes (expressed as percentage of baseline MEP) in the MEP were plotted in the top bars. Bottom staked bar plots show number of subjects with observed effects. Black=significant facilitation, grey=significant suppression, white=no change. *, P<0.05; A, Results for FDS after running all six protocols. Significant facilitation occurred in the TMS+Flexion imagination protocol. B, Results for EDC after running all six protocols. Significant facilitation occurred in the TMS+Extension imagination protocol. C,D, Results for APB and 1DI respectively; significant facilitation occurred only in the TMS+Flexion imagination protocol in both of the muscles.

Averaged data from all ten subjects for the other three muscles reflected the over picture seen in the example tracings (Figure 4.2). I found significant increase in MEP area both in the APB (P<0.01) and 1DI (P<0.01) muscles, with an overall increase of 165.49% and 144.40% respectively, producing facilitation smaller than that was observed in FDS. For APB, nine subjects out of ten showed some degree of facilitation, in which five subjects accounted for significant increase in MEPs. Eight subjects out of ten exhibited a tendency of facilitation in 1DI using the same paradigm, three of them were with significant changes.

A mixed pattern of changes was observed in the antagonist muscle EDC after simultaneous flexion imagination and activation of motor cortex with TMS. Although six subjects showed facilitation, five of which were significant, the other four subjects showed a decrease in the MEP, two of which were significant. In this case, when all the data from 10 subjects were pulled, the overall change in MEP was not significant (P>0.1) in EDC.

4.3.2 Extension Imagination with simultaneous TMS increased MEP amplitude in the extensor muscle

For the second sets of experiments (TMS+ Extension Imagination), averaged example tracings from a single subject showed a significant 26% increase in MEP in EDC when TMS was paired with MI (P<0.02, Fig 4.2B). Contrary to the first intervention protocol (TMS+Flexion Imagination), the other muscles here did not follow the similar pattern of facilitation in this case, rather MEP in FDS went down to 44.62% in the after the

intervention which was a significant (P<0.02) decrease. ABP and 1D1 did not show any significant changes in this case.

In the accumulated data for TMS+Extension Imagination, all ten participants showed significant facilitation in the EDC muscle both individually and combinedly, with an average160% increase (P<0.002, Fig. 4.3B). Averaged data showed that there was no significant change in any of the other three muscles. A few indivuals showed significant facilitation or suppression in FDS, APB or 1DI randomly, which was unremarkable.

4.3.3 Motor Imagery or TMS alone caused no consistent changes

In my third (Flexion Imagination) and fourth (Extension Imagination) protocols, subjects performed only MI of wrist flexion and extension without TMS. The before and after MEP responses for all four muscles were compared as shown in the example recording from a single subject in Figure 4.2 (A-D).

In the example subject, the first trace (Fig. 4.2A) for Flexion Imagination shows a significant decrease in the MEP amplitude in FDS (P<0.0001), which was a 72.22% reduction, but this subject was one of the two subjects who showed a reduced response after Flexion Imagination only. Recordings from EDC and 1DI showed no changes. APB tracing of MEP showed a significant decrease (P<.002) of 125.19%. Again, this subject was among the two subjects who showed suppression in APB muscle response in this test.

Example traces from the same subject after extension imagination protocol did not show changes in MEP amplitude in any muscle.

The overall result for all ten subjects are plotted in Figure 4.3 (A-D) for Flexion Imagination and Extension Imagination; both which were control protocols. For Flexion Imagination, there was no significant increase in MEP in any of the ten subjects. No consisted changes were found for Extension Imagination protocol either.

I tested the effect of TMS alone in the TMS-following-Flexion and TMS-following-Extension protocols. For TMS-following-Flexion, example recordings from a single subject (Fig. 4.2 A-D) tracings showed no changes in any of the four muscles. The same subject showed 77.23% decrease (P<0.01) in averaged MEP amplitude in FDS after 90 TMS-following-extension input and was the only subject showing such changes.

Figure 4.3 (A-D) shows the overall result of ten subjects for TMS-following-flexion and TMS-following-extension control protocols. No consistent changes were found in those two control protocols, except for 1DI, where two subjects showed significant facilitation. I assume this is spurious due to multiple comparisons.

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Motor imagery with synchronized TMS induced plasticity

The present data demonstrate that MI significantly influences excitability in the motor cortex, which is consistent with many previous observations (Fadiga et al., 1998, Kasai et al., 1997, Rossini et al., 1999). It is possible that movement specific MI activates related areas in the premotor and motor cortex and the increases overall cortical drive resulting in a 'subtreshold' state. This can increase the overall corticospinal excitability without necessarily firing the alpha motor neuron and the related muscle does not become functional until a motor command is executed (Yahagi and Kasai, 1998). Preactivation of areas in the motor and premotor cortex in the presence of mental representation of action was found from works in monkey and human. The premotor cortex (F5) is known for imagery representation (Murata et al., 1997) and the mirror neurons can be triggered by visual action recognition (Gallese et al., 1996). Automatic retrieval of motor action by observation was previously seen in human where the excitability of the motor system was increased simply by observing a similar action performed by another person (Fadiga et al., 1995, Rizzolatti et al., 1996). An altered state of excitability or subliminal activation of the motor cortex induced by mental simulation or MI has been also documented by measuring MEP in many previous and recent studies (Rozand et al., 2014, Braun et al., 2003, Li et al., 2009). This natural phenomenon of covert activation of the cortical and subcortical network at a subthreshold state by MI was utilized in this study as a key concept to induce a lasting effect in the corticospinal output in conjunction with another non-invasive stimulation.

It is now well established that Paired Associative Stimulation (PAS) and several Repetitive Transcranial Stimulations protocols can effectively induce plasticity at cortical, and arguably at subcortical level, which affects final motor output once EPSP is generated at pyramidal cells in the motor cortex. In standard PAS protocol, an afferent input is delivered before the TMS at motor cortex within a favourable window of time to modulate of LTP or LTD in a manner consistent with STDP mechanism (Stefan et al., 2000). Conversely, in an ideal rTMS protocol, intermittent theta burst stimulation is utilized to modulate cortical excitability (Huang et al., 2005). Intermittent rTMS is also known to induce LTP/LTD mediated plasticity in the motor cortex. As per recent evidence, both PAS and rTMS modulations are regulated by NMDA receptors/Ca²⁺ influx at synaptic level and can cause persistent changes in synaptic excitability in the pyramidal cells, especially in the dendritic projections (Huang et al., 2017, Sjöström et al., 2008). Since MI is capable of activating several interconnected areas in the premotor and motor cortex, it is possible that onset of MI induced sub-threshold activation of motor cortex allows convergence of stimulus input at the cortex once paired with TMS. This can induce synaptic changes consistent with LTP mechanism. In this case, instead of an afferent input, MI served functionally comparable purpose (presynaptic input for LTP) and the readiness of the motor cortex for the burst of action potentials for an anticipated movement was synchronized with TMS input. These results showing modulation of cortical excitability after paired MI and TMS might share a comparable mechanism of inducing plasticity explained in the PAS techniques.

Some might argue that the repetition of wrist flexion or extension prior to the intervention (MI+TMS) might have induced some plasticity in the motor cortex as evidenced by (Classen et al., 1998). If this was the case, similar changes would be observed in the MEP after delivery of the control protocols which either used MI or TMS only following similar repetitive flexion or extension. On the other hand it was quite important to achieve a consistent level of MI performance among subjects to quantify any changes after paired MI+TMS paradigms (Lebon et al., 2012, Helm et al., 2015).

4.4.2 Task specificity and biased plasticity in the flexor and intrinsic hand muscles vs extensor

TMS during flexion imagination was able to increase the drive in the motor-cortical output observed as an increase in the MEP amplitudes of all three flexor muscles. Interestingly, TMS with extension imagination increased responses specifically towards the extensor muscle, but not in the flexor muscles I tested. The flexion MI of wrist increased MEP in the FDS muscle the most and to some extent in other muscles and caused facilitation in the EDC muscle only in few subjects with no significance in the accumulated result. Conversely, wrist extension imagination significantly facilitated the response specifically towards the EDC muscle in all subjects, but not in the other muscles. Task-related variability in corticospinal excitability was known from previous works in monkeys (Baker et al., 1995, Lemon et al., 1986). In a recent study, Zaaimi et al. (2018) found that with task-specific direct cortical stimulation most sites in the motor cortex activate either elbow flexors or extensors, not both. Therefore, task-specific MI would be expected to recruit non-overlapping sets of corticospinal cells. During TMS, the activation of movement specific subpopulation is higher than the diffused recruitment. MI induced enhancement is also known to show specific representation at least in the contralateral motor cortex (Li, 2007, Facchini et al., 2002). My findings are in agreement with the previous findings where MI modulated corticospinal excitability was more noticeable in the target muscle than non-targeted muscles (Li, 2007). However, it cannot be rejected that wrist MI can also produce a diffuse effect and coactivates other projection areas representing distal hand muscles (Porter and Lemon, 1993). The somatotopic gradient of the motor cortex and the subliminal co-activation of other muscles during a specific task related imagination (flexion MI in FDS) can explain the diffused facilitation found in other muscles (APB, 1DI and EDC) in this case. Although the 'enslaving effect' (Danion et al., 2000) can explain the occurrence of low to moderate plastic changes in the other muscles during the flexion imagination task, it was not quite the observed effect seen in the extension imagination protocol. Only significant enhancement was noticed in the muscle of target, EDC in this case. I argue that the hierarchy of plasticity in human forearm and hand muscles play a role here. In another study (Ref: Chapter Two), I have found that LTP and LTD mediated plasticity is more prominent in APB, 1DI, and FDS than in EDC in certain conditions; which is consistent with the results observed from this study. The biased tendency of plasticity in the forearm flexor and hand muscle outputs is also seen in post-stroke patients where spasticity develops specifically in the flexor and hand muscles accompanied by extensor weakness.

This result emphasizes that there is a substrate for lasting plastic changes somewhere in the cortical, subcortical or spinal level which shows a tendency to favour the forearm flexor and hand muscle more than the extensor.

4.4.3 The site of Plastic changes

My results show that change in the excitability in the motor cortex or corticospinal tract output can be initiated by MI. The observed changes in the MEP reflect synaptic reorganization or changes in excitability at the cortical or subcortical level after repeated application of paired MI and TMS at motor cortex. This finding is consistent with several previous TMS and fMRI studies that found that the motor cortex can be activated by MI (Lotze et al., 1999, Kraus et al., 2018). However, controversy exists regarding the relative contribution of TMS and MI in the various levels of cortical and subcortical excitability. MEP responses evoked by TMS only do not provide a clear view about the relative contributions of the motor cortex, brainstem, spinal pools of motor and interneurons in inducing plasticity. Li et al. (2004) observed that MI has a role in modulating spinal stretch reflex pathways. They found that MI increased the EMG response during the event of muscle stretch reflex and suggested that short latency response in these muscles were greatly facilitated by MI (Li et al., 2004). It is possible that MI that activates motor cortex also sends descending inputs to spinal reflex pathways (Pierrot-Deseilligny and Lacert, 1973, Gandevia et al., 1997). Augmentation of H-reflex by mental rehearsal without any change in the fusimotor drive supports the idea that facilitation of excitability at subcortical or spinal level could be an outcome of MI (Gandevia et al., 1997, Bonnet et al., 1997).

On the contrary, (Hashimoto and Rothwell, 1999) suggested a dynamic effect of MI in the motor cortex similar to those found during actual movement as no MI-related changes in the H-reflex were found in their study. Others reported a reduction in the spinal excitability evidenced by reduced H-reflex during mental movement simulation found in human (Oishi et al., 1994, Yahagi et al., 1996). During MI, the presence of an inhibitory influence operating in the spinal level preventing depolarization of motor neurons cannot be excluded. A dual mechanism might co-exist affecting the spinal excitability: a subthreshold drive to move in the presence of increased corticospinal tract output and a subsequent inhibitory influence preventing an actual motor discharge (Jeannerod, 2001). It can be argued that if plastic changes occur in the corticospinal connection or motor cortex, the drive towards the spinal level can also be stronger to eventually overcome any inhibitory effect. This also explains the reduction of motor threshold and increased the amplitude of MEP during MI in TMS. It is not impossible that the activation of the motor cortex, altered corticospinal excitability, the inhibitory effect of spinal interneurons and subliminal activation of spinal motoneurons contributed together and resulted in metaplastic changes after combined MI and TMS.

4.4.4 LTP/LDP mediated plasticity change:

My proposed hypothesis to induce plastic changes utilizing MI and combined TMS is based on the classic phenomenon seen in Paired Associative Stimulation protocols, where TMS is paired with an afferent electrical stimulation to modify plasticity in a manner consistent with LTP and LTD (Stefan et al., 2000). I speculate that the plasticity induced by simultaneous TMS and MI may have observed a similar effect. In this case though, instead of an afferent input, MI served functionally comparable purpose (presynaptic input for LTP), where some of the motoneuron pools in the motor cortex or SMA were pre-activated by the mental simulation of movement. In this case, the functional readiness of the motor cortex for the imminent burst of action potentials for an anticipated movement was synchronized with TMS input and resulted in a corticospinal drive sufficient to activate the spinal motor neurons or sufficient to overcome the spinal inhibition (which normally prevents any overt movement during MI). My results show a lasting effect of changes in the corticospinal tract excitability after the paired intervention and those changes were mostly task-specific.

4.4.5 Motor imagery and rehabilitation:

The ability successfully to imagine a movement relies on the internal action representation of the brain. In the past, the question emerged of whether patients with

significant brain damage preserve this internal representation for successful MI, or if the brain loses the ability to imagine a specified task to a significant extent. Since intact parietal cortex is important for generating MI representations, it was found that patients with lesioned parietal cortex struggled to predict the time properly for differentiated finger movement tasks (Sirigu et al., 1996). Later on, it was found that acute or chronic hemiplegic patients were able to use motor imagery to activate partially damaged motor networks (Johnson, 2000, Johnson et al., 2002), suggesting the ability of the brain to retain the motor representations in the event of loss of function. In recent years, with the notion that central processing of imagined movement involves interconnected regions of the brain including the motor cortex, SMA or frontal cortices, MI alone or in conjunction with other measures has increasingly been used to help motor recovery in patients with neurologic disorders. Particularly, the feasibility of using MI as a tool to recover limb functions after brain lesion has been studied extensively. A number of pilot studies and patient trials reported a positive outcomes of MI implementations (Page et al., 2005, Liu et al., 2004, Crosbie et al., 2004, Page et al., 2001, Dijkerman et al., 2004, Jackson et al., Mulder, 2007, Sharma et al., 2006). More recently, MI has been reported to improved motor performance in spinal cord injury patients with quadriplegia (Grangeon et al., 2010, Mateo et al., 2015). One crucial aspect of rehabilitation is to reorganize the motor system network (Jones, 2000) by inducing activity dependent plasticity in the motor cortex (Jones, 1993, Florence et al., 1998), brainstem (Fisher et al., 2012, Foysal et al., 2016) or spinal cord (Wolpaw and Tennissen, 2001, Dunlop, 2008). Until now, MI has only been used as a passive way to activate motor connections in the absence of an actual movement or in conjunction with other physical training, physiotherapy or behavioural therapy. My result suggests that robust plastic changes in corticospinal tract excitability could be induced using specially designed protocols of MI in conjunction with TMS to aid in motor recovery. The most interesting and crucial finding of my study was the occurrence of task-dependent plastic changes, where extension imagination task significantly increased plasticity specifically towards the extensor muscle. Although I have seen a diffuse pattern of change during the flexion imagination task, where significant plasticity changes were also observed in other muscles, a flexor-extensor bias might be an inherent nature of plasticity development. Since most post-stroke patients develop spasticity in the upper limb flexor muscles and weakness in the extensors, a targeted synchronized TMS+MI protocol designed to strengthen the weak muscles might prove useful in regaining hand functions.

Chapter V CONCLUSION

It is now well established that the adaptability and plasticity at various levels of motor control contribute to shaping motor behaviour, skill acquisition and recovery after neurological lesions. The idea of changing plasticity by strengthening of existing connections through cascades of metabolic process or growth was first introduced by Ramón y Cajal (1935) and later theoretically proposed by Donald Hebb (Hebb, 1949) in his postulate. His basic concept about plasticity was "cells that fire together wire together", which has been later supported by a vast amount of scientific experiments. The adaptability of motor nervous system in humans is not confined to motor cortex but also extends to the brainstem, subcortical projections, interneuron connections and extracellular space.

There are multiple factors affecting motor plasticity, and it relies on feedforward inputs from central cortex or periphery. Example of such factors includes sensory input deprivation, functional deprivation, usage and correlation, motor learning and practice, compensatory mechanism after a lesion and even artificial stimulations triggering STDP type response.

STDP mechanism has Hebbian-like (Kempter et al., 1999, Turrigiano and Nelson, 2000) computational properties that allow predicting direction and level of synaptic plasticity induced by stimulation protocols. Evidence from a number of experiments indicate that repeated pairing of precisely timed pre- and postsynaptic action potentials can lead to lasting changes in synaptic remodelling, the efficacy of which depends on magnitude, frequency and timing of the pre-synaptic potential and EPSP (Debanne et al., 1998, Bi and Poo, 1998, Feldman, 2000, Egger et al., 1999, Zhang et al., 1998).

The outcome of remapping and reorganization in synaptic space by exploiting STDP like protocols is also influenced by its temporal symmetry/asymmetry that governs the strengthening or weakening of the connections (Levy and Steward, 1983, Sjöström et al., 2008, Kempter et al., 1999). Strengthening can occur by LTP in a paired stimulation protocol when repeatedly occurring presynaptic spikes precedes EPSP within 25ms (symmetric STDP) or 50ms (asymmetric STDP) each time. On the other hand, repeated

EPSP preceding presynaptic spikes within a window relatively longer than the LTP window or similar, causes LTD mediated weakening of the connection (Song and Abbott, 2001). This mechanism is consistent with the results from my study where precisely timed paired stimulation was delivered using a wearable electronic device. When an afferent input by stimulating biceps muscle motor point was delivered 10ms prior click stimulation, it induced a presynaptic potential before click stimulation could evoke an EPSP within the specified window of time. Repeated delivery of this paired stimulation strengthened the output towards biceps muscle significantly as indexed by an increase in the amplitude of the stretch reflex output. Conversely, when EPSP evoked by click preceded the afferent input repeatedly, it resulted in the weakening of the connection towards biceps muscle, which was reflected by a reduction of amplitude in the stretch reflex output. Since the facilitation or suppression was observed mostly in the long latency part of the stretch reflex, and click stimulation is known to activate reticular cells, it is likely that induction of plasticity took place in the reticular area, but excitability changes in the motor cortex cannot be excluded.

The STDP model synaptic plasticity by modulating LTP-LDP supports most aspects of the results observed in my other studies. A number of previous studies used various paired protocols using PAS techniques, where presynaptic potential in motor cortex or in the subcortical space, was generated before a direct cortical stimulation that evoked EPSP (Stefan et al., 2000, Ridding et al., 2000). In a comparable setup, I tested 30 subjects with a motor point stimulation to either flexor or extensor to induce presynaptic action potential prior eliciting EPSP with the application of TMS and this was repeated 90 times, resulting in a strengthening of the motor outputs towards flexor and distal hand muscles.

It remained a question that exactly how this kind of reorganization was achieved. Underlying mechanisms of cortical and subcortical plasticity are widely diversified. Cellular plasticity can be a physiological mechanism where existing neurons and synapses are reorganized to such extent that alters the functional outcome, or it can be a structural mechanism where modification occurs by morphological changes, deletion or formation of new synapses, the formation of dendritic projections or even reorganization in extra-cellular components can occur for rewiring a connection. Well accepted models calls for a cellular mechanism which largely depends of NMDA (N-methyl-d-aspartate) receptor or Ca²⁺ channel dependent LTP and LTD, where rapid

influx of Ca²⁺ occurs through NMDA receptors and rises concentration of Ca²⁺ in dendritic spine triggering a cascade of intracellular mechanism (Malenka and Bear, 2004, Malenka et al., 1992, Yasuda et al., 2003). A number of modulators are already known to trigger such intracellular cascades favouring NMDAR-dependent LTP like mechanism, for example calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) (Lisman et al., 2002), protein kinase M zeta (PKME) (Hrabetova and Sacktor, 1996), mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) (Sweatt, 2004), phosphatidylinositol 3kinase (PI3 kinase), tyrosine kinase Src and some others (Malenka and Bear, 2004). While comparing distinctive features of LTP induced by STDP, theta-burst and spike pairing techniques in the barrel cortex of calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (α CaMKII)^{T286A} mutant mice, Hardingham et al. (2003) found that none of those three protocols could trigger LTP in the knocked out mice, whereas all those protocols successfully induced plasticity in wild mice. Their result suggested that STDP or other stimuli-triggered plasticity protocols depend on aCaMKII autophosphorylation for inducing synaptic reorganization at the cellular level. Also, Lu et al. (2007) suggested that activation of mGluR1a receptor and inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3) receptormediated Ca2+ elevation are also required for inducing LTP like plasticity in fast spiking pyramidal cells, where the critical window of time is more supportive of a symmetric model of SPTD than the temporal asymmetry. Neurotrophins, such as BDNF, are also regarded as modulatory factors that can influence synaptic plasticity (Poo, 2001).

On the other hand, the cellular mechanism of LTD is known to be regulated mainly by the presence, quantity, and trafficking of another ligand-gated ion channels AMPA (alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid) receptors in the plasma membrane (Bredt and Nicoll, 2003, Soderling and Derkach, 2000). NMDA-receptor dependent LTD is triggered when $Ca^2+/CaMKII$ activates dephosphorization of GluR1 subunit on AMPA receptors and initiates delivery of tagged AMPA receptors into synapses (Feldman et al., 1998, Hayashi et al., 2000).

I used a modified PAS technique in my second study. The hypothesis of inducing plasticity by changing cortical excitability using PAS protocols was extensively tested by Stefane et al (2000). In their study, conducted in human, they applied TMS

stimulation to the primary motor cortex (M1) at rest and during sustained voluntary contraction (active state), which was paired with low frequency median nerve stimulation. They recorded MEP generated from abductor pollicis brevis (APB) muscle (Stefan et al., 2000) before and after the test. Evidenced by a number or previous studies (Baranyi and Szente, 1987, Baranyi et al., 1991, Iriki et al., 1989, Hess et al., 1996), they tested the possibility of inducing long term potentiation (LTP) in the cortical horizontal or vertical fibres by delivering low frequency peripheral stimulation eliciting somatosensory afferent volley which was paired with action potential generated by TMS at motor cortex. They delivered 90 pairs of TMS and median nerve stimulation near the wrist joint at a rate of 0.05Hz with a condition where peripheral input preceded TMS by 25ms. To measure and compare any effect of paired stimulation protocol applied at resting state, they delivered 20 TMS stimulation to motor cortex before and after the intervention at a rate of 0.01Hz and simultaneously recorded surface EMG from APB during complete resting condition. Their protocol significantly increased the resting MEP amplitude after the intervention (Stefan et al., 2000). Induced plasticity lasted for about 30 to 60 minutes which proved it was not merely a short term or post tetanic potentiation. This plasticity, which could be generated even with a few paired stimulations, persisted for about 24 hours in a few subjects, which makes it more likely to be LTP mediated. Rapid changes in membrane excitability could also be responsible for the observed effect (Aou et al., 1992, Stefan et al., 2000).

However, they proposed that the induced plasticity using associative long-term potentiation, or any closely related neuronal mechanism reflected changes in the cortical synapses. Their speculation was those changes could occur at cortical level through TMS activation of vertical or horizontal intracortical fibers (Rothwell, 1997) and generation of a subsequent EPSP. In short, the driving part of the Stefan's (2000) PAS technique was to induce LTP or LTD by means STDP mechanism (Song et al., 2000). Synaptic modification by STDP can be stated as a neuronal process where two separate inputs are paired in a way that both arrives at a neuronal circuit within a short space of time in a specific sequence. By this way synaptic connectivity in that circuit can be changed and this modification can sustain for a considerable duration, and this also allows strengthening or weakening the related connections (Wolters et al., 2003, Ridding and Rothwell, 2007, Markram et al., 1997). Depending on protocols, the connection can be potentiated if the second input comes within a few milliseconds after

the first stimulation (excitatory post synaptic potential) or synchronously with the first stimuli. Or, the connection can be weakened if the excitatory post synaptic potential fails to reach within the specific window of times. In Stefan's PAS experiment, the most effective inter-stimulus interval (25ms) was selected in such a manner that the afferent volley from the median nerve stimulation (near wrist joint) would arrive at motor cortex at least a few milliseconds before TMS evoked EPSP (Stefan et al., 2000). Later, some researchers carried out the successful implementation of PAS protocols, but the debate still exists whether it induces plasticity in cortical or subcortical space.

In one of my studies, application of intermittent high frequency rTMS (within safety limit) induced significant changes in cortical excitability and MEP amplitude increased in all four muscles tested. As initially suggested by Huang et al. (2005), and like many other plasticity inducing synaptic remodelling, NMDA receptor/Ca²⁺ dependent LTPlike mechanism explains this facilitatory effect. To confirm this, (Huang et al., 2007) performed a double blind, placebo controlled study where they used NMDA receptor antagonist memantine. After blocking the NMDA receptors, a similar protocol of intermittent rTMS failed to induce changes in MEP amplitudes. This further supports the notion that relatively high frequency intermittent rTMS can modulate cortical excitability in a manner consistent with the LTP-like mechanism. One important difference between PAS and intermittent rTMS induced cortical excitability was that, the former required a precisely timed pre and post synaptic events and followed the principles of STDP, whereas the later delivered only a series of intermittent cortical input at a certain frequency. Recently, it has been found that PAS induced LTP can be blocked by L-type voltage gated Ca2+ channels (VGCC) blocker nimodipine and can be reverted into LTD using T-type VGCC blocker ethosuximide (Weise et al., 2017).

Contrary to this, nimodipine (L-type blocker) turned the facilitation induced by rTMS into depression but ethosuximide (T-type blocker) only blocked the facilitatory effect of rTMS (Wankerl et al., 2010). T-type VGCC are abundant in apical dendrites and spines, whereas L-type VGCC are mostly found near the soma of cortical neurons. Activation of L-type VGCC are known to amplify STDP by enabling backpropagating action potentials in dendrites (Williams and Stuart, 2000), a key condition required for STDP like LTP. It has been further evidenced by Magee and Johnston (1997), that

pairing of subthreshold EPSP with backpropagating action potentials induced strong dendritic action potentials and increased Ca^{2+} influx, a condition specifically favouring STDP. Therefore, blocking L-type receptors can also block the effect of PAS and other similarly paired stimulation protocols. On the other hand, apical dendrites of cortical pyramidal cells are likely to play a crucial role in rTMS mediated LTP, since the blockade of T-type VGCC resulted in lack of facilitation (Weise et al., 2017). A reduction in Ca^{2+} dependent GABAergic synaptic strength and remodelling of postsynaptic gephyrin scaffolds were observed after application of 10Hz repetitive magnetic stimulation in pyramidal neurons during an in vitro study by Lenz et al. (2016). They also noticed a similar reduction of clustered gephyrin in rTMS treated mice. It was suggested that rTMS possibly modulates GABAergic synaptic strengths at dendritic synapses (Lenz and Vlachos, 2016) and repetitive magnetic stimulation strengthens glutamatergic synaptic strength along with the structural reorganization of dendritic tree (Vlachos et al., 2012).

STDP mediated LTP and LTD are also dependent on other factors, including target cell type (Lu et al., 2007), synaptic competition (Song et al., 2000), co-operativity (Sjostrom et al., 2001), coincidence of presynaptic and postsynaptic activity resulting in opposite effect (Holmgren and Zilberter, 2001), activity dependent refinement (Butts et al., 2007) and spike pattern (Markram et al., 1997). Dendritic structure, location and excitability also play a key role in LTP/LTD modulation; and the non-linearity and variable nature of STDP mechanism is also known to be influenced by dendritic projections (Froemke et al., 2005, Kampa et al., 2007, Letzkus et al., 2006, Sjöström et al., 2008). In conclusion, multifactorial properties of STDP mediated LTP/LTD, differences in NMDA receptors affecting cortical excitability induced by stimulation protocols, reliance on feedforward afferent input and non-overlapped activation of selective areas controlling selective muscle groups in the motor cortex might explain, at cellular context, the underlying mechanism of biased facilitation towards flexor and distal hand muscle observed in my experiments. The requirement of the backpropagating dendritic potential for STDP like LTP could also be an alternate explanation of why flexorextensor differences were seen only in PAS or motor imagery protocols but not in rTMS protocol.

It is worth mentioning that the site of induced plasticity or excitability is also crucial in the observed results in my experiments, which was explained in relevant chapters.

According to my results, the STDP protocols used to provide paired stimulation from a wearable electronic device affected cortical excitability along with subcortical structures, including the reticulospinal connections, whereas the PAS protocols utilizing motor point stimulation as afferent input and TMS as cortical input possibly affected cortical excitability primarily, but a subcortical effect cannot be excluded. As evidenced by (Fisher et al., 2012), TMS at motor cortex is capable of sending a volley towards reticular formation. Hence it can be argued that paired TMS protocols with an afferent input might influence reticular or other subcortical connections parallelly. Since motor imagery cannot be regarded as a direct afferent input, it can be rather explained as a preconditioning stimulation where motor cortex awaits in subthreshold level to trigger an EPSP upon complete activation. I also observed a similarly biased facilitation in motor cortical excitability in the forearm flexor and hand muscles using simultaneous motor imagery and TMS. All these observations support the idea that somewhere lies an inherent difference between agonist vs. antagonist muscle groups which also affects the reorganization at cortical and subcortical level. A subtle but crucial influence of reticulospinal connections might amplify those differences to some extent in healthy person but to a great extent during recovery or artificial induction of plasticity.

Finally, much of the above explanations relied on previous evidence but most speculations made in this thesis were based on the observed effects from the studies I conducted. To learn the exact cellular and synaptic mechanism of induced plasticity or change in excitability, or to know the specific cortical and subcortical connections mediating to those changes at the cellular level, further research and exploration are required.

Most of my experiments and protocols were designed to emphasize the translational aspects of neuroscience. My first experiment utilized a wearable electronic device to provide paired pulse stimulation and to test the possibility of strengthening or weakening motor connections to upper limb muscles, especially after corticospinal lesion. It was the first demonstration that the long-latency stretch reflex can be modified by repeated, the precisely-timed pairing of stimuli known to activate brainstem pathways. Furthermore, the pairing was achieved with a portable electronic device capable of delivering many more stimulus repetitions than conventional laboratory

studies. These findings open up new possibilities for basic research into underinvestigated pathways, which are important for motor control in healthy individuals. This study can also lead to paradigms capable of enhancing rehabilitation in patients recovering from damage, such as after stroke or spinal cord injury. A similar device and technique were later utilized to deliver a paired stimulation paradigm in a double bind placebo-controlled study at the Institute of Neuroscience Kolkata. A total of 96 stroke patients with corticospinal lesion were divided into three separate groups. The first group received paired stimulation protocol (stimulation to forearm extensor-intervalclick) for a prolonged period, the second group received random stimulation for the same duration, and the third group did not receive any stimulation. Only the group receiving paired stimulation showed significant improvement in the Action Research Arm Test (ARAT).

The modified PAS protocol using motor point stimulation and TMS can also be useful in translational, clinical and rehabilitation programmes as delivering stimulation over muscle was proven to be less complicated and practical than providing stimulation at a specific nerve. The motor imagery and TMS protocol also have translation aspect and it was the first demonstration that paired motor imagery and TMS is capable of inducing lasting plasticity at cortical or subcortical level. Overall, these results give insights into the nature of plastic reorganization in the motor system which might help to design appropriate protocols to be utilized in rehabilitation, motor learning, skill training or psychotherapy.

References

- ABBRUZZESE, G., BERARDELLI, A., ROTHWELL, J. C., DAY, B. L. & MARSDEN, C. D. 1985. Cerebral potentials and electromyographic responses evoked by stretch of wrist muscles in man. *Exp Brain Res*, 58, 544-51.
- ABBRUZZESE, G. & TROMPETTO, C. 2017. Motor Evoked Potential A. *Reference Module in Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Psychology.* Elsevier.
- ABBRUZZESE, G., TROMPETTO, C. & SCHIEPPATI, M. 1996. The excitability of the human motor cortex increases during execution and mental imagination of sequential but not repetitive finger movements. *Exp Brain Res*, 111, 465-72.
- ALLISON, T., MCCARTHY, G., WOOD, C. C., DARCEY, T. M., SPENCER, D. D. & WILLIAMSON, P. D. 1989. Human cortical potentials evoked by stimulation of the median nerve. II. Cytoarchitectonic areas generating short-latency activity. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 62, 694-710.
- ANDERSON, S. W., DAMASIO, H. & TRANEL, D. 1990. Neuropsychological impairments associated with lesions caused by tumor or stroke. *Archives of neurology*, 47, 397-405.
- AOU, S., WOODY, C. D. & BIRT, D. 1992. Increases in excitability of neurons of the motor cortex of cats after rapid acquisition of eye blink conditioning. *J Neurosci*, 12, 560-9.
- ARTIEDA, J., QUESADA, P. & OBESO, J. A. 1991. Reciprocal inhibition between forearm muscles in spastic hemiplegia. *Neurology*, 41, 286-286.
- ASANUMA, H. & HUNSPERGER, R. W. 1975. Functional significance of projection from the cerebellar nuclei to the motor cortex in the cat. *Brain research*, 98, 73-92.
- ASANUMA, H., LARSEN, K. & YUMIYA, H. 1980. Peripheral input pathways to the monkey motor cortex. *Exp Brain Res*, 38, 349-55.
- ASANUMA, H., LARSEN, K. D. & YUMIYA, H. 1979. Receptive fields of thalamic neurons projecting to the motor cortex in the cat. *Brain Res*, 172, 217-28.
- AVENANTI, A., COCCIA, M., LADAVAS, E., PROVINCIALI, L. & CERAVOLO, M. G. 2012. Low-frequency rTMS promotes use-dependent motor plasticity in chronic stroke. *A randomized trial*.
- BAKER, S. N. 2011. The primate reticulospinal tract, hand function and functional recovery. *J Physiol*, 589, 5603-12.
- BAKER, S. N., OLIVIER, E. & LEMON, R. N. 1995. Task-related variation in corticospinal output evoked by transcranial magnetic stimulation in the macaque monkey. *J Physiol*, 488 (Pt 3), 795-801.
- BAKER, S. N., ZAAIMI, B., FISHER, K. M., EDGLEY, S. A. & SOTEROPOULOS, D. S. 2015. Pathways mediating functional recovery. *Prog Brain Res*, 218, 389-412.
- BARANYI, A. & SZENTE, M. B. 1987. Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission requires postsynaptic modifications in the neocortex. *Brain Res*, 423, 378-84.
- BARANYI, A., SZENTE, M. B. & WOODY, C. D. 1991. Properties of associative long-lasting potentiation induced by cellular conditioning in the motor cortex of conscious cats. *Neuroscience*, 42, 321-334.
- BARKER, A. T., JALINOUS, R. & FREESTON, I. L. 1985. Non-invasive magnetic stimulation of human motor cortex. *Lancet*, 1, 1106-7.
- BAYKOUSHEVA-MATEVA, V. & MANDALIEV, A. 1993. Artificial feedforward as preparatory motor control in postictal hemiparesis. *Electromyography and clinical neurophysiology*, 34, 445-448.
- BEER, R. F., DEWALD, J. P. & RYMER, W. Z. 2000. Deficits in the coordination of multijoint arm movements in patients with hemiparesis: evidence for disturbed control of limb dynamics. *Experimental brain research*, 131, 305-319.
- BEISTEINER, R., HOLLINGER, P., LINDINGER, G., LANG, W. & BERTHOZ, A. 1995. Mental representations of movements. Brain potentials associated with imagination of hand movements. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*, 96, 183-93.
- BELHAJ-SAÏF, A. & CHENEY, P. D. 2000. Plasticity in the distribution of the red nucleus output to forearm muscles after unilateral lesions of the pyramidal tract. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 83, 3147-3153.
- BELHAJ-SAIF, A., KARRER, J. H. & CHENEY, P. D. 1998. Distribution and characteristics of poststimulus effects in proximal and distal forelimb muscles from red nucleus in the monkey. *J Neurophysiol*, 79, 1777-89.
- BENECKE, R., MEYER, B. U. & FREUND, H. J. 1991. Reorganisation of descending motor pathways in patients after hemispherectomy and severe hemispheric lesions demonstrated by magnetic brain stimulation. *Exp Brain Res*, 83, 419-26.
- BERGQUIST, A., CLAIR, J., LAGERQUIST, O., MANG, C., OKUMA, Y. & COLLINS, D. 2011a. Neuromuscular electrical stimulation: implications of the electrically evoked sensory volley. *European journal of applied physiology*, 111, 2409-2426.
- BERGQUIST, A. J., CLAIR, J. M. & COLLINS, D. F. 2011b. Motor unit recruitment when neuromuscular electrical stimulation is applied over a nerve trunk compared with a muscle belly: triceps surae. J Appl Physiol (1985), 110, 627-37.
- BERGQUIST, A. J., WIEST, M. J. & COLLINS, D. F. 2012. Motor unit recruitment when neuromuscular electrical stimulation is applied over a nerve trunk compared with a muscle belly: quadriceps femoris. *J Appl Physiol (1985),* 113, 78-89.
- BEYER, L., WEISS, T., HANSEN, E., WOLF, A. & SEIDEL, A. 1990. Dynamics of central nervous activation during motor imagination. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 9, 75-80.
- BI, G. & POO, M. 2001. Synaptic modification by correlated activity: Hebb's postulate revisited. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 24, 139-66.
- BI, G. Q. & POO, M. M. 1998. Synaptic modifications in cultured hippocampal neurons: dependence on spike timing, synaptic strength, and postsynaptic cell type. *J Neurosci*, 18, 10464-72.
- BOAKYE, M., HUCKINS, S. C., SZEVERENYI, N. M., TASKEY, B. I. & HODGE JR, C. J. 2000. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of somatosensory cortex activity produced by electrical

stimulation of the median nerve or tactile stimulation of the index finger. *Journal of neurosurgery*, 93, 774-783.

- BONNET, M., DECETY, J., JEANNEROD, M. & REQUIN, J. 1997. Mental simulation of an action modulates the excitability of spinal reflex pathways in man. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 5, 221-228.
- BORRA, E., BELMALIH, A., GERBELLA, M., ROZZI, S. & LUPPINO, G. 2010. Projections of the hand field of the macaque ventral premotor area F5 to the brainstem and spinal cord. *J Comp Neurol*, 518, 2570-91.
- BORSOOK, D., BECERRA, L., FISHMAN, S., EDWARDS, A., JENNINGS, C. L., STOJANOVIC, M., PAPINICOLAS, L., RAMACHANDRAN, V. S., GONZALEZ, R. G. & BREITER, H. 1998. Acute plasticity in the human somatosensory cortex following amputation. *Neuroreport*, 9, 1013-1017.
- BRASIL-NETO, J., COHEN, L., PASCUAL-LEONE, A., JABIR, F., WALL, R. & HALLETT, M. 1992. Rapid reversible modulation of human motor outputs after transient deafferentation of the forearm A study with transcranial magnetic stimulation. *Neurology*, 42, 1302-1302.
- BRASIL-NETO, J. P., VALLS-SOLÈ, J., PASCUAL-LEONE, A., CAMMAROTA, A., AMASSIAN, V. E., CRACCO,
 R., MACCABEE, P., CRACCO, J., HALLETT, M. & COHEN, L. G. 1993. Rapid modulation of
 human cortical motor outputs following ischaemic nerve block. *Brain*, 116, 511-525.
- BRAUN, C., COHEN, L. G., LOTZE, M., BIRBAUMER, N. & ANDERS, S. 2003. Motor learning elicited by voluntary drive. *Brain*, 126, 866-872.
- BREDT, D. S. & NICOLL, R. A. 2003. AMPA receptor trafficking at excitatory synapses. *Neuron*, 40, 361-79.
- BROWN, T. G. & SHERRINGTON, C. S. 1912. On the Instability of a Cortical Point. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Containing Papers of a Biological Character,* 85, 250-277.
- BUFORD, J. A. & DAVIDSON, A. G. 2004. Movement-related and preparatory activity in the reticulospinal system of the monkey. *Exp Brain Res*, 159, 284-300.
- BURKE, D. & GANDEVIA, S. C. 1988. Interfering cutaneous stimulation and the muscle afferent contribution tocortical potentials. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 70, 118-125.
- BURKE, D., GRACIES, J. M., MAZEVET, D., MEUNIER, S. & PIERROT-DESEILLIGNY, E. 1992. Convergence of descending and various peripheral inputs onto common propriospinal-like neurones in man. *The Journal of Physiology*, 449, 655-671.
- BUTTS, D. A., KANOLD, P. O. & SHATZ, C. J. 2007. A burst-based "Hebbian" learning rule at retinogeniculate synapses links retinal waves to activity-dependent refinement. *PLoS Biol*, 5, e61.
- CABUNGCAL, J.-H., STEULLET, P., MORISHITA, H., KRAFTSIK, R., CUENOD, M., HENSCH, T. K. & DO, K. Q. 2013. Perineuronal nets protect fast-spiking interneurons against oxidative stress. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110, 9130.

- CALFORD, M. & TWEEDALE, R. 1991. Acute changes in cutaneous receptive fields in primary somatosensory cortex after digit denervation in adult flying fox. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 65, 178-187.
- CALFORD, M. B. & TWEEDALE, R. 1988. Immediate and chronic changes in responses of somatosensory cortex in adult flying-fox after digit amputation. *Nature*, 332, 446.
- CAPORALE, N. & DAN, Y. 2008. Spike timing-dependent plasticity: a Hebbian learning rule. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 31, 25-46.
- CARSON, R. G. & KENNEDY, N. C. 2013. Modulation of human corticospinal excitability by paired associative stimulation. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, 7.
- CARULLI, D., PIZZORUSSO, T., KWOK, J. C., PUTIGNANO, E., POLI, A., FOROSTYAK, S., ANDREWS, M. R., DEEPA, S. S., GLANT, T. T. & FAWCETT, J. W. 2010. Animals lacking link protein have attenuated perineuronal nets and persistent plasticity. *Brain*, 133, 2331-47.
- CELESIA, G. G. 1979. Somatosensory evoked potentials recorded directly from human thalamus and sm i cortical area. *Archives of Neurology*, 36, 399-405.
- CHEERAN, B., TALELLI, P., MORI, F., KOCH, G., SUPPA, A., EDWARDS, M., HOULDEN, H., BHATIA, K., GREENWOOD, R. & ROTHWELL, J. C. 2008. A common polymorphism in the brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene (BDNF) modulates human cortical plasticity and the response to rTMS. *J Physiol*, 586, 5717-25.
- CHEN, R., CORWELL, B., YASEEN, Z., HALLETT, M. & COHEN, L. G. 1998. Mechanisms of cortical reorganization in lower-limb amputees. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 18, 3443-3450.
- CHEN, X. Y., CARP, J. S., CHEN, L. & WOLPAW, J. R. 2006a. Sensorimotor cortex ablation prevents Hreflex up-conditioning and causes a paradoxical response to down-conditioning in rats. *J Neurophysiol*, 96, 119-27.
- CHEN, X. Y., CHEN, Y., CHEN, L., TENNISSEN, A. M. & WOLPAW, J. R. 2006b. Corticospinal tract transection permanently abolishes H-reflex down-conditioning in rats. *J Neurotrauma*, 23, 1705-12.
- CHEN, X. Y. & WOLPAW, J. R. 1997. Dorsal column but not lateral column transection prevents downconditioning of H reflex in rats. *J Neurophysiol*, 78, 1730-4.
- CHEN, X. Y. & WOLPAW, J. R. 2002. Probable corticospinal tract control of spinal cord plasticity in the rat. *J Neurophysiol*, 87, 645-52.
- CHEN, X. Y. & WOLPAW, J. R. 2005. Ablation of cerebellar nuclei prevents H-reflex down-conditioning in rats. *Learn Mem*, 12, 248-54.
- CHEN, Y., CHEN, X. Y., JAKEMAN, L. B., CHEN, L., STOKES, B. T. & WOLPAW, J. R. 2006c. Operant conditioning of H-reflex can correct a locomotor abnormality after spinal cord injury in rats. *J Neurosci*, 26, 12537-43.
- CHENEY, P. D. & FETZ, E. E. 1984. Corticomotoneuronal cells contribute to long-latency stretch reflexes in the rhesus monkey. *J Physiol*, 349, 249-272.

- CHOU, Y. H., HICKEY, P. T., SUNDMAN, M., SONG, A. W. & CHEN, N. K. 2015. Effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on motor symptoms in Parkinson disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Neurol*, 72, 432-40.
- CHYE, L., NOSAKA, K., MURRAY, L., EDWARDS, D. & THICKBROOM, G. 2010. Corticomotor excitability of wrist flexor and extensor muscles during active and passive movement. *Human Movement Science*, 29, 494-501.
- CIRILLO, J., LAVENDER, A. P., RIDDING, M. C. & SEMMLER, J. G. 2009. Motor cortex plasticity induced by paired associative stimulation is enhanced in physically active individuals. *J Physiol*, 587, 5831-42.
- CLASSEN, J., LIEPERT, J., WISE, S. P., HALLETT, M. & COHEN, L. G. 1998. Rapid plasticity of human cortical movement representation induced by practice. *J Neurophysiol*, 79, 1117-23.
- CLOUGH, J. F., KERNELL, D. & PHILLIPS, C. G. 1968. The distribution of monosynaptic excitation from the pyramidal tract and from primary spindle afferents to motoneurones of the baboon's hand and forearm. *J Physiol*, 198, 145-66.
- COHEN, L. G., CELNIK, P., PASCUAL-LEONE, A., CORWELL, B., FALZ, L., DAMBROSIA, J., HONDA, M., SADATO, N., GERLOFF, C., CATALA, M. D. & HALLETT, M. 1997. Functional relevance of crossmodal plasticity in blind humans. *Nature*, 389, 180-3.
- CONFORTO, A. B., KAELIN-LANG, A. & COHEN, L. G. 2002. Increase in hand muscle strength of stroke patients after somatosensory stimulation. *Ann Neurol*, 51, 122-5.
- CONTE, A., GILIO, F., IEZZI, E., FRASCA, V., INGHILLERI, M. & BERARDELLI, A. 2007. Attention influences the excitability of cortical motor areas in healthy humans. *Exp Brain Res*, 182, 109-17.
- CORDEN, D. M., LIPPOLD, O. C., BUCHANAN, K. & NORRINGTON, C. 2000. Long-latency component of the stretch reflex in human muscle is not mediated by intramuscular stretch receptors. *J Neurophysiol*, 84, 184-8.
- CROCKETT, H. & ESTRIDGE, N. 1951. Cerebral hemispherectomy. *Bulletin of the Los Angeles Neurological Societies*, 16, 71-87.
- CROSBIE, J. H., MCDONOUGH, S. M., GILMORE, D. H. & WIGGAM, M. I. 2004. The adjunctive role of mental practice in the rehabilitation of the upper limb after hemiplegic stroke: a pilot study. *Clin Rehabil*, 18, 60-8.
- DANION, F., LATASH, M. L., LI, Z. M. & ZATSIORSKY, V. M. 2000. The effect of fatigue on multifinger co-ordination in force production tasks in humans. *The Journal of Physiology*, 523, 523-532.
- DAVIDSON, A. G. & BUFORD, J. A. 2006. Bilateral actions of the reticulospinal tract on arm and shoulder muscles in the monkey: stimulus triggered averaging. *Exp Brain Res,* 173, 25-39.
- DAVIS, M., GENDELMAN, D. S., TISCHLER, M. D. & GENDELMAN, P. M. 1982. A primary acoustic startle circuit: lesion and stimulation studies. *J Neurosci*, 2, 791-805.
- DEBANNE, D., GAHWILER, B. H. & THOMPSON, S. M. 1998. Long-term synaptic plasticity between pairs of individual CA3 pyramidal cells in rat hippocampal slice cultures. *J Physiol*, 507 (Pt 1), 237-47.

- DECETY, J., PERANI, D., JEANNEROD, M., BETTINARDI, V., TADARY, B., WOODS, R., MAZZIOTTA, J. C. & FAZIO, F. 1994. Mapping motor representations with positron emission tomography. *Nature*, 371, 600-2.
- DECHENT, P., MERBOLDT, K.-D. & FRAHM, J. 2004. Is the human primary motor cortex involved in motor imagery? *Cognitive Brain Research*, 19, 138-144.
- DESCHENES, M., VEINANTE, P. & ZHANG, Z. W. 1998. The organization of corticothalamic projections: reciprocity versus parity. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev*, 28, 286-308.
- DEWALD, J. P., POPE, P. S., GIVEN, J. D., BUCHANAN, T. S. & RYMER, W. Z. 1995. Abnormal muscle coactivation patterns during isometric torque generation at the elbow and shoulder in hemiparetic subjects. *Brain*, 118, 495-510.
- DI LAZZARO, V., DILEONE, M., PILATO, F., PROFICE, P., OLIVIERO, A., MAZZONE, P., INSOLA, A., CAPONE, F., RANIERI, F. & TONALI, P. A. 2009. Associative motor cortex plasticity: direct evidence in humans. *Cereb Cortex*, **19**, 2326-30.
- DI LAZZARO, V., OLIVIERO, A., MAZZONE, P., INSOLA, A., PILATO, F., SATURNO, E., ACCURSO, A., TONALI, P. & ROTHWELL, J. C. 2001. Comparison of descending volleys evoked by monophasic and biphasic magnetic stimulation of the motor cortex in conscious humans. *Exp Brain Res*, 141, 121-7.
- DI LAZZARO, V., RESTUCCIA, D., OLIVIERO, A., PROFICE, P., FERRARA, L., INSOLA, A., MAZZONE, P., TONALI, P. & ROTHWELL, J. C. 1998. Effects of voluntary contraction on descending volleys evoked by transcranial stimulation in conscious humans. *J Physiol*, 508 (Pt 2), 625-33.
- DIDERIKSEN, J. L., MUCELI, S., DOSEN, S., LAINE, C. M. & FARINA, D. 2015. Physiological recruitment of motor units by high-frequency electrical stimulation of afferent pathways. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 118, 365-376.
- DIJKERMAN, H. C., IETSWAART, M., JOHNSTON, M. & MACWALTER, R. S. 2004. Does motor imagery training improve hand function in chronic stroke patients? A pilot study. *Clin Rehabil*, 18, 538-49.
- DIVEKAR, N. V. & JOHN, L. R. 2013. Neurophysiological, behavioural and perceptual differences between wrist flexion and extension related to sensorimotor monitoring as shown by corticomuscular coherence. *Clinical neurophysiology*, 124, 136-147.
- DONOGHUE, J., SUNER, S. & SANES, J. 1990. Dynamic organization of primary motor cortex output to target muscles in adult rats II. Rapid reorganization following motor nerve lesions. *Experimental Brain Research*, 79, 492-503.
- DREW, P. J. & ABBOTT, L. F. 2006. Extending the effects of spike-timing-dependent plasticity to behavioral timescales. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103, 8876.
- DUNLOP, S. A. 2008. Activity-dependent plasticity: implications for recovery after spinal cord injury. *Trends Neurosci*, 31, 410-8.
- DYSON, K. S., MIRON, J. P. & DREW, T. 2014. Differential modulation of descending signals from the reticulospinal system during reaching and locomotion. *J Neurophysiol*, 112, 2505-28.

- EDGLEY, S. A., EYRE, J. A., LEMON, R. N. & MILLER, S. 1990. Excitation of the corticospinal tract by electromagnetic and electrical stimulation of the scalp in the macaque monkey. *J Physiol*, 425, 301-20.
- EGGER, V., FELDMEYER, D. & SAKMANN, B. 1999. Coincidence detection and changes of synaptic efficacy in spiny stellate neurons in rat barrel cortex. *Nat Neurosci*, 2, 1098-105.
- EVARTS, E. V. & TANJI, J. 1976. Reflex and intended responses in motor cortex pyramidal tract neurons of monkey. *J Neurophysiol*, 39, 1069-1080.
- EVERS, S., BOCKERMANN, I. & NYHUIS, P. W. 2001. The impact of transcranial magnetic stimulation on cognitive processing: an event-related potential study. *Neuroreport*, 12, 2915-8.
- FACCHINI, S., MUELLBACHER, W., BATTAGLIA, F., BOROOJERDI, B. & HALLETT, M. 2002. Focal enhancement of motor cortex excitability during motor imagery: a transcranial magnetic stimulation study. Acta Neurol Scand, 105, 146-51.
- FADIGA, L., BUCCINO, G., CRAIGHERO, L., FOGASSI, L., GALLESE, V. & PAVESI, G. 1998. Corticospinal excitability is specifically modulated by motor imagery: a magnetic stimulation study. *Neuropsychologia*, 37, 147-158.
- FADIGA, L., FOGASSI, L., PAVESI, G. & RIZZOLATTI, G. 1995. Motor facilitation during action observation: a magnetic stimulation study. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 73, 2608-2611.
- FARRELL, D. E., TRIPP, J. H., NORGREN, R. & TEYLER, T. J. 1980. A study of the auditory evoked magnetic field of the human brain. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*, 49, 31-7.
- FELDMAN, D. E. 2000. Timing-based LTP and LTD at vertical inputs to layer II/III pyramidal cells in rat barrel cortex. *Neuron*, 27, 45-56.
- FELDMAN, D. E., NICOLL, R. A., MALENKA, R. C. & ISAAC, J. T. 1998. Long-term depression at thalamocortical synapses in developing rat somatosensory cortex. *Neuron*, 21, 347-57.
- FELLOWS, S. J., TOPPER, R., SCHWARZ, M., THILMANN, A. F. & NOTH, J. 1996. Stretch reflexes of the proximal arm in a patient with mirror movements: absence of bilateral long-latency components. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*, 101, 79-83.
- FISHER, K. M., ZAAIMI, B. & BAKER, S. N. 2012. Reticular formation responses to magnetic brain stimulation of primary motor cortex. *J Physiol*, 590, 4045-60.
- FLORENCE, S. L., TAUB, H. B. & KAAS, J. H. 1998. Large-Scale Sprouting of Cortical Connections After Peripheral Injury in Adult Macaque Monkeys. *Science*, 282, 1117-1121.
- FORSS, N., HARI, R., SALMELIN, R., AHONEN, A., HÄMÄLÄINEN, M., KAJOLA, M., KNUUTILA, J. & SIMOLA, J. 1994. Activation of the human posterior parietal cortex by median nerve stimulation. *Experimental Brain Research*, 99, 309-315.
- FOYSAL, K. M., DE CARVALHO, F. & BAKER, S. N. 2016. Spike Timing-Dependent Plasticity in the Long-Latency Stretch Reflex Following Paired Stimulation from a Wearable Electronic Device. J Neurosci, 36, 10823-10830.
- FRANZ, S. I. 1912. New phrenology. *Science*, 35, 321-328.

- FROEMKE, R. C., POO, M. M. & DAN, Y. 2005. Spike-timing-dependent synaptic plasticity depends on dendritic location. *Nature*, 434, 221-5.
- FUKUDA, M., KAMEYAMA, S. & TANAKA, R. 2000. Thalamic potentials evoked by motor point stimulation. *Muscle Nerve*, 23, 246-51.
- FUKUSHIMA, T., MAYANAGI, Y. & BOUCHARD, G. 1976. Thalamic evoked potentials to somatosensory stimulation in man. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*, 40, 481-90.
- GALEA, M. P. & DARIAN-SMITH, I. 1994. Multiple corticospinal neuron populations in the macaque monkey are specified by their unique cortical origins, spinal terminations, and connections. *Cereb Cortex*, 4, 166-94.
- GALLESE, V., FADIGA, L., FOGASSI, L. & RIZZOLATTI, G. 1996. Action recognition in the premotor cortex. *Brain*, 119 (Pt 2), 593-609.
- GANDEVIA, S. C., BURKE, D. & MC KEON, B. 1984. THE PROJECTION OF MUSCLE AFFERENTS FROM THE HAND TO CEREBRAL CORTEX IN MAN. *Brain*, 107, 1-13.
- GANDEVIA, S. C., WILSON, L. R., INGLIS, J. T. & BURKE, D. 1997. Mental rehearsal of motor tasks recruits α-motoneurones but fails to recruit human fusimotor neurones selectively. *The Journal of Physiology*, 505, 259-266.
- GEORGE, M. S., PADBERG, F., SCHLAEPFER, T. E., O'REARDON, J. P., FITZGERALD, P. B., NAHAS, Z. H. & MARCOLIN, M. A. 2009. Controversy: Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation or transcranial direct current stimulation shows efficacy in treating psychiatric diseases (depression, mania, schizophrenia, obsessive-complusive disorder, panic, posttraumatic stress disorder). *Brain Stimul*, 2, 14-21.
- GEORGE, M. S., WASSERMANN, E. M., WILLIAMS, W. A., CALLAHAN, A., KETTER, T. A., BASSER, P., HALLETT, M. & POST, R. M. 1995. Daily repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) improves mood in depression. *Neuroreport*, 6, 1853-6.
- GILLIES, J. D., BURKE, D. J. & LANCE, J. W. 1971. Tonic vibration reflex in the cat. *J Neurophysiol*, 34, 252-62.
- GODFREY, S. B., LUM, P. S., CHAN, E. & HARRIS-LOVE, M. L. 2013. Cortical effects of repetitive finger flexion-vs. extension-resisted tracking movements: a TMS study. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 109, 1009-1016.
- GRACIES, J. M., MEUNIER, S. & PIERROT-DESEILLIGNY, E. 1994. Evidence for corticospinal excitation of presumed propriospinal neurones in man. *J Physiol*, 475, 509-18.
- GRAFTON, S. T., MAZZIOTTA, J. C., PRESTY, S., FRISTON, K. J., FRACKOWIAK, R. & PHELPS, M. E. 1992. Functional anatomy of human procedural learning determined with regional cerebral blood flow and PET. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 12, 2542-2548.
- GRANGEON, M., GUILLOT, A., SANCHO, P. O., PICOT, M., REVOL, P., RODE, G. & COLLET, C. 2010.
 Rehabilitation of the elbow extension with motor imagery in a patient with quadriplegia after tendon transfer. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 91, 1143-6.
- HADLAND, K. A., RUSHWORTH, M. F., PASSINGHAM, R. E., JAHANSHAHI, M. & ROTHWELL, J. C. 2001. Interference with performance of a response selection task that has no working memory

component: an rTMS comparison of the dorsolateral prefrontal and medial frontal cortex. J Cogn Neurosci, 13, 1097-108.

- HAMADA, M., STRIGARO, G., MURASE, N., SADNICKA, A., GALEA, J. M., EDWARDS, M. J. & ROTHWELL, J. C. 2012. Cerebellar modulation of human associative plasticity. *The Journal of physiology*, 590, 2365-2374.
- HAMDY, S. & ROTHWELL, J. C. 1998. Gut feelings about recovery after stroke: the organization and reorganization of human swallowing motor cortex. *Trends Neurosci*, 21, 278-82.
- HAMDY, S., ROTHWELL, J. C., AZIZ, Q., SINGH, K. D. & THOMPSON, D. G. 1998. Long-term reorganization of human motor cortex driven by short-term sensory stimulation. *Nat Neurosci,* 1, 64-8.
- HAMMOND, P. H. 1954. Involuntary activity in biceps following the sudden application of velocity to the abducted forearm. *J Physiol*, 127, 23-25P.
- HAPPEL, M. F. K., NIEKISCH, H., CASTIBLANCO RIVERA, L. L., OHL, F. W., DELIANO, M. & FRISCHKNECHT, R. 2014. Enhanced cognitive flexibility in reversal learning induced by removal of the extracellular matrix in auditory cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 111, 2800.
- HARDINGHAM, N., GLAZEWSKI, S., PAKHOTIN, P., MIZUNO, K., CHAPMAN, P. F., GIESE, K. P. & FOX, K.
 2003. Neocortical long-term potentiation and experience-dependent synaptic plasticity require alpha-calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II autophosphorylation. J Neurosci, 23, 4428-36.
- HASHIMOTO, R. & ROTHWELL, J. C. 1999. Dynamic changes in corticospinal excitability during motor imagery. *Experimental Brain Research*, 125, 75-81.
- HAUSMANN, A., KEMMLER, G., WALPOTH, M., MECHTCHERIAKOV, S., KRAMER-REINSTADLER, K., LECHNER, T., WALCH, T., DEISENHAMMER, E. A., KOFLER, M., RUPP, C. I., HINTERHUBER, H. & CONCA, A. 2004. No benefit derived from repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation in depression: a prospective, single centre, randomised, double blind, sham controlled "add on" trial. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 75, 320-2.
- HAYASHI, Y., SHI, S. H., ESTEBAN, J. A., PICCINI, A., PONCER, J. C. & MALINOW, R. 2000. Driving AMPA receptors into synapses by LTP and CaMKII: requirement for GluR1 and PDZ domain interaction. *Science*, 287, 2262-7.
- HEBB, D. O. 1949. Hebb, D. O. The organization of behavior A neuropsychological theory. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Inc., 1949. 335 p. Volume 34, Issue 5. *Science Education*, 34, 336-337.
- HELM, F., MARINOVIC, W., KRÜGER, B., MUNZERT, J. & RIEK, S. 2015. Corticospinal excitability during imagined and observed dynamic force production tasks: Effortfulness matters. *Neuroscience*, 290, 398-405.
- HERKENHAM, M. 1980. Laminar organization of thalamic projections to the rat neocortex. *Science*, 207, 532-5.
- HESS, G., AIZENMAN, C. D. & DONOGHUE, J. P. 1996. Conditions for the induction of long-term potentiation in layer II/III horizontal connections of the rat motor cortex. *J Neurophysiol*, 75, 1765-78.

- HESS, G. & DONOGHUE, J. P. 1994. Long-term potentiation of horizontal connections provides a mechanism to reorganize cortical motor maps. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 71, 2543-2547.
- HILLIER, W. F. 1954. Total left cerebral hemispherectomy for malignant glioma. *Neurology*, 4, 718-718.
- HOFFER, Z. S., HOOVER, J. E. & ALLOWAY, K. D. 2003. Sensorimotor corticocortical projections from rat barrel cortex have an anisotropic organization that facilitates integration of inputs from whiskers in the same row. *J Comp Neurol*, 466, 525-44.
- HOLMGREN, C. D. & ZILBERTER, Y. 2001. Coincident spiking activity induces long-term changes in inhibition of neocortical pyramidal cells. *J Neurosci*, 21, 8270-7.
- HOME, M. & TRACEY, D. 1979. The afferents and projections of the ventroposterolateral thalamus in the monkey. *Experimental brain research*, 36, 129-141.
- HOOKS, B. M., MAO, T., GUTNISKY, D. A., YAMAWAKI, N., SVOBODA, K. & SHEPHERD, G. M. G. 2013. Organization of cortical and thalamic input to pyramidal neurons in mouse motor cortex. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 33, 748-760.
- HORVATH, J. C., PEREZ, J. M., FORROW, L., FREGNI, F. & PASCUAL-LEONE, A. 2011. Transcranial magnetic stimulation: a historical evaluation and future prognosis of therapeutically relevant ethical concerns. *J Med Ethics*, 37, 137-43.
- HRABETOVA, S. & SACKTOR, T. C. 1996. Bidirectional regulation of protein kinase M zeta in the maintenance of long-term potentiation and long-term depression. *J Neurosci*, 16, 5324-33.
- HUANG, Y.-Z., CHEN, R.-S., ROTHWELL, J. C. & WEN, H.-Y. 2007. The after-effect of human theta burst stimulation is NMDA receptor dependent. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, **118**, 1028-1032.
- HUANG, Y.-Z., LU, M.-K., ANTAL, A., CLASSEN, J., NITSCHE, M., ZIEMANN, U., RIDDING, M., HAMADA, M., UGAWA, Y., JABERZADEH, S., SUPPA, A., PAULUS, W. & ROTHWELL, J. 2017. Plasticity induced by non-invasive transcranial brain stimulation: A position paper. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 128, 2318-2329.
- HUANG, Y. Z., EDWARDS, M. J., ROUNIS, E., BHATIA, K. P. & ROTHWELL, J. C. 2005. Theta burst stimulation of the human motor cortex. *Neuron*, 45, 201-6.
- HUANG, Y. Z. & ROTHWELL, J. C. 2004. The effect of short-duration bursts of high-frequency, lowintensity transcranial magnetic stimulation on the human motor cortex. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 115, 1069-75.
- HUANG, Y. Z., ROTHWELL, J. C., EDWARDS, M. J. & CHEN, R. S. 2008. Effect of physiological activity on an NMDA-dependent form of cortical plasticity in human. *Cereb Cortex*, 18, 563-70.
- IEZZI, E., CONTE, A., SUPPA, A., AGOSTINO, R., DINAPOLI, L., SCONTRINI, A. & BERARDELLI, A. 2008. Phasic voluntary movements reverse the aftereffects of subsequent theta-burst stimulation in humans. *J Neurophysiol*, 100, 2070-6.
- INGVAR, D. H. & PHILIPSON, L. 1977. Distribution of cerebral blood flow in the dominant hemisphere during motor ideation and motor performance. *Annals of Neurology*, 2, 230-237.

- IRIKI, A., PAVLIDES, C., KELLER, A. & ASANUMA, H. 1989. Long-term potentiation in the motor cortex. *Science*, 245, 1385-7.
- IYER, M. B., SCHLEPER, N. & WASSERMANN, E. M. 2003. Priming stimulation enhances the depressant effect of low-frequency repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation. *J Neurosci*, 23, 10867-72.
- JACKSON, A., MAVOORI, J. & FETZ, E. E. 2006. Long-term motor cortex plasticity induced by an electronic neural implant. *Nature*, 444, 56-60.
- JACKSON, P. L., LAFLEUR, M. F., MALOUIN, F., RICHARDS, C. & DOYON, J. Potential role of mental practice using motor imagery in neurologic rehabilitation. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 82, 1133-1141.
- JACKSON, P. L., LAFLEUR, M. F., MALOUIN, F., RICHARDS, C. & DOYON, J. 2001. Potential role of mental practice using motor imagery in neurologic rehabilitation. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 82, 1133-41.
- JAISER, S. R., BARNES, J. D., BAKER, S. N. & BAKER, M. R. 2015. A multiple regression model of normal central and peripheral motor conduction times. *Muscle Nerve*, 51, 706-12.
- JEANNEROD, M. 1995. Mental imagery in the motor context. *Neuropsychologia*, 33, 1419-32.
- JEANNEROD, M. 2001. Neural Simulation of Action: A Unifying Mechanism for Motor Cognition. *NeuroImage*, 14, S103-S109.
- JEANNEROD, M. 2010. The representing brain: Neural correlates of motor intention and imagery. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 17, 187-202.
- JEANNEROD, M. & FRAK, V. 1999. Mental imaging of motor activity in humans. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 9, 735-739.
- JOHNSON, S. H. 2000. Imagining the impossible: intact motor representations in hemiplegics. *Neuroreport*, 11, 729-32.
- JOHNSON, S. H., SPREHN, G. & SAYKIN, A. J. 2002. Intact motor imagery in chronic upper limb hemiplegics: evidence for activity-independent action representations. *J Cogn Neurosci*, 14, 841-52.
- JONES, E. G. 1993. GABAergic Neurons and Their Role in Cortical Plasticity in Primates. *Cerebral Cortex,* 3, 361-372.
- JONES, E. G. 2000. Cortical and subcortical contributions to activity-dependent plasticity in primate somatosensory cortex. *Annu Rev Neurosci,* 23, 1-37.
- KAAS, J. H., MERZENICH, M. M. & KILLACKEY, H. P. 1983. The reorganization of somatosensory cortex following peripheral nerve damage in adult and developing mammals. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 6, 325-56.
- KAAS, J. H., QI, H.-X., BURISH, M. J., GHARBAWIE, O. A., ONIFER, S. M. & MASSEY, J. M. 2008. Cortical and subcortical plasticity in the brains of humans, primates, and rats after damage to sensory afferents in the dorsal columns of the spinal cord. *Experimental Neurology*, 209, 407-416.

- KAISER, V., BAUERNFEIND, G., KREILINGER, A., KAUFMANN, T., KÜBLER, A., NEUPER, C. & MÜLLER-PUTZ, G. R. 2014. Cortical effects of user training in a motor imagery based brain–computer interface measured by fNIRS and EEG. *NeuroImage*, 85, 432-444.
- KAMI, A., MEYER, G., JEZZARD, P., ADAMS, M. M., TURNER, R. & UNGERLEIDER, L. G. 1995. Functional MRI evidence for adult motor cortex plasticity during motor skill learning. *Nature*, 377, 155.
- KAMPA, B. M., LETZKUS, J. J. & STUART, G. J. 2007. Dendritic mechanisms controlling spike-timingdependent synaptic plasticity. *Trends Neurosci*, 30, 456-63.
- KANDEL, E. R., SCHWARTZ, J. H. & JESSELL, T. M. 2000. *Principles of neural science*, New York, McGraw-Hill, Health Professions Division.
- KANEKO, T., CHO, R., LI, Y., NOMURA, S. & MIZUNO, N. 2000. Predominant information transfer from layer III pyramidal neurons to corticospinal neurons. *J Comp Neurol*, 423, 52-65.
- KASAI, T., KAWAI, S., KAWANISHI, M. & YAHAGI, S. 1997. Evidence for facilitation of motor evoked potentials (MEPs) induced by motor imagery. *Brain Research*, 744, 147-150.
- KATAYAMA, Y. & TSUBOKAWA, T. 1987. Somatosensory evoked potentials from the thalamic sensory relay nucleus (VPL) in humans: correlations with short latency somatosensory evoked potentials recorded at the scalp. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*, 68, 187-201.
- KEIZER, K. & KUYPERS, H. G. 1989. Distribution of corticospinal neurons with collaterals to the lower brain stem reticular formation in monkey (Macaca fascicularis). *Exp Brain Res*, 74, 311-8.
- KEMPTER, R., GERSTNER, W. & VAN HEMMEN, J. L. 1999. Hebbian learning and spiking neurons. *Physical Review E*, 59, 4498-4514.
- KENNARD, M. A. 1938. Reorganization of motor function in the cerebral cortex of monkeys deprived of motor and premotor areas in infancy. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, **1**, 477-496.
- KENNARD, M. A. 1940. Relation of age to motor impairment in man and in subhuman primates. Archives of Neurology & Psychiatry, 44, 377-397.
- KENNARD, M. A. 1942. Cortical reorganization of motor function: Studies on series of monkeys of various ages from infancy to maturity. *Archives of Neurology & Psychiatry*, 48, 227-240.
- KENNEDY, P. R. 1990. Corticospinal, rubrospinal and rubro-olivary projections: a unifying hypothesis. *Trends Neurosci*, 13, 474-9.
- KIMURA, T., HAGGARD, P. & GOMI, H. 2006. Transcranial magnetic stimulation over sensorimotor cortex disrupts anticipatory reflex gain modulation for skilled action. *J Neurosci*, 26, 9272-81.
- KOLARIK, R. C., RASEY, S. K. & WALL, J. T. 1994. The consistency, extent, and locations of early-onset changes in cortical nerve dominance aggregates following injury of nerves to primate hands. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 14, 4269-4288.
- KORVENOJA, A., HUTTUNEN, J., SALLI, E., POHJONEN, H., MARTINKAUPPI, S., PALVA, J. M., LAURONEN, L., VIRTANEN, J., ILMONIEMI, R. J. & ARONEN, H. J. 1999. Activation of multiple cortical areas in response to somatosensory stimulation: combined magnetoencephalographic and functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 8, 13-27.

- KOŽELJ, S. & BAKER, S. N. 2014. Different phase delays of peripheral input to primate motor cortex and spinal cord promote cancellation at physiological tremor frequencies. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 111, 2001-2016.
- KRAUS, D., NAROS, G., GUGGENBERGER, R., LEAO, M. T., ZIEMANN, U. & GHARABAGHI, A. 2018. Recruitment of Additional Corticospinal Pathways in the Human Brain with State-Dependent Paired Associative Stimulation. J Neurosci, 38, 1396-1407.
- KRUTKY, M. A. & PERREAULT, E. J. 2007. Motor cortical measures of use-dependent plasticity are graded from distal to proximal in the human upper limb. *J Neurophysiol*, 98, 3230-41.
- KUCHLER, M., FOUAD, K., WEINMANN, O., SCHWAB, M. E. & RAINETEAU, O. 2002. Red nucleus projections to distinct motor neuron pools in the rat spinal cord. *J Comp Neurol*, 448, 349-59.
- KUO, M. F., PAULUS, W. & NITSCHE, M. A. 2008. Boosting focally-induced brain plasticity by dopamine. *Cereb Cortex*, 18, 648-51.
- KURTZER, I. L. 2014. Long-latency reflexes account for limb biomechanics through several supraspinal pathways. *Front Integr Neurosci*, 8, 99.
- KURTZER, I. L., PRUSZYNSKI, J. A. & SCOTT, S. H. 2008. Long-latency reflexes of the human arm reflect an internal model of limb dynamics. *Curr Biol*, 18, 449-53.
- KUYPERS, H. G. 1964. The Descending Pathways to the Spinal Cord, Their Anatomy and Function. *Prog Brain Res*, 11, 178-202.
- KUYPERS, H. G. & BRINKMAN, J. 1970. Precentral projections to different parts of the spinal intermediate zone in therhesus monkey. *Brain Res*, 24, 29-48.
- KUYPERS, H. G. J. M. 1981. Anatomy of the Descending Pathways. American Physiological Society, Bethesda, MD.
- KWOK, J. C., DICK, G., WANG, D. & FAWCETT, J. W. 2011. Extracellular matrix and perineuronal nets in CNS repair. *Dev Neurobiol*, 71, 1073-89.
- LACKMY-VALLEE, A., KLOMJAI, W., BUSSEL, B., KATZ, R. & ROCHE, N. 2014. Anodal transcranial direct current stimulation of the motor cortex induces opposite modulation of reciprocal inhibition in wrist extensor and flexor. *J Neurophysiol*, 112, 1505-15.
- LACOURSE, M. G., ORR, E. L. R., CRAMER, S. C. & COHEN, M. J. 2005. Brain activation during execution and motor imagery of novel and skilled sequential hand movements. *NeuroImage*, 27, 505-519.
- LALA, D., SPAULDING, S. J., BURKE, S. M. & HOUGHTON, P. E. 2016. Electrical stimulation therapy for the treatment of pressure ulcers in individuals with spinal cord injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int Wound J*, 13, 1214-1226.
- LASHLEY, K. S. 1929. Brain mechanisms and intelligence: A quantitative study of injuries to the brain.
- LAWRENCE, D. G. & KUYPERS, H. G. 1968. The functional organization of the motor system in the monkey. II. The effects of lesions of the descending brain-stem pathways. *Brain*, 91, 15-36.

- LEBON, F., BYBLOW, W. D., COLLET, C., GUILLOT, A. & STINEAR, C. M. 2012. The modulation of motor cortex excitability during motor imagery depends on imagery quality. *Eur J Neurosci*, 35, 323-31.
- LEEMAN, S. A. 2007. SSEPs: from limb to cortex. Am J Electroneurodiagnostic Technol, 47, 165-77.
- LEIRAS, R., VELO, P., MARTIN-CORA, F. & CANEDO, A. 2010. Processing afferent proprioceptive information at the main cuneate nucleus of anesthetized cats. *J Neurosci*, 30, 15383-99.
- LEMON, R. 1981. Functional properties of monkey motor cortex neurones receiving afferent input from the hand and fingers. *The Journal of Physiology*, 311, 497-519.
- LEMON, R. N. 1993. The G. L. Brown Prize Lecture. Cortical control of the primate hand. *Exp Physiol*, 78, 263-301.
- LEMON, R. N. 2008. Descending pathways in motor control. Annu Rev Neurosci, 31, 195-218.
- LEMON, R. N., MANTEL, G. W. & MUIR, R. B. 1986. Corticospinal facilitation of hand muscles during voluntary movement in the conscious monkey. *J Physiol*, 381, 497-527.
- LENSJO, K. K., LEPPEROD, M. E., DICK, G., HAFTING, T. & FYHN, M. 2017. Removal of Perineuronal Nets Unlocks Juvenile Plasticity Through Network Mechanisms of Decreased Inhibition and Increased Gamma Activity. *J Neurosci*, 37, 1269-1283.
- LENZ, M., GALANIS, C., MULLER-DAHLHAUS, F., OPITZ, A., WIERENGA, C. J., SZABO, G., ZIEMANN, U., DELLER, T., FUNKE, K. & VLACHOS, A. 2016. Repetitive magnetic stimulation induces plasticity of inhibitory synapses. *Nat Commun*, **7**, 10020.
- LENZ, M. & VLACHOS, A. 2016. Releasing the Cortical Brake by Non-Invasive Electromagnetic Stimulation? rTMS Induces LTD of GABAergic Neurotransmission. *Front Neural Circuits*, 10, 96.
- LETZKUS, J. J., KAMPA, B. M. & STUART, G. J. 2006. Learning rules for spike timing-dependent plasticity depend on dendritic synapse location. *J Neurosci*, 26, 10420-9.
- LEVIN, H. S. & GRAFMAN, J. 2000. *Cerebral reorganization of function after brain damage*, Oxford University Press.
- LEVY, W. B. & STEWARD, O. 1983. Temporal contiguity requirements for long-term associative potentiation/depression in the hippocampus. *Neuroscience*, **8**, 791-7.
- LI, S. 2007. Movement-specific enhancement of corticospinal excitability at subthreshold levels during motor imagery. *Experimental brain research. Experimentelle Hirnforschung. Experimentation cerebrale,* 179, 517-524.
- LI, S., KAMPER, D. G., STEVENS, J. A. & RYMER, W. Z. 2004. The Effect of Motor Imagery on Spinal Segmental Excitability. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 24, 9674-9680.
- LI, S., STEVENS, J. A. & RYMER, W. Z. 2009. Interactions between imagined movement and the initiation of voluntary movement: a TMS study. *Clinical neurophysiology : official journal of the International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology*, 120, 1154-1160.

- LIAO, L. D., BANDLA, A., LING, J. M., LIU, Y. H., KUO, L. W., CHEN, Y. Y., KING, N. K., LAI, H. Y., LIN, Y. R. & THAKOR, N. V. 2014. Improving neurovascular outcomes with bilateral forepaw stimulation in a rat photothrombotic ischemic stroke model. *Neurophotonics*, 1, 011007.
- LISMAN, J., SCHULMAN, H. & CLINE, H. 2002. The molecular basis of CaMKII function in synaptic and behavioural memory. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **3**, 175-90.
- LIU, K. P., CHAN, C. C., LEE, T. M. & HUI-CHAN, C. W. 2004. Mental imagery for promoting relearning for people after stroke: a randomized controlled trial. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 85, 1403-8.
- LOTZE, M. & HALSBAND, U. 2006. Motor imagery. *Journal of Physiology-Paris*, 99, 386-395.
- LOTZE, M., MONTOYA, P., ERB, M., HÜLSMANN, E., FLOR, H., KLOSE, U., BIRBAUMER, N. & GRODD, W. 1999. Activation of Cortical and Cerebellar Motor Areas during Executed and Imagined Hand Movements: An fMRI Study. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, **11**, 491-501.
- LU, J.-T., LI, C.-Y., ZHAO, J.-P., POO, M.-M. & ZHANG, X.-H. 2007. Spike-Timing-Dependent Plasticity of Neocortical Excitatory Synapses on Inhibitory Interneurons Depends on Target Cell Type. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 27, 9711.
- MACEFIELD, G., BURKE, D. & GANDEVIA, S. C. 1989. The cortical distribution of muscle and cutaneous afferent projections from the human foot. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*, 72, 518-28.
- MAEDA, F., KEENAN, J. P., TORMOS, J. M., TOPKA, H. & PASCUAL-LEONE, A. 2000. Interindividual variability of the modulatory effects of repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation on cortical excitability. *Exp Brain Res*, 133, 425-30.
- MAGEE, J. C. & JOHNSTON, D. 1997. A synaptically controlled, associative signal for Hebbian plasticity in hippocampal neurons. *Science*, 275, 209-13.
- MALENKA, R. C. & BEAR, M. F. 2004. LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. Neuron, 44, 5-21.
- MALENKA, R. C., LANCASTER, B. & ZUCKER, R. S. 1992. Temporal limits on the rise in postsynaptic calcium required for the induction of long-term potentiation. *Neuron*, 9, 121-8.
- MAO, T., KUSEFOGLU, D., HOOKS, B. M., HUBER, D., PETREANU, L. & SVOBODA, K. 2011. Long-range neuronal circuits underlying the interaction between sensory and motor cortex. *Neuron*, 72, 111-23.
- MARKRAM, H., LUBKE, J., FROTSCHER, M. & SAKMANN, B. 1997. Regulation of synaptic efficacy by coincidence of postsynaptic APs and EPSPs. *Science*, 275, 213-5.
- MARTIN, J. L., BARBANOJ, M. J., SCHLAEPFER, T. E., THOMPSON, E., PEREZ, V. & KULISEVSKY, J. 2003. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation for the treatment of depression. Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Psychiatry*, 182, 480-91.
- MARTIN, P. G., SMITH, J. L., BUTLER, J. E., GANDEVIA, S. C. & TAYLOR, J. L. 2006. Fatigue-sensitive afferents inhibit extensor but not flexor motoneurons in humans. *The Journal of neuroscience*, 26, 4796-4802.
- MASSEY, J. M., HUBSCHER, C. H., WAGONER, M. R., DECKER, J. A., AMPS, J., SILVER, J. & ONIFER, S. M. 2006. Chondroitinase ABC Digestion of the Perineuronal Net Promotes Functional Collateral

Sprouting in the Cuneate Nucleus after Cervical Spinal Cord Injury. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26, 4406.

- MATEO, S., DI RIENZO, F., BERGERON, V., GUILLOT, A., COLLET, C. & RODE, G. 2015. Motor imagery reinforces brain compensation of reach-to-grasp movement after cervical spinal cord injury. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 9.
- MATSUYAMA, K. & DREW, T. 1997. Organization of the projections from the pericruciate cortex to the pontomedullary brainstem of the cat A study using the anterograde tracer Phaseolus vulgaris-leucoagglutinin, Journal of Comparative Neurology Volume 389, Issue 4. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 389, 617-641.
- MATSUYAMA, K. & DREW, T. 2000. Vestibulospinal and reticulospinal neuronal activity during locomotion in the intact cat. I. Walking on a level surface. *J Neurophysiol*, 84, 2237-56.
- MATTHEWS, P. B. 1991a. The human stretch reflex and the motor cortex. *Trends Neurosci*, 14, 87-91.
- MATTHEWS, P. B. C. 1984. Evidence from the use of vibration that the human long-latency reflex depends upon secondary spindle afferents. *J Physiol*, 348, 383-415.
- MATTHEWS, P. B. C. 1986. Observations on the automatic compensation of reflex gain on varying the pre-existing level of motor discharge in man. *J Physiol*, 374, 73-90.
- MATTHEWS, P. B. C. 1989. Long-latency stretch reflexes of two intrinsic muscles of the human hand analysed by cooling the arm. *J Physiol*, 419, 519-538.
- MATTHEWS, P. B. C. 1991b. The human stretch reflex and the motor cortex. *Trends in Neuroscience*, 14, 87-91.
- MATTHEWS, P. B. C., FARMER, S. F. & INGRAM, D. A. 1990. On the localization of the stretch reflex of intrinsic hand muscles in a patient with mirror movements. *J Physiol*, 428, 561-577.
- MAZEVET, D., PIERROT-DESEILLIGNY, E. & ROTHWELL, J. C. 1996. A propriospinal-like contribution to electromyographic responses evoked in wrist extensor muscles by transcranial stimulation of the motor cortex in man. *Exp Brain Res*, 109, 495-9.
- MCDONNELL, M. N., HILLIER, S. L., MILES, T. S., THOMPSON, P. D. & RIDDING, M. C. 2007a. Influence of combined afferent stimulation and task-specific training following stroke: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair*, 21, 435-43.
- MCDONNELL, M. N., OREKHOV, Y. & ZIEMANN, U. 2007b. Suppression of LTP-like plasticity in human motor cortex by the GABAB receptor agonist baclofen. *Exp Brain Res,* 180, 181-6.
- MCKAY, D., BROOKER, R., GIACOMIN, P., RIDDING, M. & MILES, T. 2002a. Time course of induction of increased human motor cortex excitability by nerve stimulation. *Neuroreport*, 13, 1271-3.
- MCKAY, D. R., RIDDING, M. C., THOMPSON, P. D. & MILES, T. S. 2002b. Induction of persistent changes in the organisation of the human motor cortex. *Exp Brain Res*, 143, 342-9.
- MERZENICH, M. M., KAAS, J. H., WALL, J., NELSON, R. J., SUR, M. & FELLEMAN, D. 1983a. Topographic reorganization of somatosensory cortical areas 3b and 1 in adult monkeys following restricted deafferentation. *Neuroscience*, *8*, 33-55.

- MERZENICH, M. M., KAAS, J. H., WALL, J. T., SUR, M., NELSON, R. J. & FELLEMAN, D. J. 1983b. Progression of change following median nerve section in the cortical representation of the hand in areas 3b and 1 in adult owl and squirrel monkeys. *Neuroscience*, 10, 639-65.
- MEYER-LOHMANN, J., CHRISTAKOS, C. N. & WOLF, H. 1986. Dominance of the short-latency component in perturbation induced electromyographic responses of long-trained monkeys. *Exp Brain Res,* 64, 393-9.
- MORIOKA, T., SHIMA, F., KATO, M. & FUKUI, M. 1989. Origin and distribution of thalamic somatosensory evoked potentials in humans. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*, 74, 186-93.
- MORTIMER, J. A., WEBSTER, D. D. & DUKICH, T. G. 1981. Changes in short and long latency stretch responses during the transition from posture to movement. *Brain Res*, 229, 337-51.
- MRACHACZ-KERSTING, N., KRISTENSEN SIGNE, R., NIAZI IMRAN, K. & FARINA, D. 2012. Precise temporal association between cortical potentials evoked by motor imagination and afference induces cortical plasticity. *The Journal of Physiology*, 590, 1669-1682.
- MUIR, R. B. & LEMON, R. N. 1983. Antidromic excitation of motoneurons by intramuscular electrical stimulation. *J Neurosci Methods*, 8, 73-86.
- MULDER, T. 2007. Motor imagery and action observation: cognitive tools for rehabilitation. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, 114, 1265-1278.
- MULLER-DAHLHAUS, J. F., OREKHOV, Y., LIU, Y. & ZIEMANN, U. 2008. Interindividual variability and age-dependency of motor cortical plasticity induced by paired associative stimulation. *Exp Brain Res*, 187, 467-75.
- MURATA, A., FADIGA, L., FOGASSI, L., GALLESE, V., RAOS, V. & RIZZOLATTI, G. 1997. Object representation in the ventral premotor cortex (area F5) of the monkey. *J Neurophysiol*, 78, 2226-30.
- MURRAY, E. A. & COULTER, J. D. 1981. Organization of corticospinal neurons in the monkey. *J Comp Neurol*, 195, 339-65.
- NAHAS, Z. 2003. Handbook of Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience*, 28, 373-375.
- NATHAN, P. W. & SMITH, M. C. 1955. Long descending tracts in man. I. Review of present knowledge. Brain, 78, 248-303.
- NIELSEN, J. M. 1946. Agnosia, apraxia, aphasia: Their value in cerebral localization.
- NITSCHE, M. A., ROTH, A., KUO, M. F., FISCHER, A. K., LIEBETANZ, D., LANG, N., TERGAU, F. & PAULUS, W. 2007. Timing-dependent modulation of associative plasticity by general network excitability in the human motor cortex. *J Neurosci*, 27, 3807-12.
- NUDO, R. J., JENKINS, W., MERZENICH, M. M., PREJEAN, T. & GRENDA, R. 1992. Neurophysiological correlates of hand preference in primary motor cortex of adult squirrel monkeys. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 12, 2918-2947.

- NUDO, R. J., MILLIKEN, G. W., JENKINS, W. M. & MERZENICH, M. M. 1996. Use-dependent alterations of movement representations in primary motor cortex of adult squirrel monkeys. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, **16**, 785.
- OHNO, S., KURAMOTO, E., FURUTA, T., HIOKI, H., TANAKA, Y. R., FUJIYAMA, F., SONOMURA, T., UEMURA, M., SUGIYAMA, K. & KANEKO, T. 2012. A morphological analysis of thalamocortical axon fibers of rat posterior thalamic nuclei: a single neuron tracing study with viral vectors. *Cereb Cortex*, 22, 2840-57.
- OISHI, K., KIMURA, M., YASUKAWA, M., YONEDA, T. & MAESHIMA, T. 1994. Amplitude reduction of H-reflex during mental movement simulation in elite athletes. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 62, 55-61.
- ORGANIZATION, W. H. & SOCIETY, I. S. C. 2013. *International perspectives on spinal cord injury*, World Health Organization.
- PAGE, S. J., LEVINE, P. & LEONARD, A. C. 2005. Effects of mental practice on affected limb use and function in chronic stroke. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 86, 399-402.
- PAGE, S. J., LEVINE, P., SISTO, S. & JOHNSTON, M. V. 2001. A randomized efficacy and feasibility study of imagery in acute stroke. *Clin Rehabil*, 15, 233-40.
- PALMER, E. & ASHBY, P. 1992. Corticospinal projections to upper limb motoneurones in humans. *J Physiol*, 448, 397-412.
- PARK, M. C., BELHAJ-SAIF, A. & CHENEY, P. D. 2004. Properties of primary motor cortex output to forelimb muscles in rhesus macaques. *J Neurophysiol*, 92, 2968-84.
- PASCUAL-LEONE, A., GRAFMAN, J. & HALLETT, M. 1994. Modulation of cortical motor output maps during development of implicit and explicit knowledge. *Science*, 263, 1287-1289.
- PASCUAL-LEONE, A., NGUYET, D., COHEN, L. G., BRASIL-NETO, J. P., CAMMAROTA, A. & HALLETT, M. 1995. Modulation of muscle responses evoked by transcranial magnetic stimulation during the acquisition of new fine motor skills. *J Neurophysiol*, 74, 1037-45.
- PASCUAL-LEONE, A., WALSH, V. & ROTHWELL, J. 2000. Transcranial magnetic stimulation in cognitive neuroscience--virtual lesion, chronometry, and functional connectivity. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 10, 232-7.
- PASCUAL-LEONE, A., CAMMAROTA, A., WASSERMANN, E. M., BRASIL-NETO, J. P., COHEN, L. G. & HALLETT, M. 1993. Modulation of motor cortical outputs to the reading hand of Braille readers. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society*, 34, 33-37.
- PASSMORE, S. R., MURPHY, B. & LEE, T. D. 2014. The origin, and application of somatosensory evoked potentials as a neurophysiological technique to investigate neuroplasticity. *The Journal of the Canadian Chiropractic Association*, 58, 170-183.
- PAVLIDES, C., MIYASHITA, E. & ASANUMA, H. 1993. Projection from the sensory to the motor cortex is important in learning motor skills in the monkey. *J Neurophysiol*, 70, 733-41.

PEARSON, K. 2000. Motor systems. Curr Opin Neurobiol, 10, 649-54.

- PENFIELD, W. & BOLDREY, E. 1937. Somatic motor and sensory representation in the cerebral cortex of man as studied by electrical stimulation. *Brain*, 60, 389-443.
- PEREZ, M. A., FIELD-FOTE, E. C. & FLOETER, M. K. 2003. Patterned sensory stimulation induces plasticity in reciprocal ia inhibition in humans. *J Neurosci*, 23, 2014-8.
- PETERSEN, N., CHRISTENSEN, L. O., MORITA, H., SINKJAER, T. & NIELSEN, J. 1998. Evidence that a transcortical pathway contributes to stretch reflexes in the tibialis anterior muscle in man. *J Physiol*, 512 (Pt 1), 267-76.
- PHILLIPS, C. G. & PORTER, R. 1964. THE PYRAMIDAL PROJECTION TO MOTONEURONES OF SOME MUSCLE GROUPS OF THE BABOON'S FORELIMB. *Prog Brain Res*, 12, 222-45.
- PIERROT-DESEILLIGNY, E. & LACERT, P. 1973. Amplitude and Variability of Monosynaptic Reflexes Prior to Various Voluntary Movements in Normal and Spastic Man. 538-549.
- PONS, T. & KAAS, J. 1986. Corticocortical connections of area 2 of somatosensory cortex in macaque monkeys: a correlative anatomical and electrophysiological study. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 248, 313-335.
- POO, M.-M. 2001. Neurotrophins as synaptic modulators. Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 2, 24.
- PORTER, R. & LEMON, R. 1993. *Corticospinal function and voluntary movement*, Oxford University Press, USA.
- POWERS, R. K., CAMPBELL, D. L. & RYMER, W. Z. 1989. Stretch reflex dynamics in spastic elbow flexor muscles. *Ann Neurol*, 25, 32-42.
- PRENTICE, S. D. & DREW, T. 2001. Contributions of the reticulospinal system to the postural adjustments occurring during voluntary gait modifications. *J Neurophysiol*, 85, 679-98.
- PRUSZYNSKI, J. A., KURTZER, I., NASHED, J. Y., OMRANI, M., BROUWER, B. & SCOTT, S. H. 2011a. Primary motor cortex underlies multi-joint integration for fast feedback control. *Nature*, 478, 387-90.
- PRUSZYNSKI, J. A., KURTZER, I. & SCOTT, S. H. 2011b. The long-latency reflex is composed of at least two functionally independent processes. *J Neurophysiol*, 106, 449-59.
- RAGERT, P., CAMUS, M., VANDERMEEREN, Y., DIMYAN, M. A. & COHEN, L. G. 2009. Modulation of effects of intermittent theta burst stimulation applied over primary motor cortex (M1) by conditioning stimulation of the opposite M1. *J Neurophysiol*, 102, 766-73.
- RAINETEAU, O. & SCHWAB, M. E. 2001. Plasticity of motor systems after incomplete spinal cord injury. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 2, 263.
- RAMÓN Y CAJAL, S. 1935. Reglas y consejos sobre investigación científica (los tónicos de la voluntad), Madrid, Gráficas Barragán.
- RAO, S. M., BINDER, J. R., BANDETTINI, P. A., HAMMEKE, T. A., YETKIN, F. Z., JESMANOWICZ, A., LISK, L. M., MORRIS, G. L., MUELLER, W. M., ESTKOWSKI, L. D. & ET AL. 1993. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of complex human movements. *Neurology*, 43, 2311-8.

- RAUSCHECKER, J. P. 1995. Compensatory plasticity and sensory substitution in the cerebral cortex. *Trends in neurosciences*, 18, 36-43.
- RECANZONE, G. H., MERZENICH, M. M., JENKINS, W. M., GRAJSKI, K. A. & DINSE, H. R. 1992. Topographic reorganization of the hand representation in cortical area 3b owl monkeys trained in a frequency-discrimination task. *journal of Neurophysiology*, 67, 1031-1056.
- REYNOLDS, C., OSUAGWU, B. A. & VUCKOVIC, A. 2015. Influence of motor imagination on cortical activation during functional electrical stimulation. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 126, 1360-1369.
- RIDDING, M. & ROTHWELL, J. 1995. Reorganisation in human motor cortex. *Canadian journal of physiology and pharmacology*, 73, 218-222.
- RIDDING, M. & ROTHWELL, J. 1997. Stimulus/response curves as a method of measuring motor cortical excitability in man. *Clinical Neurophysiology*, 105, 340-344.
- RIDDING, M. C., BROUWER, B., MILES, T. S., PITCHER, J. B. & THOMPSON, P. D. 2000. Changes in muscle responses to stimulation of the motor cortex induced by peripheral nerve stimulation in human subjects. *Exp Brain Res*, 131, 135-43.
- RIDDING, M. C., MCKAY, D. R., THOMPSON, P. D. & MILES, T. S. 2001. Changes in corticomotor representations induced by prolonged peripheral nerve stimulation in humans. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 112, 1461-9.
- RIDDING, M. C. & ROTHWELL, J. C. 2007. Is there a future for therapeutic use of transcranial magnetic stimulation? *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 8, 559-67.
- RIDDING, M. C. & UY, J. 2003. Changes in motor cortical excitability induced by paired associative stimulation. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 114, 1437-44.
- RIDDING, M. C. & ZIEMANN, U. 2010. Determinants of the induction of cortical plasticity by noninvasive brain stimulation in healthy subjects. *J Physiol*, 588, 2291-304.
- RIDDLE, C. N. & BAKER, S. N. 2010. Convergence of pyramidal and medial brain stem descending pathways onto macaque cervical spinal interneurons. *J Neurophysiol*, 103, 2821-32.
- RIDDLE, C. N., EDGLEY, S. A. & BAKER, S. N. 2009. Direct and indirect connections with upper limb motoneurons from the primate reticulospinal tract. *J Neurosci*, 29, 4993-9.
- RIZZOLATTI, G., FADIGA, L., MATELLI, M., BETTINARDI, V., PAULESU, E., PERANI, D. & FAZIO, F. 1996. Localization of grasp representations in humans by PET: 1. Observation versus execution. *Exp Brain Res*, 111, 246-52.
- ROLAND, P. E., LARSEN, B., LASSEN, N. A. & SKINHOJ, E. 1980. Supplementary motor area and other cortical areas in organization of voluntary movements in man. *J Neurophysiol*, 43, 118-36.
- ROMERO, D. H., LACOURSE, M. G., LAWRENCE, K. E., SCHANDLER, S. & COHEN, M. J. 2000. Eventrelated potentials as a function of movement parameter variations during motor imagery and isometric action. *Behavioural brain research*, 117, 83-96.
- ROSENGREN, S. M., WELGAMPOLA, M. S. & COLEBATCH, J. G. 2010. Vestibular evoked myogenic potentials: past, present and future. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 121, 636-51.

- ROSSINI, P. M., BARKER, A. T., BERARDELLI, A., CARAMIA, M. D., CARUSO, G., CRACCO, R. Q., DIMITRIJEVIĆ, M. R., HALLETT, M., KATAYAMA, Y., LÜCKING, C. H., MAERTENS DE NOORDHOUT, A. L., MARSDEN, C. D., MURRAY, N. M. F., ROTHWELL, J. C., SWASH, M. & TOMBERG, C. 1994. Non-invasive electrical and magnetic stimulation of the brain, spinal cord and roots: basic principles and procedures for routine clinical application. Report of an IFCN committee. *Electroencephalography and Clinical Neurophysiology*, 91, 79-92.
- ROSSINI, P. M., BURKE, D., CHEN, R., COHEN, L. G., DASKALAKIS, Z., DI IORIO, R., DI LAZZARO, V., FERRERI, F., FITZGERALD, P. B., GEORGE, M. S., HALLETT, M., LEFAUCHEUR, J. P., LANGGUTH, B., MATSUMOTO, H., MINIUSSI, C., NITSCHE, M. A., PASCUAL-LEONE, A., PAULUS, W., ROSSI, S., ROTHWELL, J. C., SIEBNER, H. R., UGAWA, Y., WALSH, V. & ZIEMANN, U. 2015. Noninvasive electrical and magnetic stimulation of the brain, spinal cord, roots and peripheral nerves: Basic principles and procedures for routine clinical and research application. An updated report from an I.F.C.N. Committee. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 126, 1071-1107.
- ROSSINI, P. M., ROSSI, S., PASQUALETTI, P. & TECCHIO, F. 1999. Corticospinal excitability modulation to hand muscles during movement imagery. *Cereb Cortex*, 9, 161-7.
- ROTHWELL, J. C. 1991. Physiological studies of electric and magnetic stimulation of the human brain. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol Suppl*, 43, 29-35.
- ROTHWELL, J. C. 1997. Techniques and mechanisms of action of transcranial stimulation of the human motor cortex. *J Neurosci Methods*, 74, 113-22.
- ROY, F. D., YANG, J. F. & GORASSINI, M. A. 2010. Afferent regulation of leg motor cortex excitability after incomplete spinal cord injury. *J Neurophysiol*, 103, 2222-33.
- ROZAND, V., LEBON, F., PAPAXANTHIS, C. & LEPERS, R. 2014. Does a mental training session induce neuromuscular fatigue? *Med Sci Sports Exerc*, 46, 1981-9.
- SADATO, N., PASCUAL-LEONE, A., GRAFMAN, J., IBANEZ, V., DEIBER, M. P., DOLD, G. & HALLETT, M. 1996. Activation of the primary visual cortex by Braille reading in blind subjects. *Nature*, 380, 526-8.
- SAKAI, S. T., DAVIDSON, A. G. & BUFORD, J. A. 2009. Reticulospinal neurons in the pontomedullary reticular formation of the monkey (Macaca fascicularis). *Neuroscience*, 163, 1158-70.
- SALE, M. V., RIDDING, M. C. & NORDSTROM, M. A. 2008. Cortisol inhibits neuroplasticity induction in human motor cortex. *J Neurosci*, 28, 8285-93.
- SANES, J. N. & DONOGHUE, J. P. 1997. Dynamic motor cortical organization. *The Neuroscientist*, 3, 158-165.
- SANES, J. N. & DONOGHUE, J. P. 2000. Plasticity and primary motor cortex. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 23, 393-415.
- SANES, J. N., SUNER, S. & DONOGHUE, J. P. 1990. Dynamic organization of primary motor cortex output to target muscles in adult rats. I. Long-term patterns of reorganization following motor or mixed peripheral nerve lesions. *Exp Brain Res,* 79, 479-91.
- SANES, J. N., SUNER, S., LANDO, J. F. & DONOGHUE, J. P. 1988. Rapid reorganization of adult rat motor cortex somatic representation patterns after motor nerve injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A, 85, 2003-7.

- SCHABRUN, S. M., RIDDING, M. C., GALEA, M. P., HODGES, P. W. & CHIPCHASE, L. S. 2012. Primary sensory and motor cortex excitability are co-modulated in response to peripheral electrical nerve stimulation. *PLoS One*, 7, e51298.
- SCHIEBER, M. H. & POLIAKOV, A. V. 1998. Partial inactivation of the primary motor cortex hand area: effects on individuated finger movements. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 18, 9038-9054.
- SCHLAEPFER, T. E., GEORGE, M. S. & MAYBERG, H. 2010. WFSBP Guidelines on Brain Stimulation Treatments in Psychiatry. *World J Biol Psychiatry*, 11, 2-18.
- SCHOTT, G. D. 1993. Penfield's homunculus: a note on cerebral cartography. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry,* 56, 329.
- SHANG, Y., WANG, X., SHANG, X., ZHANG, H., LIU, Z., YIN, T. & ZHANG, T. 2016. Repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation effectively facilitates spatial cognition and synaptic plasticity associated with increasing the levels of BDNF and synaptic proteins in Wistar rats. *Neurobiol Learn Mem*, 134 Pt B, 369-78.
- SHARMA, N., POMEROY, V. M. & BARON, J. C. 2006. Motor imagery: a backdoor to the motor system after stroke? *Stroke*, 37, 1941-52.
- SHEFNER, J. M. & LOGIGIAN, E. L. 1994. Conduction velocity in motor, cutaneous afferent, and muscle afferent fibers within the same mixed nerve. *Muscle Nerve*, 17, 773-8.
- SHINODA, Y., OHGAKI, T., SUGIUCHI, Y., FUTAMI, T. & KAKEI, S. 1992. Functional synergies of neck muscles innervated by single medial vestibulospinal axons. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 656, 507-18.
- SILVA, A. C., RASEY, S. K., WU, X. & WALL, J. T. 1996. Initial cortical reactions to injury of the median and radial nerves to the hands of adult primates. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 366, 700-716.
- SIRIGU, A., DUHAMEL, J. R., COHEN, L., PILLON, B., DUBOIS, B. & AGID, Y. 1996. The mental representation of hand movements after parietal cortex damage. *Science*, 273, 1564-8.
- SJÖSTRÖM, P. J., RANCZ, E. A., ROTH, A. & HÄUSSER, M. 2008. Dendritic Excitability and Synaptic Plasticity. *Physiological Reviews*, 88, 769-840.
- SJOSTROM, P. J., TURRIGIANO, G. G. & NELSON, S. B. 2001. Rate, timing, and cooperativity jointly determine cortical synaptic plasticity. *Neuron*, 32, 1149-64.
- SODERLING, T. R. & DERKACH, V. A. 2000. Postsynaptic protein phosphorylation and LTP. *Trends Neurosci*, 23, 75-80.
- SONG, S. & ABBOTT, L. F. 2001. Cortical development and remapping through spike timingdependent plasticity. *Neuron*, 32, 339-50.
- SONG, S., MILLER, K. D. & ABBOTT, L. F. 2000. Competitive Hebbian learning through spike-timingdependent synaptic plasticity. *Nat Neurosci*, **3**, 919-26.
- SOTEROPOULOS, D. S., WILLIAMS, E. R. & BAKER, S. N. 2012. Cells in the monkey ponto-medullary reticular formation modulate their activity with slow finger movements. *J Physiol*, 590, 4011-27.

- SOWMAN, P. F., DUEHOLM, S. S., RASMUSSEN, J. H. & MRACHACZ-KERSTING, N. 2014. Induction of plasticity in the human motor cortex by pairing an auditory stimulus with TMS. *Front Hum Neurosci*, 8, 398.
- STEFAN, K., KUNESCH, E., COHEN, L. G., BENECKE, R. & CLASSEN, J. 2000. Induction of plasticity in the human motor cortex by paired associative stimulation. *Brain*, 123 Pt 3, 572-84.
- STEFAN, K., WYCISLO, M. & CLASSEN, J. 2004. Modulation of associative human motor cortical plasticity by attention. *J Neurophysiol*, 92, 66-72.
- STEFAN, K., WYCISLO, M., GENTNER, R., SCHRAMM, A., NAUMANN, M., REINERS, K. & CLASSEN, J. 2006. Temporary occlusion of associative motor cortical plasticity by prior dynamic motor training. *Cereb Cortex*, 16, 376-85.
- STEVENS, E., EMMETT, E., WANG, Y., MCKEVITT, C. & WOLFE, C. 2017. *The Burden of Stroke in Europe*, Stroke Alliance for Europe.
- STONEY JR, S., THOMPSON, W. & ASANUMA, H. 1968. Excitation of pyramidal tract cells by intracortical microstimulation: effective extent of stimulating current. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 31, 659-669.
- STRICK, P. L. & PRESTON, J. B. 1978. Sorting of somatosensory afferent information in primate motor cortex. *Brain Res*, 156, 364-8.
- SUZUKI, I. & MAYANAGI, Y. 1984. Intracranial recording of short latency somatosensory evoked potentials in man: identification of origin of each component. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*, 59, 286-96.
- SWEATT, J. D. 2004. Mitogen-activated protein kinases in synaptic plasticity and memory. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, 14, 311-7.
- TAUBERT, M., DRAGANSKI, B., ANWANDER, A., MULLER, K., HORSTMANN, A., VILLRINGER, A. & RAGERT, P. 2010. Dynamic properties of human brain structure: learning-related changes in cortical areas and associated fiber connections. *J Neurosci*, 30, 11670-7.
- TAYLOR, M. J. & BLACK, S. E. 1984. Lateral asymmetries and thalamic components in far-field somatosensory evoked potentials. *Can J Neurol Sci,* 11, 252-6.
- TECCHIO, F., ZAPPASODI, F., PASQUALETTI, P., GENNARO, L., PELLICCIARI, M. C., ERCOLANI, M., SQUITTI, R. & ROSSINI, P. M. 2008. Age dependence of primary motor cortex plasticity induced by paired associative stimulation. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 119, 675-682.
- THE STATIONERY OFFICE 2005. Control of Noise at Work Regulations.
- THILMANN, A. F., FELLOWS, S. J. & GARMS, E. 1991a. The mechanism of spastic muscle hypertonus. Variation in reflex gain over the time course of spasticity. *Brain*, 114 (Pt 1A), 233-44.
- THILMANN, A. F., SCHWARZ, M., TÖPPER, R., FELLOWS, S. J. & NOTH, J. 1991b. Different mechanisms underlie the long-latency stretch reflex response of active human muscle at different joints. *The Journal of physiology*, 444, 631-643.
- THOMPSON, A. K., POMERANTZ, F. R. & WOLPAW, J. R. 2013. Operant conditioning of a spinal reflex can improve locomotion after spinal cord injury in humans. *J Neurosci*, 33, 2365-75.

- THOMPSON, A. K. & WOLPAW, J. R. 2014. Operant conditioning of spinal reflexes: from basic science to clinical therapy. *Frontiers in Integrative Neuroscience*, 10.3389/fnint.2014.00025.
- THULBORN, K. R., CARPENTER, P. A. & JUST, M. A. 1999. Plasticity of language-related brain function during recovery from stroke. *Stroke*, 30, 749-54.
- TODD, G., KIMBER, T. E., RIDDING, M. C. & SEMMLER, J. G. 2010. Reduced motor cortex plasticity following inhibitory rTMS in older adults. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 121, 441-7.
- TRAVIS, A. M. & WOOLSEY, C. N. 1956. Motor Performance Op Monkeys After Bilateral Partial And Total Cerebral Decortications. *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, 35, 273-310.
- TRUMBOWER, R. D., FINLEY, J. M., SHEMMELL, J. B., HONEYCUTT, C. F. & PERREAULT, E. J. 2013. Bilateral impairments in task-dependent modulation of the long-latency stretch reflex following stroke. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 124, 1373-80.
- TURRIGIANO, G. G. & NELSON, S. B. 2000. Hebb and homeostasis in neuronal plasticity. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 10, 358-364.
- VALLENCE, A. M., HAMMOND, G. R. & REILLY, K. T. 2012. Increase in flexor but not extensor corticospinal motor outputs following ischemic nerve block. *J Neurophysiol*, 107, 3417-27.
- VAN DER LOOS, H. & WOOLSEY, T. A. 1973. Somatosensory cortex: structural alterations following early injury to sense organs. *Science*, 179, 395-8.
- VILLIGER, M., ESTÉVEZ, N., HEPP-REYMOND, M.-C., KIPER, D., KOLLIAS, S. S., ENG, K. & HOTZ-BOENDERMAKER, S. 2013. Enhanced Activation of Motor Execution Networks Using Action Observation Combined with Imagination of Lower Limb Movements. *PLOS ONE*, **8**, e72403.
- VLACHOS, A., MULLER-DAHLHAUS, F., ROSSKOPP, J., LENZ, M., ZIEMANN, U. & DELLER, T. 2012. Repetitive magnetic stimulation induces functional and structural plasticity of excitatory postsynapses in mouse organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. *J Neurosci*, 32, 17514-23.
- VOLZ, L. J., HAMADA, M., ROTHWELL, J. C. & GREFKES, C. 2015. What Makes the Muscle Twitch: Motor System Connectivity and TMS-Induced Activity. *Cerebral Cortex*, 25, 2346-2353.
- WAGLE SHUKLA, A., SHUSTER, J. J., CHUNG, J. W., VAILLANCOURT, D. E., PATTEN, C., OSTREM, J. & OKUN, M. S. 2016. Repetitive Transcranial Magnetic Stimulation (rTMS) Therapy in Parkinson Disease: A Meta-Analysis. *Pm r*, *8*, 356-366.
- WANG, Y., PILLAI, S., WOLPAW, J. R. & CHEN, X. Y. 2006. Motor learning changes GABAergic terminals on spinal motoneurons in normal rats. *Eur J Neurosci*, 23, 141-50.
- WANKERL, K., WEISE, D., GENTNER, R., RUMPF, J. J. & CLASSEN, J. 2010. L-type voltage-gated Ca2+ channels: a single molecular switch for long-term potentiation/long-term depression-like plasticity and activity-dependent metaplasticity in humans. *J Neurosci*, 30, 6197-204.
- WARNER, L. & MCNEILL, M. E. 1988. Mental imagery and its potential for physical therapy. *Phys Ther*, 68, 516-521.

- WEISE, D., MANN, J., RUMPF, J. J., HALLERMANN, S. & CLASSEN, J. 2017. Differential Regulation of Human Paired Associative Stimulation-Induced and Theta-Burst Stimulation-Induced Plasticity by L-type and T-type Ca2+ Channels. *Cereb Cortex*, 27, 4010-4021.
- WIETHOFF, S., HAMADA, M. & ROTHWELL, J. C. 2014. Variability in response to transcranial direct current stimulation of the motor cortex. *Brain Stimul*, **7**, 468-75.
- WILLIAMS, S. R. & STUART, G. J. 2000. Backpropagation of physiological spike trains in neocortical pyramidal neurons: implications for temporal coding in dendrites. *J Neurosci*, 20, 8238-46.
- WOLPAW, J. R. & TENNISSEN, A. M. 2001. Activity-dependent spinal cord plasticity in health and disease. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 24, 807-43.
- WOLTERS, A., SANDBRINK, F., SCHLOTTMANN, A., KUNESCH, E., STEFAN, K., COHEN, L. G., BENECKE,
 R. & CLASSEN, J. 2003. A temporally asymmetric Hebbian rule governing plasticity in the human motor cortex. *J Neurophysiol*, 89, 2339-45.
- XU, X.-M., VESTESSON, E., PALEY, L., DESIKAN, A., WONDERLING, D., HOFFMAN, A., WOLFE, C. D. A., RUDD, A. G. & BRAY, B. D. 2017. The economic burden of stroke care in England, Wales and Northern Ireland: Using a national stroke register to estimate and report patient-level health economic outcomes in stroke. *European Stroke Journal*, 3, 82-91.
- YÁGÜEZ, L., NAGEL, D., HOFFMAN, H., CANAVAN, A. G. M., WIST, E. & HÖMBERG, V. 1998. A mental route to motor learning: Improving trajectorial kinematics through imagery training. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 90, 95-106.
- YAHAGI, S. & KASAI, T. 1998. Facilitation of motor evoked potentials (MEPs) in first dorsal interosseous (FDI) muscle is dependent on different motor images. *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol*, 109, 409-17.
- YAHAGI, S., SHIMURA, K. & KASAI, T. 1996. An increase in cortical excitability with no change in spinal excitability during motor imagery. *Percept Mot Skills*, 83, 288-90.
- YASUDA, H., BARTH, A. L., STELLWAGEN, D. & MALENKA, R. C. 2003. A developmental switch in the signaling cascades for LTP induction. *Nat Neurosci,* 6, 15-6.
- YOON, K. J., LEE, Y.-T. & HAN, T. R. 2011. Mechanism of functional recovery after repetitive transcranial magnetic stimulation (rTMS) in the subacute cerebral ischemic rat model: neural plasticity or anti-apoptosis? *Experimental Brain Research*, 214, 549.
- YUE, G. & COLE, K. J. 1992. Strength increases from the motor program: comparison of training with maximal voluntary and imagined muscle contractions. *J Neurophysiol*, 67, 1114-23.
- YUE, G. H., LIU, J. Z., SIEMIONOW, V., RANGANATHAN, V. K., NG, T. C. & SAHGAL, V. 2000. Brain activation during human finger extension and flexion movements. *Brain Res*, 856, 291-300.
- ZAAIMI, B., DEAN, L. R. & BAKER, S. N. 2018. Different contributions of primary motor cortex, reticular formation, and spinal cord to fractionated muscle activation. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 119, 235-250.
- ZAAIMI, B., EDGLEY, S. A., SOTEROPOULOS, D. S. & BAKER, S. N. 2012. Changes in descending motor pathway connectivity after corticospinal tract lesion in macaque monkey. *Brain*, 135, 2277-89.

- ZHANG, L. I., TAO, H. W., HOLT, C. E., HARRIS, W. A. & POO, M.-M. 1998. A critical window for cooperation and competition among developing retinotectal synapses. *Nature*, 395, 37.
- ZIEMANN, U., CORWELL, B. & COHEN, L. G. 1998a. Modulation of plasticity in human motor cortex after forearm ischemic nerve block. *J Neurosci*, 18, 1115-23.
- ZIEMANN, U., HALLETT, M. & COHEN, L. G. 1998b. Mechanisms of Deafferentation-Induced Plasticity in Human Motor Cortex. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 18, 7000.
- ZIEMANN, U., ILIC, T. V., PAULI, C., MEINTZSCHEL, F. & RUGE, D. 2004. Learning modifies subsequent induction of long-term potentiation-like and long-term depression-like plasticity in human motor cortex. *J Neurosci,* 24, 1666-72.
- ZIEMANN, U., TAM, A., BUTEFISCH, C. & COHEN, L. G. 2002. Dual modulating effects of amphetamine on neuronal excitability and stimulation-induced plasticity in human motor cortex. *Clin Neurophysiol*, 113, 1308-15.
- ZOLLINGER, R. 1935. Removal of left cerebral hemisphere: Report of a case. Archives of Neurology & *Psychiatry*, 34, 1055-1064.